**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

3-10-2022 3:00 PM

# Steering at a Distance: A Qualitative Case Study of Institutional Autonomy at a Vietnamese Public University

Anh Thi Hoai Le, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Viczko, Melody, The University of Western Ontario

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree

in Education

© Anh Thi Hoai Le 2022

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd



Part of the Higher Education Administration Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Le, Anh Thi Hoai, "Steering at a Distance: A Qualitative Case Study of Institutional Autonomy at a Vietnamese Public University" (2022). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 8419. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8419

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### **Abstract**

In 2012, the Vietnamese government enacted the Higher Education Law to give public universities institutional autonomy. Since passage of the law, the term institutional autonomy has become contested; different interpretations have arisen among different actors concerned with implementing the policy. In a qualitative case study, I explore the meaning of autonomy in the context of Vietnamese higher education where the legacy of centralized governance is strong. To understand what autonomy means in this context, I use thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis, and draw on state steering theory (Wright, 2019b) as a theoretical framework through which to gain insight on tensions between autonomy and control. Data sources include government policy documents, semi-structured interviews with seventeen senior leaders from one Vietnamese public university, and internal university policy documents. I argue that autonomy in Vietnamese higher education involves steering at a distance whereby the legacy of Vietnam's centralized governance system adds more control over the university. The autonomy policy has given the Vietnamese public university a higher level of status with more power to make decisions but has not made it independent of the state. The enactment of autonomy policy in Vietnam highlights tensions between the top-down authoritarian way in which the law and policy are enacted through the state's centralized governance model and how the policy enters into institutions and becomes meaningful to actors. The present study addresses gaps in the literature on university governance and education policy, and offers unique insights on the complexities of autonomy in Vietnam. I recommend that all actors involved in the autonomy policy take into consideration the different meanings of autonomy to better understand and to be more responsive to how the policy is actually taken up in the institutions.

# Keywords

Institutional autonomy, control, accountability, university governance, interpretive policy analysis, state steering theory, higher education, public universities, centralized governance model, post-Soviet context

## **Summary for Lay Audience**

In 2012, the Vietnamese government enacted the Higher Education Law to officially mark the granting of autonomy to public universities. After passage of the law, the key term institutional autonomy became controversial—because the ministries continued to apply control measures to public universities. In this qualitative case study, I explore the meaning of autonomy in the context of Vietnam's higher education system where the legacy of centralized governance is strong. I draw on state steering theory (Wright, 2019b) as a theoretical framework to gain insights on tensions between autonomy and control. I use thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis to analyze data which include semi-structured interviews with seventeen leaders at one Vietnamese public university, policy documents released by the government, and documents internal to the university. I suggest that a new meaning of autonomy as steering at a distance emerges in Vietnamese higher education, but the legacy of centralized governance system adds more control over the university. The institutional autonomy policy gives a public university a higher level of status than other universities in Vietnam, with more power to make decisions, but does not give it independence from the state. The present study addresses a gap in the literature by offering insights on the complexities of autonomy in the context of centralized governance in Vietnam. I recommend that both policymakers and university actors take into consideration the different meanings of autonomy when the policy is enacted to better understand and to be more responsive to how the policy is working in the institutions.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Melody Viczko, for the continuous and timely support for my thesis. Thank you for stepping in in the middle of my program to guide me through a doctoral journey that is much more challenging due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Dr. Viczko's guidance, especially on theory and methodology, has helped to make the goals of my research achievable.

I also would like to render my warmest thanks to my thesis committee member, Dr. Rita Gardiner, for the valuable comments on my thesis. My sincere thanks also go to my former supervisor, Dr. Brenton Faubert, for his consistent support and training during the first years of my doctoral program.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all the academic and administrative staff of the Faculty of Education and Western University for the kind support that I have received for the past four years. I am deeply indebted to Western University and the Vietnamese government for providing the scholarship which helps me to achieve my academic dream. I also want to express my thanks to the Porch Light Program at Western University that connected me with Jane Moffat, who have provided numerous supports for my family in learning Canadian cultures and adapting to the life in a new country.

I would like to express my grateful thanks to university leaders who participated in this study and shared their perspectives, knowledge, and experience on implementing the institutional autonomy policy at their university.

Finally, I wish to thank my husband and my little daughter, Nari, for their wholehearted support, sympathy, caring, and for accompanying me during the new journey in Canada. You are my endless source of motivation and help me to prove the saying: If you want to go fast, go alone; if you want to far, go together.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Keywords	iii
Summary for Lay Audience	iv
Acknowledgements	V
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	xi
List of Appendices	xii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Problem Statement	2
Statement of Purpose	4
Research Questions	5
Positionality of the Researcher	6
Definition of Key Concepts	8
Organization of the Thesis	10
Chapter 2	13
Literature Review	13
University Governance in the Globalized Knowledge Economy	13
University Governance	
Globalization	
Neoliberalism	15
New Public Management and Managerialism	
Decentralization	
Institutional Autonomy	17
Autonomy as Individual Academic Freedom and Self-Governance	18

Autonomy as a New Model for University Governance	<i>18</i>
Degree of Autonomy of Public Universities	23
The Changing State-University Relationship Under the Autonomy ModelModel	24
Accountability in Higher Education	25
Definitions of Accountability	25
Rationales for Accountability	27
Ex-Ante Control and Ex-Post Control	27
Compliance-Based and Performance-Based Accountability	28
Reforming Vietnam's Higher Education System and Autonomy of Public Universities	29
Vietnamese Public Universities in a Globalized Knowledge Economy	29
Existing Studies on Autonomy in Vietnam's Higher Education Context	32
Chapter 3	41
Theoretical Framework	41
State Steering Theory and its Relevance to Vietnam's Higher Education Context	41
Steering at a Distance: A Top-Down Vision of University Governance	44
Steering at a Distance: A New Mode of Governance in Neoliberal Contexts	44
Steering Assemblage and Steering Instruments	46
Self-Responsibility	52
Enactment of Steering at a Distance: A Process of Contestation on Autonomy and Control	54
Critique of State Steering Theory and Theoretical Framework	56
Chapter 4	58
Methodology	58
Interpretivist Paradigm, Ontological, and Epistemological Assumptions	58
A Qualitative Case Study Methodology	59
Single Instrumental Case Study	60
Bounded System of Case Study	60
Unit of Analysis	60
Description of the Case Study	62

Data Collection	63
Documents	63
Interviews	66
Data Analysis	69
Thematic Analysis	69
Interpretive Policy Analysis	70
Trustworthiness	72
Ethics	74
Limitations	75
Chapter 5	76
Governance of Higher Education in Vietnam: The Shift to Institutional Autonomy l	Policy 76
The Centralized Governance Model in Vietnam's Higher Education System	76
An Old Centralized Governance Model with Many Levels of Control	76
An Overwhelming Higher Education System under the Centralized Model	78
The Shift to the Autonomy Policy in Vietnam's Higher Education System	79
The Development of Autonomy Policy in Vietnam's Higher Education System	79
The Role of University Council	86
A Discussion on the Move to Autonomy Policy	87
The Evolution of Accountability in the Vietnamese Government's Policy on Autonomy	90
Controversial Concepts of Accountability and Self-Responsibility	90
Types of Accountability Measures	91
Levels of Accountability	93
Chapter 6	95
Analysis of Documents	95
The Meaning of Institutional Autonomy in Policy Documents	95
Autonomy as the University's Right to Make Decisions	96
Autonomy as the University's Accountability for its Activities	106
Autonomy as the University's Responsibility for its Decisions and Finance	109

Relationship between Decision-Making Authority, Self-Responsibility, and Accountability	. 110
Chapter 7	. 113
Participants' Understanding of Institutional Autonomy in Vietnamese Higher Education	113
Participants' Understanding of Decision-Making Authority	. 114
Tuition as a Symbol of Decision-Making Authority	114
Decision-Making Authority as the Right to act versus Being Control	127
Meaning of Accountability Measures to Participants from University A	. 133
A Bird Locked in a Cage	134
A Vietnamese Parent-Children Relationship	142
When the Cat is away, the Mice will play	145
Chapter 8	. 150
Discussion	. 150
The Steering of Vietnamese Higher Education	. 151
Conditional Autonomy of a Vietnamese Public University	151
Autonomy as the University's Self-Financing Capacity	153
Autonomy as a Neoliberal Process Involving State Intervention	155
Enactment of the Policy: A Process of Contestation over the Meaning of Autonomy	. 157
Contestation Concerning the Meaning of Autonomy	158
Confusing Concept and Partial Vision During the Contestation Process	161
Enactment of Institutional Autonomy Through Contestation and Negotiation	162
The Meaning of Institutional Autonomy in Vietnam's Centralized Governance Context	. 163
Tensions in Policy Enactment	164
More State Steering From the Legacy of Centralized Governance	165
The Meaning of Autonomy in a Centralized Governance Context	168
The State-University Relationship Under the Autonomy Policy	169
Chapter 9	. 171
Conclusion	. 171
Overview of the Thesis	171

Research Contributions	173
Research Implications for Policy and Practice	174
Limitations and Future Research	
Limitations	175
Future Study	176
References	178
Appendices	206
Curriculum Vitae	

# **List of Tables**

Table 1 Leadership Position of Participants	67
Table 2 Participants' Level of Education/Academic Title	68
Table 3 Overview of Major Changes in Relation to Institutional Autonomy Policy	85

# **List of Appendices**

Appendix A: Interview Guide: University Leaders	206
Appendix B: Letter of Information and Consent	208
Appendix C: Key Policy Documents on Institutional Autonomy and Accountability of	
Vietnamese Public Universities released by the Vietnamese Government	214

# Chapter 1

#### Introduction

In 2012, the Vietnamese government enacted the Higher Education Law to officially give public universities institutional autonomy. With this policy, university leaders were granted decision-making authority and responsibility for the primary areas of finance, personnel, teaching, research, and organization (Higher Education Law, 2012). The government had identified institutional autonomy as a pressing policy initiative in the industrialization and modernization of the higher education sector in the new context of globalization (Central Government, 2005). In fact, the reform policy originated in new expectations the Vietnamese government and society were developing concerning the role of public universities in the globalized knowledge economy and in view of the growing dependence of Vietnam's economic competitiveness on knowledge generation and technological innovation (Madden, 2014). As the European University Association (2017) had indicated, "Institutional autonomy is widely considered an important prerequisite for modern universities to develop their institutional profiles and to deliver their missions efficiently" (p. 7). In the knowledge economy, it is the mission of universities to produce graduates with the skills demanded by the labor market and to turn research ideas into innovative products. The autonomy policy was an attempt by the Vietnamese government to improve the efficiency and competitiveness of universities in developing the nation's human resources and in advancing knowledge in support of Vietnam's increasingly market-driven society.

The Vietnamese government had also developed new policy proposals to address the lack of effectiveness of the existing governance model in Vietnam's higher education sector (Central Government, 2005). The centralized bureaucratic system through which ministries controlled all institutional decision-making processes had been criticized for hampering the flexibility,

efficiency, and innovation of public universities (Dao & Hayden, 2010). As well, the egalitarian norms and values of a subsidized system in which everyone is equally remunerated without differentiation, recognition, or appreciation of their efforts had demoralized academic staff who had no motivation to improve education quality, advance knowledge, or seek academic excellence (Ngo, 2019). It became, therefore, necessary to change the management approach. The expectation was that granting institutional autonomy would help to optimize university performance.

A particularly important aspect of the Vietnamese government's objective in implementing the reform policy was the reduction of financial burdens on the national budget, which had been overwhelmed by an increase in the number of universities and in student enrolments since the transition from elite to mass higher education (World Bank, 2019). Under the old, centralized governance model, the Vietnamese government subsidized all financial aspects of public universities and was responsible for any financial losses (Tran, 2014). The system had become too large, however, and required excessive expenditure from the national budget.

The global context and ineffectiveness of the existing governance model has thus led to the decentralization of Vietnam's higher education system and to the transfer of decision-making authority and responsibility from the ministries to the public universities themselves. Institutional autonomy, as it has been infused into the law, was intended by the Vietnamese government to push public universities to work more efficiently and to achieve new missions in the global knowledge economy. In the present study, I examine how different policy actors understand the concept of autonomy as that policy has been enacted in one Vietnamese public university.

#### **Problem Statement**

The granting of institutional autonomy to public universities in Vietnam is a response of the Vietnamese government to the shifting context of the global knowledge economy and to the rise of

neoliberalism (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010) and is not unique to Vietnam. Despite its widespread use in higher education policy worldwide, however, the concept is not uniformly applied or interpreted; precisely how it is taken up depends upon context—on local history, culture, and geo-political conditions. In Vietnam, after the passage of the Higher Education Law, the term institutional autonomy itself has immediately become contested with different interpretations of the concept arising among multiple policy-relevant actors. Indeed, governmental ministries could still apply certain control measures over public universities, leading university leaders to question what autonomy meant when curriculum was still managed by the Ministry of Education and Training (MOET) and public universities remained strongly accountable to the ministries (Tran, 2014)—and when university governing councils had to be elected according to the ministry's plan (Duong, 2019). For its part, the MOET (2018) maintains that the autonomy policy has untied and set public universities free to a maximum level by giving them the right to determine their own development strategies and methods for implementing their objectives.

The uptake of autonomy policy in Vietnam's higher education system is in tension with the legacy of the centralized bureaucratic model of the Vietnamese Communist Party's unified leadership. Adopted from formerly Soviet countries, the centralized system relies heavily on central planning, with ministries having control over all decision-making within public universities (Huisman et al., 2018). Tensions between state control and delegation of power have led to controversy in Vietnam about the meaning and nature of institutional autonomy, controversy which has been widely reported in both news media and scholarship (Hong, 2018; Thanh, 2016; Tran, 2014). Consequently, implementation of this pressing policy initiative has been delayed; only 23 of 170 public universities had adopted the policy as of November 2019 (Ngoc, 2019). Exploration of the meaning of institutional autonomy in the centralized

governance context of Vietnam is, thus, timely, and, one hopes, a significant step toward increasing the responsiveness of public universities to this fundamental reform policy.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

The purpose of the present study is to develop a better understanding of institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education context and to inform a more transformative approach to policy practices. As the most pressing policy in Vietnam's higher education sector, institutional autonomy has attracted particular attention from many scholars, both in Vietnam and other countries. Most studies have explored the degree of autonomy of Vietnamese public universities (Vo & Laking, 2020; Vo, 2018; Dao, 2015; George, 2011; Le et al., 2017; London, 2010; Dao & Hayden, 2010) and identified challenges in implementing the policy (Tran, 2009; Tran, 2014; Vo, 2018; Dang, 2013). Researchers have indicated that autonomy in Vietnam's universities is very limited but they have not dug deeper into the underlying mechanism of autonomy as a new governance model to understand why it is limited. Most importantly, while institutional autonomy has been an essentially contested concept during the enactment process, little attention has been given to the meaning of the concept itself. Over-reliance on policy documents as the primary source of information has offered limited insight into the various understandings that different actors such as university leaders and academics hold about the concept.

I aim in the present study to address these gaps in understanding by exploring the multiple meanings of institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese context where the legacy of centralized governance structures is strong. I aim to make a theoretical contribution to the existing literature on university governance and higher education policy by examining autonomy as a new governance model in the neoliberal context. To achieve this goal, I draw on state steering theory (Wright, 2019a, b, c, d) as a theoretical framework within which to develop insight on tensions between

autonomy and control, both of which factor into the autonomy policy. Through a qualitative case study of a Vietnamese public university, I explore how autonomy is understood in a centralized governance context, not only in Vietnam but also in other post-Soviet countries undergoing reform processes in response to the influences of the global knowledge economy. I argue that a better understanding of the principles and working mechanisms of institutional autonomy at one Vietnamese public university provides insights into the complexities of autonomy and sheds light on tensions that emerge as different meanings of autonomy influence how the policy is implemented. Actors may acquire a more informed understanding of policy and develop a response that better aligns with the state's aims in enacting the policy.

I also strive in the present study to make a methodological contribution to the study of higher education policy in Vietnam through use of an interpretive policy analysis approach (Yanow, 2000, 2007) and identification of different communities of meaning concerning institutional autonomy. Specifically, I analyze policy objects and metaphors that participants used to articulate their interpretations of policy concepts. The primary data sources are policy documents released by the Vietnamese government, semi-structured interviews with seventeen senior leaders at one Vietnamese public university, and internal university policy documents. I brought the viewpoints of multiple actors into the policy enactment process and address the gap in the literature which to date has mainly focused on the top-down visions of policymakers.

## **Research Questions**

The primary focus of the present study is the tension between decision-making authority and accountability in one Vietnamese public university. The following research question and sub-questions guide the study:

Primary research question:

 What does institutional autonomy mean in the context of Vietnamese higher education given the legacy of centralized governance system?

## Research sub-questions:

- How are institutional autonomy, accountability, and university responsibility presented in the policy documents?
- How do actors in a Vietnamese public university understand decision-making authority within the new policy?
- What do accountability measures in the Vietnamese government's discourses about institutional autonomy mean to university actors?
- How is institutional autonomy enacted through the relationship between actors'
   understandings of decision-making authority and accountability in this one institution?

# **Positionality of the Researcher**

I was born in Vietnam, a developing country in South East Asia. For most of my life, I was raised in a centralized and power-distant culture in which children were required to listen to parents unconditionally, students required to listen to teachers unconditionally, and protest was never allowed. As a Vietnamese citizen, my freedom as an individual to correct parents and teachers was very limited but, growing up, I had opportunities to experience education systems in countries of the global North including Australia, the Netherlands, and Canada where I learned about very different cultures. In Vietnam, we usually call them western cultures to emphasize that western people have much more freedom and liberty than people do in eastern cultures. I have been asking myself: In which culture are people nurtured to grow up to flourish and to live to their potential?

The Vietnamese higher education system that I experienced as a lecturer for nine years was also centralized and power distant. It worked just like the system I experienced in my family

and school—the leaders had ultimate power. I experienced inefficient management approaches at the university level which limited flexibility and innovation. Cameras, for example, were set up in classrooms to check that the lecturers were doing their jobs and fingerprint checking machines were used to ensure the presence of staff during the working day. Such a management approach—focused on controlling daily behavior instead of outcomes—is, in my view, inefficient for a working environment that needs flexibility and innovation to create knowledge and provide human resources for the country. Consequences of the governance system, including a decrease in working morale and a brain-drain of lecturers which have had consequences for the quality of education, have been observed and reported (Ngo, 2019; Welch, 2016a).

Enactment of the autonomy policy has engendered hope for Vietnam's higher education system, but I come to this study with both optimism and pessimism. On one side, I strongly believe that the reform policy is desperately needed if Vietnamese public universities are to become integrated into the globalized knowledge economy. Vietnamese people have a long-life learning tradition, and this is an opportunity for my country to flourish in an economy that focuses on knowledge and values it as capital. On the other side, I am pessimistic because of the huge challenges public universities face in implementing a policy that is inconsistent with the centralized culture and politics, and with the history of the country. For 1000 years, Vietnam has been colonized by foreign nations such as China, France, and America, and the government is cautious about opening the door to foreign influences and values. In terms of culture, Vietnam has a very systematic, centralized, and power-distant culture at many levels—from that of the family to the school and the working place. Most significantly, in terms of politics, I have been told all my life that the guidelines and policies of the Communist Party are always right. In Vietnam, the freedom of individuals, and the autonomy of public universities as institutions, is

limited. Communist ideology, however, is no longer tenable in a world that is becoming flat, a world in which so much is no longer limited by national boundaries. My own experience of resistance to change and renovation of conservative forces in the university has led me to want to explore how the new policy initiative is being implemented in that environment.

My experience of Vietnam's higher education environment has inevitably shaped my view of the institutional autonomy policy. In choosing the state steering theory as a theoretical lens, I am joining a group of scholars who are pessimistic about the perverse effect of a policy that acknowledges the dominance of central control. As my experience in Vietnam's higher education setting is not something I can easily suppress or escape, it is crucial that I do not misinterpret or disregard other's experiences and perspectives that do not align with mine. Despite the potential for bias caused by my positionality, a potential I acknowledge, my experience with Vietnam's higher education system and my proximity to the socio-political context I am studying allows for greater insight and, if anything, helps me to challenge preconceived notions and theories.

## **Definition of Key Concepts**

Key concepts within this study include the following: institutional autonomy, decision-making authority, accountability, self-responsibility, the state, the government, policy actors, and the policy enactment process.

Institutional autonomy. The concept of institutional autonomy is defined differently across disciplines and fields. In the present study, I use the concepts of institutional autonomy and autonomy interchangeably to refer to autonomy at an institutional level, that is, at the level of a public higher education institution. The working definition for the present study is informed by key aspects of a new governance model as described in literature such as that of Wright (2019a, b, c, d) and Ørberg and Wright (2019) on the state steering theory. Institutional autonomy of a public

higher education institution involves three aspects: decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility.

**Decision-making authority.** Decision-making authority is the power of a university to make decisions on matters such as teaching, research, personnel, finance, admission, and enrollment (Enders et al., 2013).

Accountability. Accountability is the obligation of an institution or individual to provide information about, or justification for, their actions, along with the sanction for failing to comply with or engage in appropriate activities (Brinkerhoff, 2004). Bovens (2007) defines accountability as "a social relationship in which an actor feels an obligation to explain and to justify his or her conduct to some significant other" (p. 184). Ørberg and Wright (2019) argue that accountability involves the state's interventions in the performance of a public university through an array of instruments by which the state can steer and develop the university. They view accountability as a control mechanism, with the terms steering and control used interchangeably in the literature.

**Self-responsibility.** Self-responsibility imposes responsibility for decisions and financial sources on the universities rather than on the state (Yokoyama, 2008). Self-responsibility means the university is expected to handle all consequences resulting from its own decisions and cover all expenses related to its activities.

The state and the government. The State of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam is a governance system which includes the National Assembly, the President, the Government, the Supreme People's Court, the Supreme People's Procuracy, and the local governing apparatus (Constitution, 2013). The Government is the highest state administrative body of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam. The executive body of the National Assembly exercises all executive power. The Government is responsible to the National Assembly and reports to the National

Assembly, the Standing Committee of the National Assembly, and the President (Constitution, 2013). I use the terms state and government to refer in a general way to the offices and agencies that carry out the functions of governing.

**Policy actors.** In the present study, policy actors include those involved in the institutional autonomy policy such as legislators, policymakers, and other people "involved in making meaning of and constructing responses to policy through the processes of interpretation and translation" (Ball et al., 2012, p. 625), such as university leaders.

The policy enactment process. For the present study, policy enactment is viewed as a process, which is contested and subject to different interpretations as it is enacted (rather than implemented) (Ball et al., 2012). I use the definition provided by Ball et al. that "policy enactment involves creative processes of interpretation and recontextualization, that is, the translation of texts into action and the abstractions of policy ideas into contextualized practices" (p. 3).

#### **Organization of the Thesis**

I organize this thesis into nine chapters. Following this introductory chapter, I begin

Chapter 2 by offering a literature review on institutional autonomy with a focus on its meaning as a new mode of governance, its accompanying accountability mechanism, and self-responsibility. I then offer a review of existing studies on institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese higher education context and locate the knowledge gap to identify my study's focus. In Chapter 3, I provide an overview of my theoretical framework, a framework that centers on theoretical concepts based on the state steering theory, to lay the grounds for explaining the principles and mechanisms of the institutional autonomy model in Vietnam's higher education system.

In Chapter 4, I present my research methodology. I explain the choice of a qualitative instrumental case study to address the research questions. I describe thematic analysis and

interpretive policy analysis as two approaches that I employ to analyze data derived from the Vietnamese government's policy documents, semi-structured interviews with university leaders, and internal university policy documents. In Chapter 5, to facilitate an understanding of the tensions between the decision-making authority and accountability that is the focus of this study, I lay out the context in which the autonomy policy has been enacted.

In Chapter 6, I present thematic findings from my document analysis concerning the meanings of autonomy and the relationship between these meanings. These findings indicate that autonomy gives a Vietnamese public university the right to make its own decisions; yet it also means the university is accountable for its decision-making and self-responsible for financial resources as well as consequences of its decisions. Collectively, decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility are bounded in a mutually dependent relationship to form the meaning of autonomy.

In Chapter 7, I present findings concerning participants' understandings of decisionmaking authority and accountability within the institutional autonomy policy, based on my
analysis of policy objects and metaphors. These artifacts are significant carriers of meaning used
by participants to articulate their interpretations of policy concepts on autonomy. The findings
have indicated different interpretations—different communities of meaning—of decision-making
authority and accountability. Although the state has delegated decision-making authority to the
Vietnamese public university, there are conditions and limitations attached. As well, two
conflicting communities of meaning exist concerning accountability, with one group seeing it as
a constraint on autonomy and the second arguing that it should be expected that accountability be
implemented by the state to limit gaming practices.

In Chapter 8, I answer the research questions and offer a discussion of my overall findings. I argue that a new meaning of autonomy as steering at a distance (Wright & Ørberg, 2008) has emerged in Vietnamese higher education, but the legacy of the centralized system adds more state steering, which makes the university be more tightly controlled. The autonomy policy, therefore, gives the Vietnamese public university a higher status than other universities in the country and more power to make decisions, rather than independence from the state. I conclude in Chapter 9 with a summary of the overall thesis, research contributions, and implications for future policymaking and practice. Limitations of the research and areas for future research are also presented.

## Chapter 2

#### **Literature Review**

In this literature review, I aim to identify the major debates and key concepts that inform my study of institutional autonomy. I also seek to locate a gap in the literature on institutional autonomy and describe the contribution my study will make to the understanding of university governance in the Vietnamese context. The review is structured in four sections. I first introduce key concepts such as the knowledge economy, globalization, neoliberalism, and New Public Management to acknowledge the context within which university reform has taken place in Vietnam. Next, I present key strands of studies on institutional autonomy, focusing on institutional autonomy as a new mode of governance, its accompanying accountability mechanism, and on self-responsibility. I then discuss accountability as a crucial part of institutional autonomy in the neoliberal context. Finally, I review existing studies on autonomy in the context of Vietnamese higher education, locate the knowledge gap, and identify my study's contribution.

## **University Governance in the Globalized Knowledge Economy**

Over the last two decades, public universities worldwide have undergone significant reforms in response to the influences of the globalized knowledge economy (Wright, 2019a). The contemporary global economy is characterized as knowledge-based, which means, according to Olssen and Peter (2005), that knowledge has become the most crucial form of capital. Furthermore, innovation and the commercialization of knowledge have become critical to a nation's economic development (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010). International organizations such as the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the European Union, and the World Bank have urged governments to make universities the key drivers of that knowledge economy if they want their countries to succeed. Adjusting education programs to produce graduates with the skills

demanded by the labor market and to turn research ideas into innovative products has significantly changed the organization and purpose of universities. As Wright (2019a) indicates, higher education institutions have become more business-like, strategically led, and market oriented.

# **University Governance**

Conceptually, university governance is defined as a formal, multi-level arrangement that allows the institution to perform effectively and move towards achieving academic excellence (Shattock, 2006). The internal governance structure of a university often includes a governing board and executive leadership with strong decision-making authority. University governance, in this sense, is viewed at an institutional level and from the position of university leaders. Wright (2019b) envisions university governance, from the standpoint of state management agencies, as the policymakers designing legal and financial frameworks, steering technologies, and providing incentives for universities to enact themselves in particular ways. Wright sees university governance in terms of how the university orders its affairs and manages its relationship with the state. These different perspectives on university governance are subject to change in the shifting contexts of globalization and neoliberalism.

#### **Globalization**

Under the conditions of globalization, the way in which universities are governed has shifted; the move has been from government to governance (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010). National governments, with their rules and hierarchical imposition of a bureaucratic administrative structure, are no longer the only authority over universities. Instead, a range of other national and international policy actors have become involved in the policy process and in education governance. This is a feature of globalization that Altbach and Knight (2007) highlight, in which the societal, political, and economic forces push 21st century higher education toward greater

international involvement. From a financial perspective, globalization has created a global market in which universities participate (Austin & Jones, 2016). Joining that world market requires universities to adapt and respond to the demands of the globalized knowledge economy.

#### Neoliberalism

The social imaginary of globalization that has underpinned the shift in university governance worldwide in recent decades is neoliberalism. According to Harvey (2007), neoliberalism places a heavy focus on market efficiency and individual liberty. The rationale is that human well-being is best cultivated by liberating the skills of individuals within a system featuring free-market principles (Hughes, 2003). Within higher education, neoliberalism has introduced a new mode of governance which does not require the state's withdrawal but rather a transformation of its role from one of control to one of supervision (Enders et al., 2013). The state is viewed as an evaluative mechanism, steering universities from a distance and creating institutions for the market to produce its benefits (Huisman, 2009). Accordingly, marketization has become a characteristic of university governance (Marginson, 1997), evidenced in the use of business language in university settings. Universities in New Zealand, for example, are operated as corporations (Shore, 2010); a university degree in Australia is referred to as a commodity to be sold within the supply-demand rule of the market (Thornton, 2004). Ultimately, the neoliberal imaginary of globalization has brought about a discourse that reduces the state's direct intervention and increases the power of market mechanisms, which have become a new technology of control.

# New Public Management and Managerialism

One aspect of the new managerial state associated with the transition from government to governance is New Public Management, which has been copied from the private sector and infused into public institutions. New Public Management is a market-driven management culture that focuses

on performativity in terms of measurable outputs to improve effectiveness and efficiency in the public sector (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010). European universities have adopted this management approach to deal with the consequences of socio-economic and political developments such as budget constraints and massification (Deem, 2001). Sometimes, New Public Management is called managerialism, a reference to changes in how publicly funded institutions are governed following the widespread restructuring of welfare services in Western societies (Teelken, 2012). By using performance indicators to measure and improve productivity of public universities, managerialism has brought about significant changes in governance practices in many capitalist societies. In addition, as a neoliberal theory, it has provided rationales for sweeping reforms in the governance of the higher education sector.

#### Decentralization

Central to New Public Management and the new shape of governance are the efforts to decentralize the educational administration system. Decentralization refers to the delegation of tasks from higher to lower levels of government (Overman, 2016). Pan (2006) argues that decentralization changes the relationship between the government and a university from a highly centralized governance system to a structure of loose central control. The concept is often used interchangeably with devolution, a catch-all term for granting decision-making authority and autonomy under some conditions. As a positive effect, devolution to an institutional level will give each institution more independence and freedom to perform academic functions, ensuring flexibility, accountability, and diversity of the higher education system (Tran, 2014).

Decentralization can be implemented under democratic devolution, functional decentralization, or fiscal decentralization (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010). While democratic devolution promotes democracy and equality, functional and fiscal decentralization are institutionalized to achieve

social efficiency, which is often linked to technologies of accountability or the transfer of control over funding sources to local institutions.

Overall, the rapidly changing context of the globalized knowledge economy has forced changes in university governance. As the global context suggests, the traditional model of state control has shifted to state supervision. Under state control, the government is the dominant regulator that controls most aspects of public universities from curriculum, degree requirements, examinations, admissions, and the appointment of leaders and staff (Dao & Hayden, 2010). Under a state-supervising model, the government's intervention in the decision-making process of autonomous universities is limited. The government only supervises the higher education system's activities through accountability mechanisms to assure academic quality. Limited to a supervision role, the government respects institutional autonomy, inspires the self-governing capability of public universities, and becomes a mechanism by which to optimize the productive, self-governing capacity of the university.

## **Institutional Autonomy**

The concept of autonomy has been discussed extensively in the literature under different terms such as university autonomy, institutional autonomy, academic freedom, self-governance, independence, and setting universities free. Yet, no complete consensus exists on the meaning of autonomy. Here I review major debates on autonomy, summarizing them in four categories: autonomy as academic freedom and self-governance; autonomy as a new mode of university governance; degree of institutional autonomy; and the changing state-university relationship under the regime of autonomy.

## Autonomy as Individual Academic Freedom and Self-Governance

In early studies on this topic, scholars defined university autonomy as academic freedom the freedom of individual academics to teach, research, and pursue truth without fear of punishment or termination of employment (Ashby & Anderson, 1966; Berdahl, 1990; Ash, 2006; Enders, 2006). Academic freedom also includes the notion that students are free to learn independently. Behind this traditional interpretation of autonomy lies a rationale based on the principle that freedom of thought is a non-negotiable condition that is necessary to uphold the university's mission to provide society with scientific knowledge (Neave, 2012). The principle also implies that a state would benefit from an institution that has extensive autonomy and is less subject to state interference (Krejsler, 2019a); the state is, therefore, expected to defend academic freedom. Autonomy in the traditional sense is also interpreted as self-governance, that is, that a university has the power to govern all matters concerning admission, curriculum, assessment, recruitment, finance, and research, without outside control (Ashby & Anderson, 1966; Berdahl, 1990; Tight, 1992; Anderson & Johnson, 1998). Ultimately, university autonomy is "the freedom of an institution to run its own affairs without direction or influence from any level of government" (Anderson & Johnson, 1998, p.8). In general, the classical meaning of autonomy highlight the freedom of individuals to teach, learn, and conduct research; the right of an institution to govern itself with the power that resides within individual academics; and the ideology to protect universities from external influences.

#### Autonomy as a New Model for University Governance

In the neoliberal context, the meaning of autonomy has expanded to include the influences on the university of external stakeholders such as the state, market, and society. Also, the locus of decision-making power has shifted from an individual to an institutional level—to a

so-called institutional autonomy (Capano & Pritoni, 2019; Yokoyama, 2008; Piironnen, 2013; Enders et al., 2013). A vast body of literature has explored institutional autonomy as a new form of governance that emphasizes a mutually dependent relationship between autonomy and accountability, with universities being situated as autonomous and self-responsible subjects within the market-driven dynamic (Yokoyama, 2007, 2008, 2011; Maassen et al., 2017; Maassen, 2017; Amsler & Shore, 2017).

Control Mechanisms of Autonomy. With the change in the meaning of institutional autonomy has come a crucial role for accountability. Huisman (2018) argues that public universities are gradually being granted more institutional autonomy, that is, more authority to make decisions on their own matters, but that at the same time government is implementing accountability measures to keep track of the university's behavior and performance. The concept of accountability was early introduced by Neave (1988, 2001) in relation to two contrasting private and public definitions of autonomy. While the former refers to ideas of autonomy in the concepts of academic freedom and self-governance, the latter highlights the influences of external stakeholders and the university's accountability to them.

Following Neave's initial idea, scholars have developed diverse conceptualizations of accountability in higher education, understanding it primarily as a control mechanism accompanying the delegation of autonomy to public institutions (Yokoyama, 2008; Enders et al., 2013). Drawing on the Japanese context, Yokoyama (2008) conceptualizes control mechanisms of autonomy through accountability as the technology of governance. Involving the application of performance indicators, the technology of governance is designed to be a robust steering system that can push the efficiency of university performance. Also, the university is intended to become a self-governing subject that can independently navigate and compete in the market-

driven dynamic. Like Yokoyama (2008), Olssen et al. (2004) characterize this neoliberal governance technique as a new and advanced technology of control, that is, as governing without governing. The advantage of a technology of governance or a technology of control is that it can combine a self-driving technology of operation within the university with substantive control by the state. However, by using the term technology, the governance model points to a commercialized ethos which emphasizes competition with other institutions for funding and students rather than collaboration.

Wright and Ørberg (2008) describe the working mechanism of institutional autonomy, in which the state steps back from traditional roles of centralized control to make universities autonomous in performing their tasks, and, at the same time, continues to implement control mechanisms, as steering at a distance. Institutional autonomy keeps its meaning as a control model but with a combination of university independence and state control. The concept of steering at a distance, however, sounds gentle and can make university leaders feel like they have been given autonomy even though they might be more tightly controlled than before, and even though the control mechanisms, in which accountability is crucial, are better articulated.

Self-Responsibility of Public Universities. According to Rizvi and Lingard (2010), the desired product of neoliberal education policy is a self-responsible and self-capitalizing institution. The autonomy governance model aims to hand over responsibility to public universities to make them responsible for their own performance and respond efficiently to the market. As Yokoyama (2008) argues, neoliberalism has brought the notion of responsibilization into the meaning of autonomy in Japanese public universities. Responsibilization imposes responsibility for decisions and financial sources on the universities rather than on the state and means the university is expected to handle all consequences resulting from its own decisions and

cover all expenses for its activities. Accordingly, Japan's newly defined notion of autonomy highlights the university's self-governance at an institutional level and its accountability to the state as responsibilities shift from the state to the university.

Other studies in different national contexts have considered how responsibility is linked to the autonomy of universities. In the context of Danish higher education, Wright (2019b) argues that, indeed, in the new mode of governance the state sets parameters for changes and outsources to universities the responsibility to perform. Evidence of responsibilization is also found in an early study conducted in the 1980s by Kickert (1995). In investigating a new concept of government steering applied by the Dutch government, Kickert (1995) found that autonomy signifies a move towards greater self-responsibility for higher education institutions. In Canada, Deering and Sá (2018) also found that autonomy of the universities might include responsibility for the outcomes of past decisions. Furthermore, for some countries in Eastern Europe, decentralization is associated with the transfer of responsibility to public universities without provision of financial support (Painter, 2014). These examples indicate the changing role of the public university as it becomes a governance actor taking on more responsibilities. Kehm (2012) captures this shift of responsibilities in the higher education system:

Responsibilities for higher education governance and policymaking on the system level no longer tend to be the exclusive responsibility of national governments. Some responsibilities have moved up to the supra-national level, and others have moved down to the institutional level through deregulation. (p. 66)

With responsibility moving down to an institutional level through decentralization, the university's self-financing capacity has come to be included in the new meaning of autonomy, as reported by scholars in different contexts such as Vietnam and Malaysia (George, 2011; Le et al., 2017; Sirat,

2010; Verhoest et al., 2004). Wright and Ørberg (2008) emphasize that in the modernized state model of autonomy, universities, their leaders, and academics are given freedom in the sense of individual responsibility for their economic survival.

With an emphasis on the self-responsibility of public universities, institutional autonomy is referred to as a technology of the self (Foucault, 1991; Miller, 2001; Shore & Wright, 2011; Yokoyama, 2008). Technology of the self puts the spotlight on the individual university as a subject that is autonomous, self-reliant, responsible, risk-managing, and performance-focused. In the university landscape, the governing board and university leaders are certainly the central subjects who are empowered to set institutional strategies and maximize the university's benefits (Yokoyama, 2008). However, as Carney (2019) notes, they might be caught between being agents of the government's policy and protectors of self-owning universities.

To conclude this section on autonomy as a new mode of university governance, I emphasize that the autonomous university is accountable to the state and responsible for its performance and financial resources. Autonomy has provided universities with room to maneuver yet government continues to apply steering mechanisms. As Capano (2011) notes about this governance model, the government continues to do its job, which is to "govern"; furthermore, it "has not lost any of its policymaking power but has simply changed the way it steers higher education" (p. 1622). Shore and Wright (2011) note that in these technologies of governance, the legacy of state control is strong. Indeed, the state's political aim is embedded in instruments used to steer universities, instruments known as political technologies (Foucault, 1991). Such political technologies aim to achieve the state's political aims through governing at a distance, yet they remain in the shadows, their operation hard to discern because they conceal their process and mask political aims under a cloak of neutrality.

## Degree of Autonomy of Public Universities

Different studies worldwide have explored the degree of institutional autonomy of public universities under the new mode of governance. Most of the findings emphasize the nature of the state's control in the meaning of autonomy. They describe institutional autonomy using different names such as contractual autonomy, regulated autonomy, regulatory autonomy, and conditional autonomy. Yang et al. (2007) uncovered the regulated autonomy of Chinese universities, reporting that although the shackles of public universities were unknotted when the government conferred autonomy, the universities were still "dancing in the cage" (p. 590) because a mixture of enhanced autonomy and increased accountability meant that the autonomy granted by the government was somewhat limited. Yokoyama (2007) noted that market-oriented policies brought about contractual autonomy in public universities in England, autonomy on the condition that objectives set by the government be met and the universities retain their accountability.

Drawing on agency theory, Enders et al. (2013) noted that institutional autonomy was refined as regulatory autonomy in the Dutch context where a new regime of governmental control prompted universities to become strategic actors in the market-driven mechanism.

Accordingly, university autonomy included a level of decision-making authority and a level of exemption from accountability. In South Africa, conditional autonomy recognized the state's role in steering public universities towards targeted outcomes while respecting the autonomy of each institution in the substantive fields of their intellectual work (Neave 1988; Hall & Symes, 2005). In addition, the concept of conditional autonomy offered an appropriate principle for guiding the state-university relationship in South Africa in the era of democratic government.

#### The Changing State-University Relationship Under the Autonomy Model

With a new meaning of autonomy arising in the neoliberal context, many scholars have sought to investigate the state-university relationship. Most contemporary studies have argued that when a public university becomes an autonomous and self-responsible subject, its relationship with the government might change to a contractual relationship (Kivistö, 2005, 2007, 2008; Lane, 2005, 2007; Lane & Kivistö, 2008; Liefner, 2003; Kivistö & Zalyevska, 2015; Rungfamai, 2008; Olssen et al., 2004; Hanushek et al., 2013; Enders et al., 2013; Yokoyama, 2008). For example, a contractual relationship between the principal (the state) and the agent (the university) exists in Denmark, where a university signed a development contract with the ministry. With performance targets specified in the contract, the ministry can orchestrate its influence over the autonomous university despite the change in their relationship. I provide more details about this control relationship in Chapter 3.

With the implementation of autonomy policy, the state-university relationship has changed in different ways in different national contexts. For instance, during the reform and decentralization of Malaysia's higher education system, a shift took place towards a more mutually conducive state-university relationship in which the university was granted more autonomy (Sirat, 2010). However, the state still applied many control mechanisms because public universities were still financially dependent on the state. Importantly for the state in the context of political and economic uncertainty, granting full autonomy to public universities seemed inappropriate and untimely. In contrast to the mutually conducive state-university relationship in Malaysia in which national universities enjoy some level of autonomy, an intense command-and-control relationship developed in Italy despite a comprehensive reform to increase autonomy for state universities (Donina et al., 2015). Specifically, the state did not delegate power to universities and still played

the role of controller rather than supervisor, leaving almost intact the old governance regime. In Japan's higher education system, a bureaucratic relationship between the government and national universities is still in place. Despite deregulation and marketisation which, since the 1990s, advocated more autonomy for universities (Yokoyama, 2008), supreme ministerial power and control over Japanese universities has remained. Different relationships in different contexts notwithstanding, the institutional autonomy model has resulted in an intensive relationship between the state and the university in which the university is controlled even more tightly.

In summary, in this section, I have reviewed key strands of literature on the concept of institutional autonomy. Overall, the meaning of institutional autonomy has expanded from its traditional sense as academic freedom and self-governance into a new concept—that of a mode of governance in the context of neoliberalism. This expansion in meaning has involved a movement in the locus of power from individual academics to the institutions themselves. As a mode of governance, institutional autonomy reflects the mutually dependent relationship between autonomy and accountability, with universities becoming autonomous and self-responsible subjects in a market-driven dynamic. However, the autonomy of public universities is limited, and universities continue to be in intense relationships with the state.

#### **Accountability in Higher Education**

In this section, I provide a detailed discussion of accountability, which has become a crucial part of institutional autonomy in the neoliberal context.

## Definitions of Accountability

According to Brinkerhoff (2004), accountability is the obligation of an institution or individual to provide information about, or justification for, their actions, along with the sanction for failing to comply with or engage in appropriate activities. Accountability is an obligation,

something an actor is required to do, and stakeholders may ask questions, pass judgment, or even punish or reward the actor. Adopting this viewpoint, Haque (2007) notes that accountability generally means that someone is answerable to someone else about the performance of an assigned task. Both Brinkerhoff (2004) and Haque (2007) view accountability as meaning that institutions and individuals can be held accountable to upper levels of management. They identify critical components of accountability—such as that actors are involved and that an obligation exists to provide justifications—but they do not identify the relationship between actors and stakeholders.

Building on Brinkerhoff's (2004) definition of accountability, Bovens (2007) defines accountability as "a social relationship in which an actor feels an obligation to explain and to justify his or her conduct to some significant other" (p. 184). Bovens (2007) calls the relationship between an actor and a significant other an accountability forum. Bovens fails, however, to include the issue of power in the accountability relationship. Indeed, the forum is usually very powerful and can determine the rules of the game and enforce their implementation. The state can, for example, decide on a specific mechanism to allocate funding for public universities based on performance.

From the standpoint of state management agencies, Ørberg and Wright (2019) argue that accountability concerns the state's interventions in the performance of a public university through an array of instruments used to steer and develop the university. They argue that accountability is a control mechanism, and use the terms steering and control interchangeably in their literature. One feature of accountability from this perspective is that scholars are often pessimistic about its effects. Accountability can outweigh the decision-making authority that a university is granted (Shore & Wright, 1999, 2000; Kickert, 1995) and is therefore criticized for

being in tension with university autonomy and for an intensive use of control measures which are labeled negatively with such terms as web of oversight (Lane & Kivistö, 2008), the cage (Yang et al., 2007), and multiple strings (Ørberg & Wright, 2019).

## Rationales for Accountability

Scholars hold different perspectives on why accountability should be implemented. One argument is that universities, as public or state-funded institutions, have a moral obligation to explain and justify their conduct (Cheng, 2012; Huisman, 2018; Trow, 1996). If public universities receive public funding, they must serve the public interest because the public is investing in them. Indeed, the argument that public universities should be accountable to the state and to the public concerning whether money is spent wisely and used efficiently and effectively has strong justification. Distrust of management, which is often explained by agency theory (Enders et al., 2013; Verhoest et al., 2004; Dougherty & Natow, 2019a; Lang, 1999; Whalen, 1991; Deering & Sá, 2018; Blackmore, 2010), is a second reason for applying accountability mechanisms. Agency theory suggests that if academic units have decision-making authority, they will make self-interested decisions. Therefore, a control mechanism must be in place to monitor their compliance with regulations and limit gaming practices such as manipulating the state's resources behind the scenes to serve their own purposes. As Blackmore (2010) argues, the rise of audit culture in new government strategies indicates that the state does not trust universities.

#### Ex-Ante Control and Ex-Post Control

My review of the literature has identified two modes of control: *ex-ante* control and *ex-post* control. *Ex-ante* control takes the form of authoritative mandates, rules, or regulations that specify what the subject under control must do and how it is to perform tasks (Verhoest et al., 2004). Such before-the-fact instructions and regulations are intended to compel desired actions

and prevent undesirable activities. The subject of *ex-ante* control is deemed responsible for complying with the rules, and the controller monitors and enforces that compliance. *Ex-ante* control emphasizes control over inputs and processes and leaves the institution with minimal freedom to perform its activities (Lane, 2000). In contrast, goal accomplishment and efficiency rather than rule adherence are primary concerns in the *ex-post* control model (Lægreid & Verhoest, 2010). This model allows the subject flexibility in performing the goals set by the controller. *Ex-ante* control and *ex-post* control represent opposite approaches to control; they are linked to two different accountability systems, one based on compliance, the other on performance.

#### Compliance-Based and Performance-Based Accountability

Accountability systems are either compliance-based or performance-based. A compliance-based accountability system, which usually characterizes *ex-ante* control, is comprised of many regulations and reporting requirements through which the state monitors a university's compliance through its approving function (Verhoet et al., 2004). This traditional accountability system emphasizes the rules set by the state, rules that a university must follow. It runs counter to a performance-based accountability system (Shaw, 2018) or an outcome-based contract (Lane & Kivistö, 2008), a system widely used to evaluate performance efficiency by indicators and benchmarks. Specific forms of performance-based accountability include performance-based funding, performance management, and performance audit. While a compliance-based accountability system focuses its steering mechanism on inputs and processes, a performance-based system emphasizes outputs and outcomes measured by key performance indicators such as number of student enrolments, number of publications, and graduation rates.

With the move from government to governance and state control to state supervision in the higher education system, many scholars have recommended a change in steering approach (Kickert, 1995; Enders et al., 2013; Verhoet et al., 2004; Hoang, 2017). They suggest that the conferment of autonomy should be accompanied by a shift from a compliance-based accountability system to a performance-based one (Enders et al., 2013). They make the argument that controlling inputs and processes by checking compliance with laws and regulations creates too much direct intervention in the daily activities of semi-autonomous agencies and limits their performance in a market-driven dynamic (Verhoest, 2005). Performance accountability on the other hand allows an agency flexibility to perform tasks with higher levels of efficiency, innovation, and productivity. Despite recommendations to change accountability mechanisms, however, universities worldwide are still subject to both compliance-based and performance-based systems, including a range of measures such as laws, ministerial control, audits, and performance indicators. These instruments indicate that there may be still too much direct intervention in the life of universities which might be limiting the capacity of those universities to thrive in the global knowledge economy.

# Reforming Vietnam's Higher Education System and Autonomy of Public Universities Vietnamese Public Universities in a Globalized Knowledge Economy

University reform worldwide in recent decades have been driven by globalization, the knowledge economy, and the dominant social imaginary of neoliberalism (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010; Wright, 2019a; Olssen & Peter, 2005). With the goal of industrialization, modernization, and integration in the world's economy, Vietnam has not been immune to these global forces. A body of literature has explored the influences of globalization and neoliberalism on Vietnam's higher education system (Ngo et al., 2006; Nguyen & Tran, 2018; Tran, 2014; Le, 2016; Tran et al., 2017; Nguyen & Tran, 2019; Madden, 2014; Pham, 2011). Most of these studies indicate that

globalization has placed the country under pressure to change; these studies also report on specific policies the Vietnamese government has implemented to reform the higher education sector. Specifically, in1986, the economic liberalization policy was enacted, marking a shift from a centrally planned economy to a socialist market economy (Ngo et al., 2006; Tran, 2014).

Following the transition from a centrally planned economy to a socialist economy, the market in Vietnam has taken a more central role in the governance of higher education. The education sector is now considered by the government to be an important element of economic policy and of the nation's competitive advantage in the integration process (Central Government, 2005). This means that Vietnam's public universities have embraced neoliberal practices that foster the role of the market in competition for enrollment, tuition, and funding. As Rizvi and Lingard (2010) remark, the idea of a socialist market economy has become dominant not only in the west but also in Vietnam and China where Communist Parties rule.

The socialist market economy in communist countries is, however, framed by a local version of neoliberalism, which means it is meditated by both global forces and local contexts (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010; Ngo et al., 2006). Vietnam has attempted to retain two incompatible ideologies—the market and socialism—in its renewal process (Nguyen et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2015). There is always intervention from the state in a socialist-oriented market economy in order to deal with unexpected impacts of neoliberalism such as inequity in access to higher education (George, 2011; Vo & Laking, 2020). Scholars exploring influences of globalization and neoliberalism on Vietnam's higher education system (Tran et al., 2017; Ngo et al., 2006) therefore emphasize tensions between global influences and local values. They also recommend that university reform in post-Soviet contexts like Vietnam should not only aim to address challenges of globalization but also take into consideration the local context and traditional values.

Indeed, reform policies such as those in Vietnam, intended to achieve an economic mission for the higher education sector in the global economy, are widespread amongst countries adopting the Soviet centralized model. The Soviet approach to higher education governance is characterized by centrally planned governance, subsidized finance, tuition free, subordination to many ministries, national curriculum, and guaranteed employment for graduates (Huisman et al., 2018). Basically, in the Soviet model, the state centralizes and subsidizes on the matters of teaching, research, finance, and human resource in the higher education system. Under the conditions of globalization, however, especially after the collapse of the Soviet system in 1991, the model is no longer tenable, and former Soviet nations have reformed their governance systems. Soviet legacies nevertheless are still strong and continue to exert a significant impact on communist countries. For instance, the education policy to modernize and industrialize the country in India is informed by the Gandhian post-colonial initiatives and a neoliberal imaginary, with the value of market efficiency increasingly becoming dominant (Pathak, 2006, as cited in Rizvi & Lingard, 2010). Yet, the policy has been implemented in a strict, central planned manner and a Soviet-style five-year plan.

Other studies in different contexts have also reported that governments and universities walk a line between the Soviet legacy and newer global influences to reform the higher education system. In Malaysia, regardless of an inclination towards marketization of higher education, state centralism is still strong (Lee, 2004). Like Vietnam, the Malaysian government is concerned that the higher education system might drift into market-oriented practices with severe consequences for equity and education quality (Sirat, 2010). In Laos, the implementation of autonomy policy notwithstanding, the governance structure underpinning autonomy does not operate in isolation from the social, economic, and political environment in which higher education operates—an environment with a unitary state structure under the overall direction of

the Communist Party (George, 2020). Similarly, despite the quest for autonomy to facilitate the move towards world-class status, Chinese universities have struggled to incorporate international experiences into higher education and to respond to economic globalization while reinforcing political education and preserving the state-prescribed cultural identity (Pan, 2006). These examples indicate the strong legacy of the Soviet governance model, despite the reform efforts of universities in different Asian countries.

During the reform process, most countries in post-Soviet contexts have abolished the line-ministry control over public universities that was a typical feature of the Soviet centralized model. Hungary abolished it in 1993, and China made the same choice in 1998. Line-ministry control is criticized for being redundant and obstructing the efficiency of the decision-making process in higher education institutions (Hayden & Lam, 2007). Yet, line-ministry control still exists in Vietnam, controlling public universities and creating much tension in the implementation of the autonomy policy. Here again is evidence indicating a strong Soviet legacy that cannot be ignored during reform towards the global knowledge economy.

## Existing Studies on Autonomy in Vietnam's Higher Education Context

In the literature on reform in the higher education sector, many studies conducted by both Vietnamese and other scholars have explored the implementation of the autonomy policy and the degree of autonomy granted to Vietnamese public universities.

Implementation of the Autonomy Policy in Vietnam. Most studies that have explored the implementation of the autonomy policy in Vietnam indicate that tensions between state-centric values and neoliberal principles have created many practical problems with which the government and universities must deal (Tran, 2009; Tran, 2014; Vo, 2018; Dang, 2013). Using a mixed-methods approach to investigate the rationale and practical implementation of autonomy, Tran

(2009) found a dualistic policy in which two visions of development—the market economy and socialism—find common ground in shaping Vietnam's higher education. Tran (2009) noted that the dualistic policy originates in a debate between conservative forces inside Vietnam's Communist Party and reformers who are responding to the influences of global forces. Although Tran's results were limited to the top-down view held by policymakers, the study revealed that policy implementation in Vietnam is experimental and gradual. Specifically, it has been a lesson-learned process in which policymakers responded to the successes and failures of the policy during its first phase of implementation. The policy was subsequently amended to reflect the outcome of an ongoing debate within the political system about what to do next in the reform process.

Drawing on neo-institutionalism as a solid theoretical framework, Vo (2018) found that autonomy in a socialist context like Vietnam is bound by formal rules and cultural values, and that the reform policy is primarily influenced by dependence on the socialist-oriented market path. Vo recommended building institutions to fit well with the reform plan, especially when the policy is borrowed from western countries with well-developed institutional foundations.

Although the study provided valuable insights on the nature of autonomy in Vietnam, its analysis was based on the service provider's perspective, not that of a higher education institution. This could mean that the study was overly concentrated on influences of the market mechanism and its associated problems such as the commercialization of education. Furthermore, the number of documents collected from case studies was small and did not constitute a sufficiently rich source of evidence for in-depth analysis.

Also exploring the autonomy policy, Dang (2013) found no radical changes in the autonomy of higher education institutions. Specifically, institutions remain subject to a highly centralized control system. The MOET and twelve other line ministries rigorously control critical

areas related to administrative independence and academic freedom. Dang identified a big gap between policy intent and policy implementation, a gap caused by tensions between reforming and conservative views about the roles of the state and of universities in governing higher education. Different opinions and perspectives have created a policy paradox. While the Party and the state have enacted policies to grant autonomy to universities, they have also promulgated various accountability regulations that tightly control institutions and limit their independence. Dang's findings, like Tran's (2009) and Vo's (2018), show that the legacy of the socialist state has impeded significant change in policy domains and is the root of many challenges. Dang's study, however, was limited to document review as the source of data and did not include the voices of other actors such as university leaders and academics. Also, the study was conducted in the same year that the Higher Education Law of 2012 was released so it could not have been expected to find radical changes in university autonomy.

Based on the analysis of data collected from two Vietnamese National Universities, Tran (2014) concluded that the adoption of autonomy as a reform policy in Vietnam is not necessarily a good thing. Tran's study contributed to the literature on university governance in Vietnam by pointing out many practical problems in the decentralization process, such as an unclear strategy for successful policy implementation, a lack of financial support, and, most importantly, the limited experience and leadership of institutions in leading the change. Tran drew pessimistic conclusions about the policy; however, the conclusions were not accurate because her study was conducted in the first phase of policy implementation. As well, the theoretical framework for the study, which drew on the concept of decentralization, was not strong enough to provide insights into the complexity of autonomy in the Vietnamese context. Overall, prior studies such as Tran's

have pointed out that problems in implementing the autonomy policy in Vietnam are mainly due to tensions between neoliberal principles and the legacies of the state-centralized model.

Degree of Autonomy of Vietnamese Public Universities. Studies that have explored the degree of institutional autonomy of Vietnamese public universities (Hayden & Lam, 2007; Dao, 2015; George, 2011; Le et al., 2017; Vo & Laking, 2020; Tran et al., 2017; Vo, 2018; London, 2010; Dao & Hayden, 2010) indicate that the institutional autonomy of those universities is very limited, the main reason being that the decision to grant autonomy to higher education institutions is a highly significant matter that is in tension with the legacy of Vietnam's centralized governance model. As Hayden and Lam (2007) remark:

The Socialist Republic of Vietnam enshrines in its Constitution the supremacy of the Communist Party and the ideals of Marxism-Leninism, as well as the thoughts of Ho Chi Minh. Its political system has relied heavily on central planning and the exercise of state control. Its higher education system, though changing rapidly, continues to reflect the legacy of a Soviet model of higher education. An official commitment to granting autonomy to higher education institutions is not, therefore, an insignificant matter. (p. 73)

The institutional autonomy of Vietnamese public universities is limited in two senses: it is contingent on meeting conditions set by the state, and the state directly intervenes in the university's daily activities.

From semi-structured interviews with senior leaders at a Vietnamese university, Dao (2015) acquired evidence that any autonomy granted by the MOET seems conditional. For example, the university can decide to deliver programs but only on the condition that a ministry panel approves new programs. The university can award degrees for undergraduate students but only on blank certificates purchased from the MOET. One condition that most Vietnamese public universities

found very difficult to meet concerned their self-financing capacity—the requirement that the university pay its own operating and investing expenses. In a study of the boundaries of autonomy in Vietnam, George (2011) indicated that the university's autonomy is contingent on its ability to diversify funding sources. Le et al. (2017) seemed to support George's claim in maintaining that institutions having more decision-making authority have better self-financing capacity such as a significant source of revenues from tuition. Overall, although the studies cited here were limited to reporting descriptive findings, they have consistently shown that regardless of the passage of the Higher Education Law to officially mark the transfer of decision-making authority, the level of autonomy a university can enjoy is minimal because of conditions set by the state. These conditions limit the university's autonomy and the opportunity to be granted autonomy.

In arguing the limits of autonomy, scholars also report the state's direct intervention in the university's daily activities and decision-making process. George (2011), for example, reported the MOET's extensive intervention in curricula, not only for compulsory political courses with highly prescriptive content but also for other, non-compulsory specialist courses such as economics and social science. Because most curricula are nationally designed, lecturers have very limited freedom to determine course content. Institutional autonomy is not only limited in academic activities but also in other areas such as human resources and financial management. Tran et al. (2017) have provided evidence of the Communist Party's severe intervention in the university's internal governance structure. The University President, for example, must also hold the position of Communist Party Secretary. Indeed, in any Vietnamese public university, the Communist Party Secretary has the highest level of decision-making power, regardless of the establishment of the University Council under the regime of autonomy.

Drawing on a multiple case study of three public universities, Vo and Laking (2020) found that the state still sets caps on tuition fees for all three universities, whether they are fully or partly self-financing. The findings seem contrary to the content of Resolution 77 (Prime Minister, 2014b) which grants a public university extensive autonomy if it is fully self-responsible for operating and investing expenses. Vo and Laking (2020), however, using data collected from interviews with academics at the universities, identified a gap between policy and practice. Their findings were like those of George (2011) on significant central control over curricula and those of Tran et al. (2017) on the dominance of the Communist Party in the university's governance structure.

Based on descriptive findings on the state's intervention, the studies cited here came to slightly different conclusions about the degree of institutional autonomy in Vietnamese public universities. Vo and Laking (2020) argue that autonomy is growing but does not reflect a broad transfer of decision-making power from the state to public universities. Dao and Hayden (2010) and Le et al. (2017), on the other hand, have concluded that Vietnam's universities do not have any sense of autonomy. Applying Berdahl's (1990) classical conceptualization of autonomy, Dao & Hayden (2010) claim that Vietnamese universities have neither substantive autonomy nor procedural autonomy. Substantive autonomy is the university's power to determine its own goals; procedural autonomy is the university's power to identify its own ways to pursue goals. In examining dimensions of organizational autonomy, financial autonomy, staffing autonomy, and academic freedom, Le et al. (2017) and Tran & Doan (2016) found that Vietnamese universities did not really have any. Academic freedom, the focus of traditional notions of autonomy, is deemphasized, while financial independence is noticeably highlighted.

Different conclusions reported in the studies cited above might be due to differences in the universities from which data were collected and to the time frame within which each study was conducted. Vo and Laking's (2020) study followed passage of the Revised Higher Education Law in 2018, which means institutional autonomy had already expanded; other studies were conducted years earlier. Furthermore, even if data for all studies had been collected in the same year, the findings could still be very different because the government granted various levels of autonomy to universities based on their financing capacity and accreditation results. The findings must, therefore, be considered in conjunction with detailed information about the case studies and their time frame.

Scholars have sought to explain the lack of university autonomy in Vietnam. London (2010) suggested that fear of change and the MOET's conservative management approach caused educators to distrust initiatives and fail to respond to new demands in the changing context of globalization. Another reason for the slow movement of university reform is the centralized culture that has existed in Vietnam for too long (Hayden & Lam, 2007; Dao, 2015; Tran et al., 2017). Most importantly, lack of institutional autonomy occurs because ministries and the Communist Party are reluctant and even unwilling to give up their control over public universities (Hayden & Lam, 2007; Dao, 2015; Tran et al., 2017). Welsh and McGinn (1999) emphasize that an essential condition for successful decentralization is political support for proposed changes. However, this fundamental condition seems not to have been met in Vietnam; an unwillingness to release the power of political parties and ministries emerges as one of the main challenges to the implementation of the reform plan.

Limitation of Prior Studies and Knowledge Gap. Existing studies have provided valuable insights on several essential features of institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education sector. Scholars have reinforced the argument that university autonomy is limited in communist countries, despite the integration of reform agendas into the globalized knowledge

economy (Dao, 2015; George, 2011; Le et al., 2017; Vo & Laking, 2020). Challenges in implementing the policy, mainly owing to tensions between neoliberal ideologies and state-centric values, have been highlighted in several studies (Tran, 2009; Tran, 2014; Vo, 2018; Dang, 2013). These findings are consistent with the international literature on autonomy reported earlier. (Scholars have referred to institutional autonomy by different names such as regulated autonomy, regulatory autonomy, contractual autonomy, and conditional autonomy, emphasizing the state's control in the meaning of autonomy.)

Most research about the Vietnamese context has been limited to presenting descriptive findings about the level of autonomy that public universities have been granted. The focus has been on the power struggle between the state and the university, particularly on the state's direct intervention in the university's daily activities and on the university's efforts to gain decision-making authority. Little analysis has been offered based on a solid theoretical framework.

Researchers have attempted to indicate the boundaries of autonomy in Vietnam but have not dug deeply into the underlying mechanism of autonomy to understand why it is limited. Significantly, while the concept of institutional autonomy was contested during the implementation process, little attention has been given to the meaning of the concept itself. Over-reliance on document analysis as the primary data source has led to limited insight into the various meanings that different actors—policymakers, university leaders, and academics—hold on the policy concept.

Contribution of the Present Study. In the present study, I attempt to address gaps in the research through the use of a qualitative instrumental case study and an exploration of meanings of autonomy in the centralized governance context of Vietnam. I focus on tensions between decision-making authority and accountability, and on different communities of meaning re autonomy—notions of autonomy that university leaders shared with me in semi-structured

interviews, and that are articulated by policymakers in policy documents. I argue that a better understanding of the working mechanism of institutional autonomy will provide insights into its complexities, and may help actors develop a more informed understanding of policy and a response that aligns with the state's aims in enacting the policy. I draw on state steering theory (Wright, 2019a, b, c, d) as a theoretical framework to make sense of tensions which emerge in the autonomy policy between autonomy and control. I apply an interpretive policy approach to analyze various communities of meaning and reveal tensions in the implementation of autonomy. In the next chapter, I present the theoretical framework adopted for this study.

## Chapter 3

#### **Theoretical Framework**

In this chapter, I present a theoretical framework grounded in state steering theory. I use this theory to gain insights about the meaning of institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education system. The chapter is structured in three parts. First, I introduce state steering theory and justify its use in the study of autonomy in Vietnam. Next, I describe the framework as centering on the concept of *steering at a distance*, a new mode of governance. I then provide a critique of state steering theory focusing on its interpretivist perspective which helps to explain the working mechanism of institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese context.

#### State Steering Theory and its Relevance to Vietnam's Higher Education Context

State steering theory appears in the literature under different names—the modernizing state model of autonomy (Wright & Ørberg, 2008), the self-ownership model (Ørberg & Wright, 2019), steering at a distance (Kickert, 1995; Vidovich, 2002; Brown, 2021), steering from a distance (Olssen et al., 2004; Marginson, 1997), and governing at a distance (Marginson, 1997; Pam, 2018; Rose & Miller, 2010; Carter, 2018). The key concept of *steering at a distance* indicates a move towards more autonomy and self-responsibility for higher education institutions (Kickert, 1995). Steering at a distance was first introduced as a new paradigm of public governance in the Dutch higher education sector in the 1980s (Kickert, 1995). Since then, the concept has been applied in many different contexts—Australia (Brown, 2021; Vidovich, 2002; Marginson, 1997), Denmark (Ørberg & Wright, 2019), Italy (Donina et al., 2015), China (Yang, 2015), Indonesia (Gaus, 2019; Gaus et al., 2019), and Hong Kong (Mok, 2014)—to explore how governance of higher education was reformed by reducing state control and increasing university autonomy. University reform in Denmark is situated in worldwide reform agendas as a response to the shifting context of the global

knowledge economy. With the deep involvement of Danish politicians and civil servants in international organizations such as OECD that envision universities as the driving force behind the knowledge economy, and with the speedy, extensive, and extreme versions of reform that have arisen in Denmark, this country provides an excellent example through which to explore steering at a distance, a policy that, with globalization, seems to travel globally.

Although state steering theory is based on university reform in European countries such as Denmark and the Netherlands that are different in context and geo-political conditions from Vietnam, I draw on the theory as a theoretical framework to gain insights on autonomy in Vietnam for the following reasons. Governments in both Vietnam and Denmark share the goal of university reform in the global knowledge economy, that goal being to make universities the key drivers of the knowledge economy so that the country will be successful in a neoliberal context. Specifically, the goal is that universities should direct research towards the needs of the knowledge industry, produce a highly skilled workforce, and become market-oriented so they may be effective and efficient in fulfilling these roles. In Vietnam, the government released the Higher Education Reform Agenda in 2005, an agenda reflecting global reform priorities. In Rizvi's (2004) view, this agenda involves a global movement toward the restructuring of higher education. Indeed, governments in both Vietnam and Denmark have adopted many elements of the New Public Management toolkit—establishing the university's governing board to empower university leaders, for example, and employing universal governing techniques such as performance-based accountability. Overall, with its goal of reform in the globalized economy and its similar management techniques, the theoretical framework applied in Denmark is applicable to Vietnam's context.

What makes steering at a distance relevant to the Vietnam context is that it has become increasingly popular and has been applied in many countries around the world including Southeast Asian countries such as China, Indonesia, and Hong Kong where geo-political conditions are similar to those in Vietnam. Mok (2014), for example, argues that steering at a distance is embraced in Hong Kong's public universities as a way to uphold their accountability to the government and preserve their autonomy. Similarly, the steering-at-a-distance mechanism fits well with what is happening in higher education in Indonesia where, despite the implementation of autonomy policy, the government still has a hand in the university's daily activities (Gaus, 2019; Gaus et al., 2019). Strict monitoring and control mechanisms, however, betray the government's half-hearted attitude towards autonomy. Yang (2015) reports profound changes in the way Chinese universities are governed as the state's role shifts from control to supervision and universities are steered from a distance through the market mechanism. These examples of state steering theory in Asian countries strengthen the relevance of the theoretical framework to the Vietnamese context.

Although Vietnamese society is not democratic as is society in Denmark, the Vietnamese government is becoming more open and democratic in policy implementation, and negotiations have taken place between the state and university leaders concerning the autonomy policy.

During negotiation processes, university leaders have made recommendations about the content of policies, and the state has adjusted policies where they have determined it reasonable to do so. In this way, the university has been granted more decision-making authority and, although the state still holds ultimate power, the viewpoints of many actors with an interest in the policy have been included in the enactment process. Even in Denmark, however, where a democratic approach to policy (Shore & Wright, 2011) ensures that the voices of all relevant actors are included, the power of those voices is not evenly distributed. As Wright (2016) reported

concerning a television debate and discussion with the Minister, academics were defeated in their argument that the law undermined conditions for their academic freedom. Although state steering theory is based on democratic notions, it is nevertheless important to search for insight about the meaning of autonomy in Vietnam.

Overall, the reasons outlined above explain why I chose state steering theory as a theoretical lens to use in investigating the phenomenon of institutional autonomy in Vietnam. In the past, the Vietnamese government was based on a model of centralized governance borrowed from Eastern European countries—and it worked well for years. A theoretical framework grounded on state steering theory, therefore, can also be applicable in Vietnam. In the following sections, I describe this theoretical framework focusing on the key concept of steering at a distance and on the enactment of this top-down form of governance. I also explain what happens in practice when other actors implement the policy from bottom up.

## Steering at a Distance: A Top-Down Vision of University Governance

Steering at a distance presents a top-down vision of university governance based on established laws and institutional power; it is designed by policymakers on high and passed down through a hierarchy of organizations to be applied to people at the bottom of the hierarchy (Shore & Wright, 2011). My focus is on the working mechanism of steering at a distance and on its steering instruments; these include performance-based funding, performance management, and auditing culture.

#### Steering at a Distance: A New Mode of Governance in Neoliberal Contexts

To increase the efficiency and flexibility of public universities within a neoliberal society, governance increasingly takes place at a distance. Steering at a distance has been called self-regulation (Neave & Vught, 1991), remote control (Goedegebuure, 1993), tight-loose coupling

(Lawton, 1992), governance at a distance (Broome & Quick, 2015; Rose & Miller, 2010), steering not rowing, and the separation of steering and rowing functions (Olssen et al., 2004). Basically, steering at a distance aims to provide more autonomy and self-responsibility for public universities (Kickert, 1995). Public universities are provided with decision-making authority, which is the power to make decisions on matters such as teaching, research, personnel, finance, admission, and enrollment (Enders et al., 2013). Steering at a distance departs from the classical state steering mechanism characterized by hierarchical, direct top-down control through legislation and regulations. As Donina et al. (2015) argue, this mode of governance shifts control from that of a centrally planned model to a more self-regulated one, with the goal of reducing the state's direct control over the university and increasing the university's self-determining capacity. Pointing to the Dutch higher education context, Kickert (1995) noted that the rationale for introducing governing at a distance was that universities needed to be flexible and innovative in response to changing societal demands, initiatives that were inhibited by the existing steering system. Selfsteering capacity and self-responsibility are expected to increase adaptability, flexibility, and innovation for public universities.

The use of such terms as self, distance, remote, and loose to describe the steering at a distance governance model, however, does not indicate the lessening of state control over universities, merely a different form of steering which is more covert. As Broome and Quirk (2015) argue, steering at a distance is simply a way to exercise various forms of indirect power, the goal of which is to increase the effectiveness of the steering system (Kickert, 1995). Thus, the state, while delegating decision-making authority, deliberately continues to steer universities through accountability mechanisms (Brown, 2021). Consequently, being governed at a distance

involves ongoing tensions between a degree of independence for universities in making decisions and control measures applied by the state.

In Denmark, the self-ownership model is a central steering concept that identifies the university as both an independent institution with strong leadership and an object of government steering at a distance (Wright, 2019a). With its new legal status as a self-owned institution, the university has its own governing board and a hierarchy of leaders with self-determining capacity who are able to act strategically according to society's demands. Yet, although the university is free to act within the government's control framework, they must meet development targets and performance indicators to secure the funding (Wright & Ørberg, 2008). This means the financial autonomy of Danish universities is very limited—they are tightly bound to the state's priorities in exchange for funding. Self-ownership, then, has become a model of state steering with dual aims—to enhance the university's strategic self-defining capacity and its accountability to the state. The university, in general, has autonomy in the sense of a higher level of status as a self-owned institution but not in the sense of complete independence from the state.

#### Steering Assemblage and Steering Instruments

The key to state steering theory lies in the control instruments used to steer the autonomous university. Moving to steering at a distance means reworking existing governing techniques to give the university space to make decisions. Of course, concerns over potential gaming practices arise when a university has power (Shore & Wright, 2011; Dougherty & Natow, 2019a). As Shore and Wright (2011) argue, steering at a distance leaves space in which opportunistic individuals can manipulate the state's resources behind the scenes to their personal benefit. Thus, when the university becomes a legal subject with full control over the use of its budget, processes are required to ensure the university is complying with the law and using its

funding as the state expects (Dougherty & Natow, 2019a)—to determine, for example, if the public funding provided for teaching and learning activities is being spent on those purposes or diverted to research to build the university's reputation. As I explain below through the concepts of steering assemblage and steering instruments, new control measures are therefore justified.

Steering assemblage refers to an array of steering instruments which the state uses to steer universities at a distance, instruments such as performance-based funding, performance management, and auditing (Ørberg & Wright, 2019). The important characteristic of a steering assemblage is that it comprises governing techniques that are not carried out separately or independently; they interact with each other. An assemblage of steering instruments can also be referred to as an accountability system or a steering system (Shaw, 2018; Lane & Kivistö, 2008). The advantage of a steering assemblage is that it articulates governing techniques around one coherent logic, such as the university's performance, to create a new university identity in society and in the knowledge economy. In addition, a steering assemblage allows for contingency and variation in the use of steering instruments when they are applied in different contexts. Such variation helps to explain why my findings on accountability measures in Vietnam are different from the measures used in other states or that are envisioned in the law. In the following sections, I elaborate on how three steering instruments—performance-based funding, performance management, and auditing—are articulated in an assemblage to steer a university from a distance.

Performance-Based Funding. One of the most widespread accountability measures being applied to steer independently governed universities is performance-based funding.

According to Burke and Henrik (2003), a performance-based funding allocation system ties state funding directly to the university's performance as measured by specific output indicators such as student retention rates, graduation rates, and number of publications. A distinct characteristic

of this steering instrument is its emphasis on outputs (Shin, 2010) as, for example, when a funding agreement is applied to improve education quality by offering one standard payment per student who passes the final exam. The student's performance is directly linked to the university's budget. Such a funding allocation approach is a calculative technique that makes a significant amount of the governmental budget dependent on student completion rates. It holds the university accountable for its teaching commitment and education quality through the evidence of student performance (Dougherty & Natow, 2019b). Performance-based funding, therefore, has become a popular means for distributing the state's budget, a means through which the state can achieve goals using specific indicators.

By allocating funding based on teaching outcomes, the state can steer the university from a distance. On the one hand, the state can shape the university's teaching profile through financial incentives and steer the university towards optimizing its teaching performance. If the university wants to secure more budget, it needs to invest more time and energy in teaching activities and improve student completion rates. The university, on the other hand, is governed at a distance because its teaching activities are not daily monitored, and its institutional decision-making authority has increased. Specifically, while the leaders have freedom to decide how to use funding and plan their activities, academics have more freedom to apply initiatives to improve teaching quality. Performance-based funding, therefore, is believed to improve higher education outcomes.

Despite being widely applied as an accountability measure, funding based on performance is not without its critics. One of its shortfalls is a simplistic reliance on output indicators that prioritize quantity instead of quality, a focus that might encourage universities to manipulate the numbers to meet funding criteria (Nisar, 2015). Sometimes, performance indicators are too generic to bring about diversification in research and teaching portfolios among institutions (Huisman,

2018). Spooner (2021) argues that an ugly side of performance-based funding is a perverse incentivization of competition between higher education institutions rather than collaboration.

These critiques notwithstanding, a move towards performance-based funding as an accountability concept seems to be gaining ground and becoming a universal steering mechanism.

Performance Management. Another instrument a state uses to steer universities is performance management, often manifested in the form of performance contracts. In this governing technique, the state specifies performance targets and indicators to measure expected outcomes as defined in a contract that both the state and university sign (Drewry et al., 2005). Performance management is a tool through which the ministry indicates its expectations, makes decisions on resource allocation, and holds the university accountable (Pollitt & Talbot, 2004; Verhoest et al., 2012). Performance management represents changes in the governance of higher education sector which include the delegation of decision-making authority from the state to the university and a shift in control from *ex-ante* control to *ex-post* control through performance-based accountability (Enders et al, 2013). For example, in the Netherlands, a public university signs a performance contract with the ministry specifying what it will do to improve teaching quality and institutional profile (Huisman, 2018). The Dutch higher education sector has thus become a continental European front runner in reform aimed at improving university performance.

In Denmark, a self-owned university signs a development contract with the ministry to indicate performance targets and how it will achieve them over the coming years. On the one hand, the contract is a means for the university to empower leadership capacity and boost its performance (Krejsler, 2019a). It provides space for leaders to discuss the university's development strategies with the ministry and for the voices on both sides to be included, albeit with unequal power.

University leaders have freedom in the sense that they are given power to make strategic decisions

and choose approaches to meet performance targets. On the other hand, the contractual relationship provides the ministry with an instrument to steer the university at a distance via commitments stated in the contract (Rizvi & Lingard, 2010; Carney, 2019). Performance management, therefore, has become a political technology that holds the institution accountable to the ministry.

Overall, under the form of a contract, performance management has been used as an effective strategy for governmental steering at a distance. Although both university leaders and the state are in a dialogue to discuss performance targets, the state holds ultimate power in defining the goals which then become the evidence the state needs to steer the university. In Vietnam, a performance contract looks like Decision 6600, a contract about reforming the governing mechanism of a Vietnamese public university (the university I selected as a case study in the present study) that was approved and signed by the Prime Minister. (To preserve the privacy of the Vietnamese public university, the number of this policy document has been changed.) The policy document specifies the Vietnamese public university's rights and financial responsibilities, and the accountability measures to which it is subject to in exchange for autonomy. The performance contract in the Netherlands, the development contract in Denmark, and Decision 6600 in Vietnam all point to the universal instrument of performance management which the state applies to steer autonomous universities.

Auditing Culture. Together with performance-based funding and performance management, auditing is increasingly employed as a control mechanism to check on whether a university is achieving performance indicators, complying with the law, and using state funding as expected. This is the audit culture that has arisen with neoliberalism and New Public Management (Shore, 2008; Shore & Wright, 1999; Spooner, 2020). Deriving legitimacy from its claims to enhance transparency and accountability, audit culture describes a system that subjects

individual performance to audit by external experts (Welch, 2016b). In higher education, this means core areas such as teaching and research are routinely checked by the state. In addition, the level of government intervention in how research should be done and in what should be taught is rising (Blackmore, 2010). Consequently, the regime of audit has come to be perceived as a new form of power (Strathern, 2000) and is criticized for creating tensions with a university's autonomy. Shore and Wright (1999), for example, argue that audit signals a new form of coercive and authoritarian control; although it is typically framed in terms of empowerment and quality, the defining of performance targets for auditing is not objective because the state holds utmost power. Indeed, the government is reshaping the university in its own image by indicating its priorities in performance contracts that it checks through auditing (Shore & Wright, 2015). Furthermore, auditing culture is criticized as illiberal governance in which universities are held accountable politically to the state (Shore, 2008). Despite these negative effects, auditing continues to be used as an instrument for state steering.

In summary, performance-based funding, performance management, and auditing culture are an articulated assemblage designed to steer a university from a distance. These steering instruments have been organized around a coherent logic—a focus on university performance. While performance-based funding ties funding to performance, performance management specifies targets and indicators in a contract which serves as the base for an audit of achievement of indicators, of compliance with the law, and of the use of state funding. An auditing regime, however, can work in a way that does not violate the university's autonomy. If it follows up on performance targets set out in the contract, the state can help the university improve its performance by making recommendations on what needs to be changed and how. In this way, the state can perform a supervision role, as might be more appropriate for university governance

in neoliberal times, rather than control. Yet, auditing is usually performed in a way that permits ministry intervention—because of suspicion on the ministry's part that the university will not comply with the law in performing its activities or spend its budget according to the state's purposes. In this way, steering at a distance might hold an institution even more tightly accountable to the state and fail to achieve its full purpose of improving university performance. Steering at a distance, therefore, has recreated a control relationship between the state and the university which is much more intense than previous relationships.

## Self-Responsibility

Steering at a distance signals a move towards not only more institutional autonomy but also self-responsibility for public universities (Kickert, 1995). The concept of self-responsibility means that the university is responsible for its own performance and financial sources, despite any cutoff in the state's budget. Self-responsibility refers to Foucault's technology of the self that Yokoyama (2008) identified in Japan where higher education institutions are situated as autonomous, self-reliant, responsible, risk-managing, and performance-focused subjects in a neoliberal context. Self-responsibility is a form of governance in which the spotlight is on individuals and institutions, which are expected to self-manage daily activities through their own self-defining capacity (Shore & Wright, 2011). In Japan, the technology of the self has brought about a shift in financial responsibility and risk management from the ministry to national universities, making institutions self-reliant and responsible subjects.

Drawing on the Danish context, Wright (2019d) indicates that "in the new form of governance, government set the parameters for change and outsources to universities the responsibility for planning and performing them" (p. 311). Wright points out that self-owning institutions are handed responsibility for planning and setting parameters for change, that is, for

meeting the government's policy aims through fulfilling performance targets set out in the development contract. This gives the university responsibility for its own performance; in order to secure state funding based on student completion rates, for example, it must achieve output indicators set out in the development contract. Responsibility for achieving the state's policy is passed down through a chain of contracts, from the state to the ministries and from the ministry to the university's governing board, then to the rector, deans, and individual academics. The model of a continuous chain of contracts seems neat because all is tied to the state's policy aims. While responsibility is passing downward to independent organizations through development contracts, however, each university leader is upwardly accountable to the government for the university's performance and efficient use of resources.

Wright and Ørberg (2008) emphasize that, despite contracts and state funding based on performance, "universities will still be independent and free, in the sense that they alone are responsible for responding to any reduction in the Ministry's performance payments by finding their ways to cut the costs of their operations and avoid bankruptcy" (p. 49). This means universities are autonomous in the sense that they are responsible for their own financial sources if there is any shortfall in the budget the ministry provides. This is the idea of self-responsibility for finance that Yokoyama (2008) described in Japanese universities. As Wright and Ørberg note, "Universities, their leaders, and academics are given freedom in the sense of individual responsibility for their own economic survival, while the sector comes under heavy political control. This is called setting universities free" (p. 53). University leaders are responsible for finding their own ways to reduce operating costs and avoid bankruptcy, and even for finding ways to diversify their funding sources.

In summary, in this section I have presented the working mechanism of steering at a distance. In this governance model, the university is set free and given decision-making authority to become a strategic actor in the market. Yet, steering technologies set out in the law—performance-based funding, performance management, and auditing—form an articulated assemblage which is used to steer the university towards the state's goals. The state also hands over responsibility for performance and financial sources to the university. This top-down form of governance, however, is far from the whole story. Wright (2019b), for example, noting that it is obvious how steering instruments are intended to work, wonders what will happen in practice. In other words, although the control system is clearly designed to recognize the university as an independent subject and as the object of the state's steering at a distance, it does not mean the university will enact the state's vision in the way the state expects. As I outline in the next section, a range of other actors with different perspectives react to top-down changes and enact policies in their own ways. Using theoretical concepts of enactment such as contestation, partial vision, and articulation, I explain what is happening when other actors implement the policy from bottom up.

## **Enactment of Steering at a Distance: A Process of Contestation on Autonomy and Control**

In order to include different perspectives of many actors involved in policy implementation, state steering theory employs a double take approach and two meanings of enactment: top-down versus bottom-up (Wright, 2019b). The enactment of steering at a distance as a new mode of governance is conceptualized as a process that involves contesting the meanings of key concepts such as autonomy. Contestation involves not just policy makers with a top-down vision of enactment but also many other actors such as university leaders and academics who implement the policy from the bottom up. In that process, all actors can use their voices to help create the university, albeit with unequal power.

Keywords such as autonomy and freedom are essentially contested concepts, which means they have no final or closed meaning (Gallie, 1956). No ultimate definition exists for autonomy; instead, through a history of contestation, the concept has accumulated a variety of meanings. During the process of contestation, actors invert, shift, and stretch existing meanings, draw on and reshape old meanings, and propose new ones (Williams, 1976). Sometimes, core concepts are contested over long periods of time until a moment of enactment occurs and a new meaning becomes dominant and translated into new institutional practices. Even when a meaning becomes hegemonic, earlier meanings seldom disappear and new meanings can be unsettled and replaced by still newer ones. Usually, multiple contradictory meanings of key concepts are kept in play. The meaning of autonomy in Denmark, for example, is contested, and ministries and university leaders have contrary understandings (Wright & Ørberg, 2019). While the ministries claim they have set universities free, university leaders debate whether the autonomy policy can really be compatible with the state's tighter control over their activities. Their contestation reflects tensions between university autonomy and state control.

The concept of *partial vision* (Wright, 2019b) can help to explain contestation concerning the concept of autonomy. Partial vision refers to an actor's partial understanding. University leaders, academics, and policymakers contest the meaning of autonomy because they articulate the concept in different ways, each actor interpreting the concept from a partial and incomplete perspective, even though they all believe their perspectives are whole. Partial visions become problematic when a state implements a top-down approach to policy enactment and imposes the perspectives of policymakers without considering the different perspectives of other relevant actors. What, then, happens when the top-down and bottom-up enactment of governance meet? The concept of *articulation* (Ørberg & Wright, 2019) works as an important bridge here,

combining the expression of a state's top-down vision for the university with the vision of other actors working from the bottom up. As a result, the university's transformation is not treated as *a priori* process with fixed regulations in the laws but as a process of continual organization around contested concepts and negotiation amongst actors.

#### Critique of State Steering Theory and Theoretical Framework

Within an interpretivist perspective, state steering theory helps explain the complexities of autonomy in Vietnam's higher education system. As I have suggested, the theory employs a double take approach that includes the perspectives of all potential actors involved in the policy (Shore & Wright, 2011). The actors are not just the policymakers who implement the law in a top-down, authoritative fashion; they are also the university leaders and academics who enact the policy from the bottom up. The double take approach means everyone can contribute their voices to shaping and enacting change, although the power they have is not evenly distributed. By mapping the presence of multiple people and organizations, all trying to contest the policy problem, state steering theory helps to analyze what is going on. State steering theory, therefore, helps to inform my view of the phenomenon under examination—that is, that steering from a distance sets up particular kinds of relations between the state and higher education institutions that are not wrong but that have political, economic, and social consequences, including reactions from other actors to top-down changes.

As I note in my problem statement, actors in Vietnam are confused about the meaning of autonomy because institutional autonomy has been used in a somewhat misleading way to refer to a new control model. By using the notion of steering at a distance, I can make visible the working mechanism of a governance model in a simpler way so that actors may acquire a more informed understanding of policy and respond in ways that align with the state's aims in enacting

the policy. Steering at a distance also indicates an act of governance that involves the intelligence of the manager; it is not simply a control model that concepts such as the technology of governance and political technology signal. Technology of governance evokes commercialization and the concept of political technology reveals that the state's political aims are embedded in instruments for steering universities. While the nature of steering at a distance is ultimately a model for state control, the words evoke gentleness, and that can make university leaders feel they have some autonomy even though they are being controlled more tightly than before.

## **Chapter 4**

## Methodology

In this chapter, I present the research design for a qualitative case study. Specifically, I provide justification for the selection of the design, the bounded system of the case, and the unit of analysis, and describe the Vietnamese institution about which I collected data. I detail my methods of accessing the policy documents and conducting the interviews that comprise my data. I also describe my two methods of data analysis, thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis. Finally, I describe the procedures I adopted to increase trustworthiness of this study, address ethical issues, and identify potential limitations of my methodology.

#### Interpretivist Paradigm, Ontological, and Epistemological Assumptions

This qualitative case study is situated within an interpretivist paradigm. As the study focuses on an understanding of a concept (institutional autonomy), the findings almost inevitably rest on how actors make sense of the world (Löfgren et al., 2018). I have, therefore, adopted an interpretivist paradigm that searches for understanding within the participants' frames of reference and within the realm of individual consciousness and subjectivity (rather than from the perspective of an observer of action) (Burrell & Morgan, 1979). The ontological assumption that grounds this project is nominalist, a view which holds that objects of thought are merely words that have no independent existence but that are dependent on the knower (Cohen et al., 2011). The epistemological assumption underlying the study is anti-positivist (Burrell & Morgan, 1979), a view that the social world is essentially relativistic and can only be comprehended from the perspective of people directly involved in the phenomenon being investigated.

The goal of a study situated within an interpretivist paradigm is to rely as much as possible on the participants' views of the situation (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Such a goal is

consistent with the goal of the present study—to gain an in-depth understanding of institutional autonomy in a Vietnamese public university from the perspectives of the leaders. To gain an understanding of the historical, cultural, and political settings of the university, the study focuses on the specific context in which the leaders live and work. The leaders' own backgrounds shape their interpretations, and they acknowledge that their interpretations of the phenomenon of institutional autonomy flow from their own personal, cultural, and historical experiences.

# A Qualitative Case Study Methodology

According to Mackenzie and Knipe (2006), "It is the paradigm and research question which should determine which data collection and analysis methods will be most appropriate for a study" (p. 5). Within an interpretivist paradigm, a qualitative instrumental case-study design is most appropriate. A qualitative case study permits investigation of a contemporary phenomenon within the real-life context (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) in which the behavior of those involved in the study cannot be controlled (Yin, 2003). As Yin (2014) suggests, the case study is a design particularly suited to situations in which it is impossible to separate the phenomenon from its context—and in the present study, it is impossible to separate institutional autonomy not only from Vietnam's national histories, cultures, and politics but also from local universities' history, culture, and politics. Given the historical, cultural, and political context of the higher education system in Vietnam, which is characterized by a strongly centralized governance system, a high power-distant culture, and the unified leadership of the Communist Party, a qualitative case study methodology becomes most appropriate for the exploration of institutional autonomy. Indeed, it has been employed in investigations of the concept of institutional autonomy in different educational jurisdictions around the world (Yang et al., 2007; Ordorika, 2003; Enders et al., 2013; Taira, 2004; Yokoyama, 2007, 2008, 2011; Vo, 2018).

#### Single Instrumental Case Study

Yin (2014) suggests that case study is most appropriate for investigations of *how* and *what* questions, the kinds of questions asked in the present study, which can be more specifically identified as an instrumental case study because its intent is to understand a specific issue or problem (Creswell & Poth, 2018). An instrumental case study is adopted when researchers have "a research question, a puzzlement, a need for general understanding, and feel that we may get insight into the question by studying a particular case" (Stake, 1995, p. 3). Given that the intent of my case study is to go deeply into the case to understand a specific problem—a specific puzzlement: the meaning of institutional autonomy in Vietnamese higher education—a single instrumental case study is an appropriate design.

# **Bounded System of Case Study**

An essential feature of a case study is that the phenomenon under investigation is intrinsically bounded; otherwise, it does not qualify as a case (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In the present study, therefore, institutional autonomy was explored from the viewpoints of those individuals working within the bounded system of one Vietnamese public university. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) suggest that one way to evaluate the bounded system is to ask "how finite the data collection would be" (p. 39), that is, to ask about the planned number of participants. I discuss this issue further in the section on data collection where I specify the number of participants in this study.

#### Unit of Analysis

The unit of analysis—the case to be studied (Yin, 2014)—which can be an entire system or one institution, is selected based on typicality, uniqueness, or success (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The unit of analysis in earlier studies that explored the concept of institutional autonomy

was either the entire higher education system or an entire group of institutions. For example, the unit of analysis in studies by Enders et al. (2013) and Yokoyama (2007, 2008) was the whole higher education system in the Netherlands and Japan, respectively. Harman's (1978) case study included the whole system of Australian colleges of advanced education. Taira (2004) adopted a single state in America as a case in which to discover how stakeholders perceive the concept of institutional autonomy. Most studies of institutional autonomy, however, focus on particular public universities as the unit of analysis for study. Yang et al. (2007), for example, selected two public universities representing the two most common types of public universities in China—one national and one provincial—to shed light on autonomy at Chinese universities. The case in Ordorika's (2003) study was the flagship university of Mexico's public higher education system. Following these scholars (Yang et al., 2007; Ordorika, 2003), I have selected for the present case study a single institution which I call University A.

Yang et al. (2007) and Ordorika (2003) selected their cases based on typicality and uniqueness—a national university, a provincial university, and a flagship of the public higher education system. Their sampling method is known as purposeful sampling. Because the purpose of their studies was to explore, understand, and gain insights about a phenomenon, cases had to be selected from which much could be learned (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Patton (2015) argues that:

The logic and the power of qualitative purposeful sampling derives from the emphasis on in-depth understanding of specific information-rich cases, from which one can learn a great deal about issues of central importance to the purpose of inquiry, thus the term purposeful sampling. (p. 53)

Thus, I purposefully chose University A based on typicality, uniqueness, and success—which I explain further in the next section.

# Description of the Case Study

I purposefully selected University A for the present study on the basis of its typicality, uniqueness, and success (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). University A is typical and unique for several reasons. It was one of the first ten public universities in Vietnam to be granted autonomy by the Vietnamese government in 2014 (World Bank, 2015). After five years of implementing the autonomy policy, and after many achievements in teaching and research activities, University A was one of the key public universities in Vietnam to be granted further autonomy in 2019. The process of implementing the autonomy policy at University A over the years from 2015 to 2019 has informed the modification of many crucial parts of the latest version of Vietnam's Higher Education Law. Having been granted the privilege and authority to make many decisions, the university has set precedents in the power negotiation process with the government and ministries.

In addition, University A has other characteristics that make it an important case to be studied. It is one of fourteen national key public universities in Vietnam and fully self-financing in terms of its operating and investing expenses. Although as it implements the autonomy policy, University A is still under the direct control of the MOET, which has definitely caused challenges for the university in terms of exercising its delegated decision-making authority, the university has stood out as a successful case of negotiating autonomy with the ministries. As an instrumental case study, then, University A is likely to prove information-rich and lead to discoveries and insights about the principles and mechanisms of institutional autonomy. It will showcase an exemplar of successful reform towards a new governance model that might lead the way for other Vietnamese public universities. As an attempt to explore the meaning, values, beliefs, and concerns held by participants about autonomy in a Vietnamese context, this

instrumental case study of University A may provide further lessons for policymakers and other university leaders about implementing the policy.

Another reason for selecting University A is that it is relevant to the theoretical framework and conceptual framework of the present study (Yin, 2014). University A is located in a region that demonstrates the most dynamic economic development in the country and university leaders there are more open to reform (and innovative policies such as autonomy) and are more flexible than leaders in other areas of the country. In other words, neoliberal trends are observable there. This is why University A has successfully implemented the autonomy policy and used its decision-making authority to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of its performance. In brief, I selected University A as my single case study because its particularity and characteristics are relevant to a framework for institutional autonomy that draws on state steering theory, the theoretical framework I adopted for this study.

#### **Data Collection**

Data for the present study were collected from policy documents on institutional autonomy and accountability released by the Vietnamese government; semi-structured interviews with seventeen senior leaders at one Vietnamese public university; and documents internal to the university that concern the university's implementation of autonomy policy.

#### **Documents**

The initial source of data for the present study comprises official documents concerning the autonomy policy. My first step was to conduct a systematic search for documents relevant to this topic of inquiry (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), documents that might be important in constructing the object of my analysis and the focus of my study, the institutional autonomy of Vietnamese public universities. I employed a purposeful method of text selection to capture the

most important documents containing information relevant to the research question. My inclusion criteria were designed to select official policy documents on autonomy and accountability released by the Vietnamese government as well as documents internal to University A concerning the implementation of the autonomy policy. Most of the policy texts written by government agencies were referenced in prior studies of the autonomy policy, in other policy documents, or in coverage of the policy in media such as national newspapers.

I assessed the authenticity of the documents by verifying the author, place, and date of release (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) and reviewed them for background context prior to conducting interviews with participants (Yanow, 2000). After my preliminary review of documents and after my interviews with participants, I created a more selected list of policy texts for closer analysis. Some of the texts I had initially selected were excluded because the information they contained was irrelevant to the case of University A, but other texts were added based on the recommendation of participants, two of whom were working on the ministerial project on autonomy or as a policy advisor for the Vietnamese government. Most of the texts suggested by participants were internal university documents such as exchanges between University A's Rector and the ministries. This refining process helped me to select policies closely connected to the focus of my study and containing local knowledge.

One group of documents analyzed in the present study includes official policy documents on institutional autonomy and the accountability of Vietnamese higher education institutions, document released by government agencies between 1993, when the Vietnamese government first began to delegate autonomy to public universities, and 2019. These documents provide primary data and comprise most of the documents I collected for this study (see Appendix C for a list). They were produced by government agencies such as the Central Government, the National

Assembly, the Prime Minister, the Ministry of Finance, the MOET, and the Central Committee of Vietnam's Communist Party, and are available on the Vietnamese government's official website.

The three most important policies in this group of government documents are the Higher Education Reform Agenda (Central Government, 2005), the Revised Higher Education Law (2018), and Resolution 77 (Prime Minister, 2014b). The Revived Higher Education Law (2018) is referenced in recent studies of Vietnamese university governance reform (Le et al., 2019; Dao & Hayden, 2019) and was mentioned by participants in the present study as the most recent and comprehensive version covering the most important aspects of autonomy policy. In reporting my findings, I analyze and cite extensively the content of these crucial documents. This group of government documents also includes secondary sources of data such as the MOET's Evaluation Report on the implementation of autonomy policy in Vietnam (MOET, 2017) and the World Bank's Report on governance reform in Vietnam's higher education sector (World Bank, 2017). Some media coverage of the autonomy policy is included but, to ensure it is reliable, only that which is available on the government's website or in national newspapers.

A second group of documents analyzed in the present study comprises documents internal to University A that concern the university's implementation of autonomy policy. These are institutional documents, issued either by government agencies or from within the university itself. This group of documents includes documents that were exchanged between University A and the ministries during the policy negotiation and implementation process. I also include secondary sources of data such as Technical Report of University A, documents provided by participants, and media coverage of University A from the university's website and prestigious national newspapers. To protect the confidentiality of University A, I do not provide a list of their internal documents.

It is to be expected that the content concerning autonomy within documents from University A might be different from the content of similar documents from other public universities. While Resolution 77 enacted by the Prime Minister regulates the autonomy of Vietnamese public universities in general, Decision 6600 legally recognizes the individual autonomous status of University A, and that resolution's provisions, such as level of decision-making authority, is tailored specifically to University A—because, as specified in the Higher Education Law, the level of autonomy of a public university is determined by that individual university's accreditation status.

#### Interviews

A second source of data for the present study is a set of semi-structured interviews with senior leaders at University A. DeMarrais (2004) defines a research interview as a process in which a researcher and participant engage in a conversation focused on the questions related to a study. Of three types of interviews—highly structured, semi-structured, and unstructured—the semi-structured interview is the most popular method of data collection. A semi-structured interview involves a mix of more and less structured interview questions (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), but those questions have no predetermined wording or order, which allows the researcher to respond to the situation at hand, to a participant's emerging viewpoint, and to new opinions and arguments on the topic. Semi-structured interviews have been used as the main data collection method in prior case studies (Yang et al., 2007; Ordorika, 2003; Taira, 2004) exploring the concept of institutional autonomy.

Data in this study were collected through semi-structured interviews with seventeen senior leaders at University A. I used a purposeful sampling method to select leaders and used email and telephone to contact and invite them to participate in my research. I was looking for information-

rich senior leaders who, since 2015, the year in which University A was officially granted its autonomous status, had had at least one year of experience in a leadership position there. These inclusion criteria would, I hoped, guarantee the selection of participants who had a thorough understanding of the implementation of autonomy policy at University A. I also aimed to recruit participants from different departments, offices, and administrative levels in the university's organizational structure to sample different voices and perspectives on the issue under study.

As shown in Table 1, participants in the present study included one Rector, one Vice-Rector, eight Deans, and one Deputy Dean representing nine departments, and four Heads and two Deputy Heads representing six offices. These participants included members of the senior administration board and the University Council. The diverse leadership positions in the university's governance structure allowed me to sample and explore different communities of meaning on autonomy.

**Table 1**Leadership Position of Participants

Rector	Vice-Rector	Dean	Deputy Dean	Head	Deputy Head
1	1	8	1	4	2

These seventeen participants included fifteen male and two female leaders, with male senior leaders overrepresented at 88.24% and female senior leaders at 11.76%. Participants' levels of education ranged from baccalaureate to doctoral degrees. As shown in Table 2, thirteen participants had doctoral degrees—one who had been promoted to the rank of professor and six who had been promoted to the rank of associate professor. One participant reported a bachelor's degree and three participants reported a master's degree as their highest level of formal education.

 Table 2

 Participants' Level of Education/Academic Title

Professor with Doctorate	Associate Professor with Doctorate	Doctorate	Masters	BA
1	6	6	3	1

All participants reported more than one year of experience in leadership positions at University A since the university had implemented autonomy policy. Several key participants had many years of work experience on the autonomy policy in the role of policy advisor to the Vietnamese government or principal investigator for the ministerial project which informed the modification of the Higher Education Law. One participant had overseen the design and implementation of autonomy policy at University A since 2011. She had been invited by the Vietnamese ministries and by national television to share her experiences of implementing autonomy policy at this leading Vietnamese university. Another key participant was the Dean of one of the first international schools in Vietnam to successfully incorporate the autonomy policy. These key participants provided significant information and insights on the autonomy policy in Vietnamese higher education.

I prepared an interview guide but I allowed the participants to steer our discussions and I permitted my conversations to deviate from the guide. (See Appendix A for the interview guide and questions.) I conducted all interviews in person at participants' offices on the main campus of University A, in Vietnamese and tape-recorded if participants agreed. I then transcribed them and translated them into English. Ten participants consented to my recording their interviews. For the seven participants who declined to be recorded, I wrote notes immediately following our conversations and prepared from memory a transcript. To protect participants' identity, I assigned each a unique ID code such as A01 and B01. With a finite number of participants

identified at University A, the present study fulfills the boundary requirement of a qualitative instrumental case study.

### **Data Analysis**

The data set for this study includes the government's policy documents, transcribed interviews, and University A's internal policy documents—all of which were subject to thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis in a search for insights about the meaning of autonomy. In the following sections, I present the steps in data analysis separately for clarity. In practice, my data collection and analysis processes were intertwined; data analysis was in fact an iterative process of overlapping steps.

# Thematic Analysis

I used thematic analysis to identify the meaning of institutional autonomy. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), "All qualitative data analysis is inductive and comparative in the service of developing common themes or patterns or categories that cut cross the data" (p. 297). Through inductive coding methods, themes emerge from data through inductive reasoning (Maykut & Morehouse, 1994). Braun and Clarke (2006) emphasize that the researcher codes data without trying to fit it into a pre-existing framework. Thus, thematic analysis is data-driven, with themes being induced from data.

Braun and Clarke (2006) also note, however, that researchers cannot free themselves from their theoretical commitments, and data are not coded in an epistemological vacuum. My formulation of interview questions and method of data coding were, therefore, unavoidably guided by my theoretical framework (state steering theory). My thematic analysis also followed a deductive logic of inquiry which tended to be driven by my theoretical lens. Overall, data analysis in the present study was followed by an abductive logic of inquiry in which I

simultaneously puzzled over empirical materials and theoretical literature (Schwartz-Shea & Yanow, 2012). Themes emerged as a combination of inductive and deductive thematic analysis, a back-and-forth movement between inductive and deductive reasoning (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

I followed the process of thematic coding recommended by Merriam and Tisdell (2016). This process includes open coding—assigning codes to pieces of data—and axial coding—grouping open codes into categories or themes, a process I repeated until I had derived a set of findings. I applied six steps for creating the codes: (1) familiarizing myself with the data, (2) generating initial codes, (3) searching for themes, (4) reviewing themes, (5) defining and naming themes, and (6) producing a report as suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006). I used NVivo, a qualitative data analysis software program, to facilitate my data management and data analysis because, as Creswell & Poth (2018) indicate, qualitative data analysis is a complex and time-consuming process. Three main themes emerged about the meaning of autonomy: (1) institutional autonomy is the right of a public university to make its own decisions; (2) institutional autonomy means a university is accountable for its decision-making; (3) institutional autonomy means a university is responsible for its decisions and finances.

# Interpretive Policy Analysis

Aligning with the interpretivist paradigm in which this study is situated, I employed interpretive policy analysis to my data. Interpretive policy analysis is an approach to making sense of public policies that is built on the ontology and epistemology derived from interpretive philosophy (Yanow, 2007). Its central characteristic is its focus on meaning as situation-specific and highly contextualized. Specifically, interpretive policy analysis focuses on the language and artifacts used in policy documents and debates to understand what is meaningful to those

involved in the policy. According to Yanow (2000), *policy artifacts* are useful as they can be significant carriers of the policy meaning. The policy artifact carries and communicates different meaning held by different people. Specific artifacts are policy objects and metaphors. *Policy objects* are symbolic language used by actors to convey their understanding of policy concepts. For example, participants in my study use the policy object of tuition to communicate their understanding of autonomy. *Metaphor* is defined as the juxtaposition of two different elements in a single context to transfer meaning from a better-known element to a lesser-known element (Yanow, 2000). For example, a Vietnamese public university is referred to as *a bird locked in a cage* to indicate that the university has no freedom.

Yanow (2007) emphasizes that interpretive policy analysis focuses on figuring out policy artifacts, interpretive communities, and communities of meaning. *Interpretive communities* refer to the people that create, use, and do the interpretation of policy objects and metaphors.

Communities of meaning refer to the meaning themselves being communicated through the policy artifacts. I followed the steps Yanow (2000) recommends: I first identified policy artifacts, including policy objects and metaphors, relevant to the institutional autonomy policy. I then identified the interpretive communities that created or interpreted those policy objects and metaphors and, as a third step, identified the various communities of meaning that were communicated through the artifacts. In the fourth step, I looked for points of conflict amongst different communities of meaning as well as different ways of seeing—different ways of framing that derived from different experiences and backgrounds of interpretive communities. Each frame entailed not only a construction of the autonomy policy but also an anticipation of appropriate governmental actions, which I identified in the final step by identifying the implications of different meanings for policy formulation, interventions, and actions.

Using the steps just outlined, I analyzed four policy objects (tuition fees, program of study, textbook, and recruitment of foreign scholars) and three metaphors (*a bird locked in a cage, a Vietnamese parent-children relationship*, and the saying that *when the cat is away, the mice will play*). These policy objects and metaphors were used by university leaders to articulate their interpretation of policy concepts on autonomy. In my analysis of metaphors, I explain the literal meaning of the metaphor, the symbolic meaning, and the value, belief, and feeling of the interpretive community that shares the metaphor. To map the architecture of meaning of autonomy, I accessed the local knowledge of university leaders through interviews and document analysis. My findings are presented in Chapter 7.

#### **Trustworthiness**

I used the following strategies to increase trustworthiness of the findings: triangulation, adequate engagement in data collection, reflexivity, member checking, and audit trail (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As Denzin suggests (1978, cited in Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), triangulation amongst multiple methods of data collection and multiple sources of data can be utilized to confirm emerging findings. I used two methods to collect data—interviews and documents—and checked interview data against what was written in policy documents for both consistency and possible points of difference between legislation and practice (Cohen et al., 2011). I compared and cross-checked interview data collected from participants working in different departments, offices, and administrative levels of University A's organizational structure to identify different perspectives on the autonomy policy. These triangulations are a powerful strategy that increases the internal validity and credibility of the present study.

I used adequate engagement in data collection as a second strategy to increase the rigor of findings. I tried to get as close as possible to the local knowledge of participants and identify

what was meaningful to them concerning the autonomy policy. I determined the number of university leaders that needed to be interviewed based on the notion of saturation—the point during the interviews at which I began to hear the same information over again and knew that no new data would surface even if I conducted more interviews. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) suggest that sufficient time spent collecting data should be combined with a purposeful search for variation in the understandings of the phenomenon. Patton (2015) also notes that trustworthiness and rigor in qualitative study partially hinges on the researcher's integrity, which can be tested by searching for data that supports different explanations. Indeed, I looked for different communities of meaning, for variation in participants' understandings of policy concepts, and for contradictions and shared understandings articulated in the interviews. I also applied the strategy of discrepant case analysis (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) in which I looked for data that might disconfirm or challenge my expectations and emerging findings.

My third strategy for increasing trustworthiness is reflexivity. Qualitative research recognizes that a researcher's worldview and experiences can influence the conduct of a study, and that researchers must therefore clarify their positions and potential biases for their readers (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I used a journal to write memos about decisions I made during data collection, data analysis, and the writing of my findings. I describe my positionality in Chapter 1 so that readers of the present document can better understand why I chose the theoretical lens I use in this study and how I arrived at my particular methods for interpreting data.

I conducted a member checking procedure as a fourth method of ensuring trustworthiness. Also known as respondent validation, this procedure involves inviting participants to read and provide feedback on transcripts of their interviews. Before they were analyzed the raw data were returned to participants to be checked for accuracy and to determine if the contents still resonated

with their experience (Birt et al., 2016). Fifthly and finally, I used an audit trail to record all documentation used throughout the study.

#### **Ethics**

All ethical issues related to the execution of the present study—confidentiality requirements, the protection of information, preparation of letters of information and consent forms (see Appendix B), the right of participants to withdraw, and so on—were carefully attended to throughout the study which had been reviewed and approved by Western University's Research Ethics Board before data collection began. No unforeseen risks existed for participants in this study, even though it was anticipated that they might experience discomfort about sharing their viewpoints on autonomy. Participants' identities were treated as confidential and all data collected were used for research purposes only. I conducted all interviews in Vietnamese, recorded them, and translated them into English. Transcripts, records, consent forms, and other data were securely stored in my private residence in a locked filing cabinet and will be destroyed seven years after completion of the study.

All the data collected is considered strictly confidential. To ensure privacy and confidentiality, unique ID codes and pseudonyms are used for all participants and for the university that is the subject of the case study. All research participants were provided with copies of the transcription of their interviews so they could verify them for accuracy and make changes if they wished to do so. Once translated into English, participants had no further opportunity to review transcription, although the final report, written in English, will be disseminated to participants who wish to receive a copy. Participants were required to read an information letter about the project, and sign and return a consent letter in order to confirm their participation. The

consent form indicated they were volunteering to participate in the study and that they were free to withdraw or terminate their participation at any time.

#### Limitations

The main weakness of a qualitative case study is that findings from a single case cannot be generalized to a larger population or to other cases (Cohen et al., 2011). The findings of the present study, therefore, are limited to the case of University A—one Vietnamese public university. As well, the research design is limited to data that can be collected from available policy documents and willing research participants. The accuracy of qualitative interview data is restricted to the knowledge and viewpoints of leaders from University A that, it must be acknowledged, might contain biases.

In conclusion, I have presented in the present chapter how I conducted this study. To explore the meaning of autonomy in the context of Vietnamese higher education, I adopted a qualitative instrumental case study of one Vietnamese public university. I used thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis to analyze data which include the Vietnamese government's policy documents, interviews with seventeen university leaders, and University A's internal documents. I also describe the procedures I adopted to increase trustworthiness of the findings, address ethical issues related to the execution of the present study, and identify limitations of a qualitative case study.

#### Chapter 5

# Governance of Higher Education in Vietnam: The Shift to Institutional Autonomy Policy

To understand a policy, one must consider its context. The Vietnamese institutional autonomy policy that I investigate in this study must, therefore, be situated within the historical, political, social, and cultural context of Vietnam. The purpose of the present chapter is to lay out the context in which autonomy policy has been enacted and thereby to facilitate an understanding of the tensions between decision-making authority and accountability which I will present in Chapter 6 and 7. The present chapter is structured in three parts. First, I describe the centralized governance system of higher education in Vietnam—its history, culture, politics, and weaknesses—in order to rationalize the shift to autonomy policy. I then trace the development of autonomy policy and its new governance structure, and I review the accountability measures implemented by the Vietnamese government over autonomous universities.

#### The Centralized Governance Model in Vietnam's Higher Education System

In this section, I describe the centralized governance system of higher education in Vietnam, with a focus on its weaknesses, to rationalize the shift to the implementation of autonomy policy. I first briefly outline the old centralized governance model with many levels of control, which is situated in its history, culture, and politics. I then explain the consequence of the centralized model in which the higher education system has been overwhelmed and the government has been under pressure to decentralize its governance system.

# An Old Centralized Governance Model with Many Levels of Control

The setting for the present study is Vietnam—a developing country in Southeast Asia. A centralized governance model adopted from Soviet-bloc countries has been embedded in Vietnam's higher education system since 1954 and continues to exert a strong impact (Harman et

al., 2010). Indeed, Vietnam is one of the few remaining former Soviet-bloc countries that, until recently, has been reluctant to grant autonomy to public higher education institutions (Dao & Hayden, 2010). The centralized model exerts three levels of control in Vietnam's higher education system.

At the highest level, the MOET plays a key role in the education system. The MOET has the power to regulate and approve curriculum frameworks for all training courses and programs including content, structures, number of subjects, and duration of training (Harman et al., 2010). The MOET also manages such important decisions as the number of staff, enrollments, tuition fees, and the appointment of Rectors. Furthermore, expenditure at institutional levels is subject to regulations distributed by the state and other related ministries such as the Ministry of Finance. Apparently, in Vietnam, state control is deeply institutionalized.

On another level, apart from the MOET, most Vietnamese higher education institutions are under line-ministry control—a characteristic of higher education systems in Soviet-bloc countries (Tran et al., 2017; Tran, 2014; Hayden & Lam, 2007). The University of Agriculture, for example, is under the governance of the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, and the University of Health is under the control of the Ministry of Health. Most countries arising out of the Soviet system have abolished this control mechanism—Hungary, for instance, removed it in 1993, and China made the same choice in 1998 (Harman et al., 2010)—but this ascendency instrument still exists in Vietnam and the line ministries continue to have strong voices in the decision-making process of higher education institutions through the provision of regulations, approvals, and funds.

A third level of control exists within each Vietnamese public university. This level comprises a Committee of the Communist Party, the duty of which is to maintain a socialist direction and Communist ideology, and to guarantee that all institutional activities are consistent

with Marxism, Leninism, and Ho Chi Minh's ideology (Dao, 2015). Resembling the situation in China, the colonizer of Vietnam for more than 1000 years, two power systems exist within a Vietnamese public university—an academic managerial structure and a Party system (Pan, 2006). While the former deals with teaching and research matters, the latter makes decisions on such affairs as the strategic plan, personnel appointment, and ideological direction. The Party Secretary leads the Party system, and the Rector leads the academic administrative system. In many higher education institutions, the Rector is also the Party Secretary with extensive authority (Tran, 2014; Tran et al., 2017). The Party Committee is always the leading force and has absolute power within a public university.

With these three layers of control in place, public universities do not have much room to use their own voices and make their own decisions. Most significantly, the effectiveness and efficiency of university performance are obstructed because any decision, small or big, requires approvals from many authorized ministries and individuals, a process that takes much time to complete. The highly centralized governance system is the result not only of the Vietnamese Communist Party's unified leadership (Hayden & Lam, 2007) but also of a culture in which power is distant and unevenly distributed.

# An Overwhelming Higher Education System under the Centralized Model

In 2018, Vietnam had 419 universities and colleges distributed in three regions—North, Central, and South—with different histories, cultures, and politics, and 2.2 million students, a significant number for a small, developing country in Asia (Hoang, 2018). The transition from elite to mass higher education has multiplied the number of universities and student enrolments since 2000 (World Bank, 2019). The centralized educational system has become too large and required excessive expenditures from the national budget. The financial burdens of the

centralized system, subsidized as it is by ministries which are responsible for any financial losses within public universities, are putting a lot of pressure on the government (Tran, 2014). In recent years, the quality of higher education is also a big challenge in Vietnam which by 2016 had an alarming number of unemployed graduates (160,0000) (Australian Government Department of Education and Training, 2016). As Dao and Hayden (2019) report, Vietnam's higher education sector has fallen behind and become incapable of meeting emerging social needs. As a consequence, the state is under pressure to decentralize its administrative system and transfer decision-making power to higher education institutions.

In summary, the outstanding problems—inefficiency of university performance, financial burdens, and poor higher education quality—indicate the weaknesses of the existing centralized education governance system in Vietnam and signify the need for a new model. Vietnam's government has realized the old administrative system is no longer appropriate in the new context of market-driven dynamics where public universities are taking new roles as key drivers in the knowledge economy. Remarkably, the last two decades of the twentieth century also witnessed the downfall of the Communist system which privileged a centralized mechanism. The Vietnamese government has, therefore, attempted to decentralize its governance system and enact autonomy policy, as a solution for the challenges it faces.

# The Shift to the Autonomy Policy in Vietnam's Higher Education System

In the following section I provide a review of key policy documents on autonomy and of the role of the University Council, a new official structure under the autonomous mechanism.

# The Development of Autonomy Policy in Vietnam's Higher Education System

With the implementation of the Innovation policy in 1986, Vietnam's centrally planned economy gave way to a socialist market economy. This move was intended to decentralize

administrative responsibilities and restructure the education system in order to link education to economic development—the key message in recent higher education policies (Madden, 2014). Since 1993, the Vietnamese government has released many policy documents focused on giving autonomy to public universities.

The specific concept of "institutional autonomy" of higher education institutions in Vietnam was used for the first time, in Resolution 04-NQ/HNTW, dated January 14th, 1993. This was an important legal document ratified by the Communist Party of Vietnam that mentioned the need to "increase institutional autonomy of higher education institutions" (Central Committee of Vietnam's Communist Party, 1993, p. 5). However, no further detail was provided about the meaning of autonomy, or the kind or degree of autonomy that a public university was to be given. Also, in 1993, the Prime Minister released Decree 90 to clearly signal that Vietnam's higher education system would significantly depart from the centralized model (Le et al., 2019).

The most significant effort to decentralize the whole higher education system and delegate decision-making power to public universities was made in 2005 with the promulgation by the Central Government of the Education Law and the Higher Education Reform Agenda. In particular, Article 14 of Education Law (2005) provided that "the state will decentralize the educational management system, [and] strengthen autonomy and self-responsibility of educational institutions" (p. 5). Dao (2009) argued that with this statement, the state indicated its strong support for the autonomy of public universities. However, the statement was criticized as ambiguous and conflicting with another statement in the Education Law (2005) which said that "the state centrally manages the national education system in terms of objectives, programs, curriculums, education plans, teachers' standards, examination regulations, degrees, certificates, and the educational quality" (p. 5).

The Higher Education Reform Agenda (Central Government, 2005) was adopted by the government as a fundamental and comprehensive renovation of Vietnam's higher education system during the 2006–2020 period. Specifically, the Higher Education Reform Agenda indicated the government's attempt at and commitment to decentralization by "switching public higher education institutions to operate under the autonomous mechanism whereby they shall have the full legal entity; have the right to decide on and bear responsibility for training, research, organization, human resource management, and finance" (p. 6). These provisions, if fully implemented, would have resulted in a significant transfer of authority from the state to public universities (Dao, 2009). In particular, the government declared that one of its most important tasks was "abolishing the mechanism of line-ministry control over public universities" (Central Government, 2005, p. 6). The elimination of line-ministry control was a bold idea, one which meant public universities would be no longer under the control of ministries, yet, no specific timeline was given for the process.

The Reform Agenda also created a new relationship between the state and higher education institutions by establishing a University Council which would represent the state's ownership of public universities. The new governance structure of the University Council would give higher education institutions more voice and authority in the decision-making process. Most importantly, for the first time, the Reform Agenda proposed the development of a higher education law to legalize the autonomous status of higher education institutions. With these provisions, the Reform Agenda, despite being too ambitious, was evaluated as the most innovative legal document for Vietnam's higher education reform (Dao & Hayden, 2019; Le et al., 2019), with its emphasis on transferring decision-making power from the ministries to universities and developing a new relationship between them.

The next critical juncture in the autonomy policy occurred on June 18th, 2012, when the Higher Education Law was officially passed by the National Assembly after six years of drafting and revising (Dang, 2013). This Law became the most imperative legal document to recognize the autonomy of higher education institutions, clearly stated in Article 32 as follows: "Higher education institutions are institutionally autonomous in their primary activities in areas of organization and human resource management, finance and assets, training, research, and technology, international cooperation, and quality assurance" (Higher Education Law, 2012, p. 16). For the first time, the concept of "institutional autonomy" was emphasized in the law as the right of public universities and was used 16 times (Le, 2019). Other chapters and articles of the Law provided details on the authority of higher education institutions: Chapter IV on training activities, Chapter V on research and technology activities, Chapter VI on international cooperation, and Chapter X on finance and assets (Higher Education Law, 2012). Article 34, Clause 1, states that, "Higher education institutions are institutionally autonomous in determining enrollment numbers, are self-responsible for disclosing enrollments and other conditions that guarantee their education quality" (Higher Education Law, 2012, p. 17). Notably, the term "institutional autonomy" was usually juxtaposed with the term "self-responsibility," which was used eight times in the Higher Education Law (2012) (Le, 2019).

Generally speaking, the establishment of the Higher Education Law was significant for two reasons: It legalized in a separate law the autonomous status of public universities, thereby realizing one of three important goals of the Higher Education Reform Agenda (Dang, 2013). And, it consolidated in one single document a vast number of regulations on the autonomy of public universities that had been incrementally approved since 1993 (Le et al., 2019; Dao & Hayden,

2019). The Higher Education Law was criticized, however, for its lack of an official definition for autonomy and its lack of details on how to achieve stipulated goals (Marklein, 2019).

In 2014, the Central Government released Resolution 77 to push universities to work, during the period from 2014 to 2017, towards the autonomy mechanism. Article 1 of Resolution 77 (2014) clearly stated that "Public universities committing to self-finance all operating and investing expenses are comprehensively autonomous and self-responsible" (p. 1). Dao and Hayden (2019) interpreted "comprehensively autonomous" as meaning that public universities would be given a much higher level of autonomy under the condition that they no longer receive funds from the national budget for operating and investing activities. In other words, a public university's autonomy could not be taken for granted but would be conditional, and university leaders would be required to consider a trade-off between level of autonomy and level of governmental funding. In essence, Resolution 77 was another step taken by the government to advance the progress of autonomy policy and is evaluated as the second most significant policy document of its kind, just after the Higher Education Law of 2012 (University A, 2017). The policy also provides greater detail about the autonomy of public universities in teaching and research activities, organization and human resource management, finance, and investment and procurement (Prime Minister, 2014b). So far, Resolution 77 is the most specific policy document on autonomy among all Vietnamese public universities (University A, 2017). Together with the required condition on selffinancing, Resolution 77 nearly serves as a contract between the state and university.

The years 2018 and 2019 marked other milestones in the evolution of autonomy policy in Vietnam with the release of the Revised Higher Education Law, Resolution 99, and Decree 99.

All three of these crucial documents were revised and updated based on the results of the implementation of Resolution 77. Specifically, the Revised Higher Education Law was passed by

the National Assembly on November 11<sup>st</sup>, 2018. For the first time, a definition of autonomy was provided in Article 4, Clause 11 (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018):

Institutional autonomy is the right of a higher education institution to determine its own objectives and to select the way to implement its objectives, to make decisions on and to be held accountable for its teaching, research, organization, personnel, finance, assets, and other activities on the basis of the law and its capacity. (p. 2)

The revised law has granted more authority than ever to public universities, a move which is said to "untie public universities to the best" that the government can (Hong, 2018). In 2019, the government released Resolution 99 to expand, from 2019 through 2023, autonomy for three key public universities. The rights to recruit foreign scholars without work permits and apply for higher retirement ages for a Chairman of University Council are considered to provide the most exceptional sovereignty a Vietnamese public university can enjoy (Central Government, 2019a). Also, Decree 99 (Central Government, 2019b) was released to provide specific regulations and implementation guidelines for the Revised Higher Education Law.

In summary, between 1993 and 2019, an incremental change in the contents of autonomy policy gave more decision-making authority to higher education institutions. The most significant milestone occurred in 2005 when the Higher Education Reform Agenda was released but it was not until the Higher Education Law was passed in 2012 that the legal autonomy status of public universities was recognized. The year 2014 was also critical with the official renovation in the working mechanism of public universities taking place. Obviously, these legislative and regulatory frameworks officially authorize the autonomy of public universities in Vietnam. I provide an overview of major changes in relation to institutional autonomy policy in Table 3.

**Table 3 Overview of Major Changes in Relation to Institutional Autonomy Policy** 

Number	Name of policy documents	Years	Major changes in relation to autonomy policy	
1	Resolution No. 04-NQ/HNTW	1993	The term institutional autonomy was used for the first time to mention the need to increase autonomy of higher education institutions.	
2	Decree No. 90/ND- TTg	1993	The policy clearly signaled that Vietnam's higher education system would significantly depart from the centralized model.	
3	Education Law No. 38/2005/QH11	2005	The law indicated the most significant effort to decentralize the whole higher education system and delegate decision-making power to public universities.	
4	Resolution No. 14/2005/NQ-CP (Higher Education Reform Agenda)	2005	The policy document indicated the government's commitment to decentralization by switching public universities to operate under the autonomous mechanism. It proposed to develop a higher education law to legalize the autonomous status of higher education institutions, abolish line-ministry control, and establish the University Council.	
5	Higher Education Law No. 08/2012/QH2013	2012	The law became the most imperative legal document to recognize the autonomy of higher education institutions.	
6	Resolution No. 77/NQ-CP	2014	Resolution No. 77 advanced the progress of autonomy policy and was evaluated as the second most significant policy document on autonomy, just after the Higher Education Law. The policy document indicated the inclusion of financial responsibility in the university's autonomy.	
7	Revised Higher Education Law No. 34/2018/QH14	2018	The Higher Education Law was amended and for the first time, a definition of institutional autonomy was provided.	
8	Resolution No. 99/NQ-CP	2019	The policy document expanded autonomy for three key public universities.	
9	Decree No. 99/2019/ND-CP	2019	The policy document provided specific regulations and implementation guidelines for the Revised Higher Education Law.	
10	University Charter No. 58/2010/QĐ-TTg	2010	Public universities were officially mandated to establish a University Council.	
11	University Charter No. 70/2014/ QĐ-TTg	2014	The University Charter reinforced the roles and authority of the University Council.	
12	Resolution No. 89/NQ-CP	2016	The policy document indicated that the University Council should play a similar role to a Board of Directors in the private sector and had a clear	

	accountability relationship with the Board of
	Rectors.

### The Role of University Council

The Higher Education Law (2012) and University Charter (2014) require that autonomous universities establish a University Council at the highest level of a university governance structure and as representative of the owner and stakeholders. The University Council has a tenure of five years and at least fifteen members, from both inside and outside the public university. The Chair of University Council is appointed by the MOET. The University Council meets at least once every three months and meets unpredictably at the request of the Chair, the Rector, or at least one-third of the council members. With the newly emerging official structure since the shift to institutional autonomy policy, decisions within a public university could be made and approved by the University Council instead of being reported to the ministries for approval.

The mechanism of the University Council was introduced to Vietnamese public universities' governance structure in 2003 to signal the delegation of administrative rights from the state's agencies to higher education institutions (MOET, 2017; Dang, 2013). Yet it was not until the University Charter was approved in 2010 that public universities were officially mandated to establish a University Council. Specifically, the University Council would exercise responsibilities on behalf of the state to approve the university's institutional objectives and strategies, guidelines for organizational structures, staff recruitment and training policies, and policies regarding institutional finances, property, facilities, and equipment (University Charter, 2010). The University Council can also approve matters such as tuition fees and conduct an annual performance evaluation of Rectors and Vice-Rectors. As Dao and Hayden (2019) note, this legislation is consistent with the government's commitment to delegating autonomy to public universities. In 2014, the University Charter was amended according to Decision

70/2014/QD-TTg to reinforce the roles and authority of the University Council, except with regard to the appointment of Rectors.

The Higher Education Law continued to emphasize the power of the University Council to make important decisions on higher education institutions' development plans and organizational structures, and to supervise the implementation of their own decisions. Article 16 (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018) makes clear that "The University Council is a governance structure that serves as a representative for the owner and stakeholders" (p. 6). In general, the laws specify functions of University Councils as being similar to Western principles of trusteeship (Marklein, 2019); the Councils are responsible for managing the university's resources and monitoring the performance of university leaders.

In addition to the Higher Education Law and University Charter, other important policies such as Resolution 77, Decision 6600, and Resolution 89 have been put in place to reinforce the roles of the University Council. In particular, Resolution 89, issued by the Cabinet in 2016, indicates that the University Council should play a similar role to a Board of Directors in the private sector and have a clear accountability relationship with the Board of Rectors, yet no explanation was provided about how this accountability relationship should function. In addition, all public universities must remain under the absolute leadership of the Communist Party, although the Rector often holds the position of Communist Party Secretary—the most powerful individual within a public university (MOET, 2017). Overall, the legislative framework released over the past ten years has continued to emphasize and reinforce the role and authority of the University Council.

#### A Discussion on the Move to Autonomy Policy

The legislative framework described above indicates that the Vietnamese government has a strong commitment to conferring autonomy on public universities. Policy documents show an

incremental change in the degree of autonomy of public universities and demonstrate that autonomous public universities are no longer subject to ministerial control and approval as they were in the earlier, centralized governance mechanism. Instead, University Council now approves all requests, and reports to related ministries.

Policy implementation in Vietnam, however, is being carried out tentatively and experimentally because the government wants to see society's reaction (Tran, 2009). This explains the release of many revised policy versions since the autonomy concept was first introduced in 1993 (Dang, 2013). Further, apart from relevant laws, public universities are subject to many other policy artifacts—decrees, resolutions, decisions, guidelines—issued by many ministries and state management agencies (Dao, 2009). Each policy document also has many updated and modified versions: The Higher Education Law (2012), for example, was revised in 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2018. As well, after a law is ratified, policy actors must wait for the release of guidelines such as Resolution 77 or Decree 99 to be clear about how to implement it.

Many years after the release of the Reform Agenda (Central Government, 2005) and Higher Education Law (2012), many important items, such as the removal of line-ministry control over public universities, are still on a wish list. Indeed, since the 1990s when the state attempted to bring all public higher education institutions under the administration of only one ministry, the MOET, there has been intense resistance from many ministries (Dao & Hayden, 2010). Nevertheless, the line-ministry control mechanism is providing related ministries with benefits and privileges in public universities. For example, with the power to introduce staff for leadership positions, including Rectors, ministerial employees can make considerable gains (Dao & Hayden, 2010). Remarkably, "there is a well-established asking-approving mechanism within the budget allocation where universities must ask the MOET and line-ministries for approvals in

matters related to budget, projects, personnel, infrastructure, curriculum; and ministries then approve "privileges" only with extensive lobby, often through beneficial arrangements" (Dao & Hayden, 2010, p. 136-137). Apparently, these privileges will disappear when the line-ministry control is removed, which justifies a strong resistance to this reform policy. In Vietnam, ministries are relatively powerful and they are competing with each other to affect how public funds are allocated in the higher education system (Dao, 2009). Therefore, the effort to eliminate line ministries to increase autonomy for Vietnamese public universities has so far seemed impractical and unfeasible.

The new structure of University Council is also facing many challenges in practice, due to the power struggle with the Communist Party inside a public university. The Revised Higher Education Law (2018) requires each Vietnamese public university has a Committee of Communist Party. This is the leading force with absolute power to maintain a socialist direction and communist ideology for all university activities. With the power of Communist Party, the role and function of the Chair of University Council written in the law is in question (Dao & Hayden, 2010). The MOET (2017) reports that six of 23 autonomous universities do not establish a University Council. The main reason for this resistance is that public universities do not see the value of the Chair of University Council when the Rector, who is also the Chair of the Communist Party, is the most powerful individual in a public university (Tran et al., 2017). Public universities are also reluctant to establish University Councils because they do not want to be burdened with an additional level of accountability (Dao & Hayden, 2019). They are already held accountable to the MOET, line ministries, and other related state instrumentalities—which by no means will disappear in the near future.

# The Evolution of Accountability in the Vietnamese Government's Policy on Autonomy

Together with the implementation of the autonomy policy, the Vietnamese government has also released many policy documents on accountability. Here, I review the evolution and features of accountability in Vietnam's higher education system.

### Controversial Concepts of Accountability and Self-Responsibility

Accountability of public universities is a relatively new and controversial concept in Vietnam's policies and discourses (Hoang, 2017). Before the concept of accountability was officially used in the Revised Higher Education Law (2018), it was the term self-responsibility that was always written right after the concept of institutional autonomy in legal documents. This term has led to a misunderstanding amongst policy actors that accountability is the same as selfresponsibility (Vo, 2018; Hoang, 2017). In fact, these two concepts are very different. According to Article 4 (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018), "Accountability is the responsibility of a higher education institution to report and to make transparent information to learners, society, authorized management agencies, owners, and other stakeholders about its compliance with regulations, laws, and its commitments" (p. 2). In Vietnam, this means that accountability refers to the obligation of an organization or individual to provide information on, and/or justification for, their activities to stakeholders (Brinkerhoff, 2004). Self-responsibility, on the other hand, means that a public university must be responsible for its own decisions in front of the law and authorized management agencies (Central Government, 2006, Article 3). Basically, an organization is responsible for its own performance and any financial loss caused by its own decisions. In the centralized model, the government subsidized all financial aspects and was responsible for any financial loss that a public university experienced (Tran, 2014). While accountability is a concept that is closely related to steering and control, self-responsibility emphasizes who is responsible for

the consequences of a decision made by an organization. Ngo (2006) also argues that the usage of the term self-responsibility caused a misunderstanding that an autonomous entity is free in organizing its activities and is accountable to itself only, not to other stakeholders. Therefore, in the Revised Higher Education Law, the National Assembly replaced "self-responsibility" with "accountability," with an official definition for accountability.

# Types of Accountability Measures

There are three main kinds of accountability measures: the state audit, accreditation and quality assurance, and regulations and reporting requirements. Public universities are subject to state audits on financial matters. Specifically, Article 32 (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018) required that public universities must "perform audits of financial statements, annual reports, investment, and procurement" (p. 18). If universities use the public budget, they are responsible for managing and utilizing the budget according to the state's Budget Law (Higher Education Law, 2012, Article 66). Public universities must also "provide justifications on salary, additional incomes, and other benefits of university leaders at the Conference of staff, state officials, and employees" (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018, Article 32, p. 18).

Accreditation and quality assurance, written in a variety of legal documents including laws, decrees, circulars, and decisions, is a key accountability measure intended to assess the educational quality of Vietnamese public universities. Specifically, Article 17 (Education Law, 2005) states, "Accreditation is the key instrument to evaluate the extent of implementing educational objectives, programs, and contents of educational institutions" (p. 38). Article 17 also specifies that accreditation shall be periodically conducted by MOET, with results being made public (Education Law, 2005). The concept of quality assurance was officially legalized in the Higher Education Law (2012), specifying the linkage between accreditation results and

degree of autonomy of a public university that the university will have a higher level of autonomy which is equivalent to its capacity, ranking results, and accreditation results. The university's capacity includes elements such as infrastructure, learning facilities, the number of professors, lecturers, and its ability to cover its operating and investing expenses.

The Revised Higher Education Law (2018) contained many significant changes by, for example, naming accreditation status as a condition for student recruitment and autonomy in different aspects. Article 32, Clause 6 (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018) required public universities to "explain and justify the implementation of quality standards and policies, regulations, and implementation of regulations of higher education institutions; [and to] bear responsibilities with the law for failing to comply with regulations, committed to ensuring operational quality" (p. 18). Apart from the laws, a variety of policies set out regulations for accreditation and quality assurance activities—Circular 12/2017/TT-BGDDT on institutional accreditation, Circular 04/2016/TT-BGDDT on programmatic accreditation, Circular 60/2012/TT-BGDDT on external reviewers, and Circular 61/2012/TT-BGDDT on the establishment, closure, and operations of accrediting centers—all of which are issued by the MOET.

Areas such as finance, personnel, teaching, research, investment, construction, and international cooperation of public universities are subject to many regulations, and reporting requirements issued by different ministries. For example, the determination of tuition fees is subject to regulations in Decree 86; personnel issues are under the strict control of the Ministry of Home Affairs; the recruitment of foreign scholars is subject to regulations of the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and Social Affairs. The Revised Higher Education Law (2018) also makes public universities responsible for "submitting periodical and/or irregular reports to owners and authorized management agencies" and for "reporting annual financial statements and other

contents publicly and truthfully on the website following MOET's regulations" (p. 18, Article 32, Clause 6).

### Levels of Accountability

Among many kinds of accountability measures, public universities are accountable to a number of levels of management, government ministries being the main level. In addition to the MOET—the highest state management agency for the country's education, twelve ministries are engaged in the line-governance of higher education institutions (Dang, 2013). Across the system, MOET provides regulations, but responsibility for ensuring compliance is spread across a range of ministries—some of which independently set their own protocols. The Ministry of Science and Technology, for instance, develops a discrete agenda for determining national research priorities as well as for allocating the budget (Harman et al., 2010). At another level, the Higher Education Law (2012) requires that a Communist Party Committee be established within every public university, which means that key decisions are still subject to the state's approval (Marklein, 2019). As well, public universities are accountable to society and must disclose on their websites the following information: lecturers for each major; criteria for calculating enrollment numbers; enrollment number for each major; and, a list of admitted and graduated students for each of the three most recent academic years.

Generally speaking, accountability as a concept is controversial and has many types of measures and many levels. Yet, to date, the accountability system in Vietnam is evaluated as weak and still in its infancy (Vo, 2018; Vo & Lofgren, 2016). In fact, the system is mostly limited to making regulations and ensuring that reporting requirements to the authorized administrative levels are met, especially to the ministries. While three upper levels of the Vietnamese Government—the National Assembly, the Central Government, and the Prime Minister—enact policy documents on

autonomy, the Ministries, especially MOET, ratify most of the policy documents on accountability. With many levels and types of accountabilities, laws and regulations overlap but are not updated synchronously or in timely fashion (MOET, 2017). As a consequence, any one policy content may be subject to contradictory regulations of different administrative levels, which causes confusion and delay in the implementation process. For example, while public universities are granted the right to set tuition fee levels under the Higher Education Law (2012), Decree 86 (2015) regulates specific tuition frameworks for programs (Hoang, 2017). In another case, public universities are subject to different financial regulations in the Higher Education Law and the State's Budget Law (released by the National Assembly), and in Decree 16 (released by the Central Government), in which public universities are treated in another category as public service delivery units. Furthermore, owing to the limited capacity of accrediting agencies, a large number of regulations on quality assurance raises concerns over the feasibility of implementation.

In sum, I have here provided an overview of accountability in the Vietnamese government's policy documents about institutional autonomy. It can be seen that many accountability measures on activities of public universities exist although they are handed over decision-making authorities. It has, therefore, been argued that autonomy in a Vietnamese context always seems to be conditional and regulatory (Tran, 2014).

# Chapter 6

# **Analysis of Documents**

The purpose of the present study is to develop a better understanding of institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese higher education system. In this chapter, I present thematic findings from a document analysis that reveals the meaning of autonomy in that system. The documents include policy texts released by the Vietnamese government and internal documents used during the implementation of the autonomy policy at University A (a Vietnamese public university I selected for the present study). The findings indicate that autonomy is the right of a public university to make its own decisions but that it also means the university is accountable for its decisions and is self-responsible for financial resources. Collectively, three issues—decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility—are bound in a mutually dependent relationship to form the meaning of autonomy.

# The Meaning of Institutional Autonomy in Policy Documents

In this section, I present findings concerning the meaning of institutional autonomy as that word is used in policy documents. As described in Chapter 4, Methodology, I used thematic analysis and interpretive policy analysis to analyze policy texts for insights on the meaning of autonomy. These insights are derived from policy documents that represent the interpretive community of legislators and policymakers. Although sub-communities may well exist within among these legislators and policymakers, I assume for the purposes of the present study that they are one interpretive community—because the understandings of autonomy I identified are based on my reading and analysis of their policy documents. In the next chapter, I focus on the analysis of interviews with university actors and present understandings of autonomy from different interpretive communities. Three themes emerged from the policy documents

concerning the meaning of autonomy: (a) autonomy is the right of a public university to make its own decisions on teaching, research, organization, personnel, and finance; (b) autonomy means University A is accountable for its decision-making; and (c) autonomy means University A is responsible for its own financial resources and the consequences of its financial decisions. Three concepts—decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility—are interconnected to define the meaning of autonomy.

# Autonomy as the University's Right to Make Decisions

As stated in the laws, autonomy, is, first and foremost, the right of University A to make its own decisions. The autonomous right of Vietnamese public universities was written into law for the first time in the Education Law (2005) and amended in the Higher Education Law (2012) and the Revised Higher Education Law (2018). Autonomy is officially defined in Article 4 of the Revised Higher Education Law (2018) as follows:

Institutional autonomy is the right of a higher education institution to determine its own objectives and to select the way to implement its objectives, to make its own decisions on [emphasis added] and to be held accountable for its teaching, research, organization, personnel, finance, assets, and other activities on the basis of the law and its capacity. (p. 2) In this definition, the word *right* is used to emphasize autonomy as the power or authority of a public university to make own decisions. The concepts of *authority* and *power* are repeatedly used in the laws and other policy documents concerning university autonomy. For example,

Article 13 of Decree 99 (Central Government, 2019b) states that "public universities have the *authority* [emphasis added] to design and implement internal regulations on admission, teaching, science, technology, and collaboration within the legal framework" (p. 17). This means that University A does not need to seek approval from state governing bodies for any of these

activities. Furthermore, strong words such as have the right to implement, be proactive to regulate, and be autonomous in are frequently used in policy texts to describe, emphasize, and clarify the rights of a public university. And this right is the right of the university to make its own decisions—to decide what to do on its own and at its own discretion. Article 1 of Resolution 77 (Prime Minister, 2014a), for example, states that "public universities make their own decisions [emphasis added] on teaching activities such as training programs, teaching methods, examination and assessment of learning outcomes, textbooks, learning materials, and managing degrees" (p. 2). This means University A, not the MOET, makes decisions about teaching activities. Throughout the documents, the words making decisions are repeatedly used—ten times in Resolution 77, for example, and four times in the Higher Education Law (2012)—to signal the public university's decision-making authority.

In brief, autonomy is about the right of a public university to make decisions; words such as *right*, *power*, *and authority*, accompanied by strong action verbs help to articulate the primary meaning of autonomy as *decision-making* authority. This meaning is significant because it marks a change in the state-university relationship—a new relationship in which University A is empowered as an autonomous entity to decide matters on its own, actively and independently, instead of being subject to state approval as in the former governance system. A University Council replaces government ministries for the performance of such functions as approving expenditures or appointing a Rector. University A has gained more authority to act on its own in its relationship with the ministries.

As the literature suggests, formal decision-making authority is of utmost importance in a governance structure, because it defines the role and function of a university in its relationship with the state (Donina & Paleari, 2019). In addition, the term *right* defines University A's

autonomy as a legal status enhanced to a high level which, once granted, is not easy to take back. Legally autonomous status also implies that the state's direct control in setting traditional a priori regulations and forcing universities to comply with them must be changed so as not to violate the university's new autonomy. Basically, the meaning of autonomy as decision-making authority is consistent with the literature—autonomy is first about the university's authority to make its own decisions (Verhoest et al., 2005). Policy documents also provide details on the decision-making authority that University A has in the areas of finance, teaching, research, organization, and personnel. I provide a detailed analysis of these decision-making authorities below.

Decision-Making Authority on Finance. University A has gained significant decision-making authority on financial matters, especially on tuition fees and use of revenues.

Specifically, the university can make decisions about tuition—the primary source of revenue of autonomous universities in Vietnam. It also enjoys privileges not enjoyed by Vietnamese public universities that have not gained autonomous status. Concerning revenues, the university has been granted significant authority to use its own capital for its own spending purposes.

Ultimately, University A has gained strong financial autonomy.

Tuition Fees. Tuition fees are paid by students to compensate universities for part or all of the costs of the students' education (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018). My analysis reveals two critical findings concerning tuition fees: (a) University A can define tuition levels without being subject to any limitations by the state; and (b) income from tuition is tax-exempt and can be deposited in commercial banks to earn high interest. My document analysis indicates a major change in University A's decision-making authority on tuition fees—from being strictly restricted to stringent caps set by the state (Higher Education Law, 2012; Central Government, 2015b) to being permitted to determine tuition at its own discretion (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018).

Although autonomy is legalized as a right of public universities, Article 65 of the Higher Education Law (2012) states that "public universities are proactive in defining tuition fees within the stringent caps set by the government" (p. 31). Two points need to be clarified in terms of the language used here. The word *proactive*, not the word *autonomous*, is used to describe the right to determine tuition fees. Autonomous means self-government, indicating more independence and freedom than the word proactive which only means a university can take an active role in controlling a situation (Barber, 2004). While autonomy means universities have more power and higher status (Ørberg & Wright, 2019), proactive signals that the state is not prepared to transfer power. It also means that the right to define tuition must be exercised within the state's limits, that is, within stringent caps. Furthermore, Clause 2 of Article 65 of the Higher Education Law (2012) emphasizes that "the government regulates the content and approach to define tuition levels and caps on tuition for public universities" (p. 30). The policy language clearly indicates that in 2012 public universities were not autonomous concerning tuition fees.

Strict regulations concerning tuition fees are elaborated in another policy document titled Decree 86 (Central Government, 2015b). According to Article 5, Clause 1, of this document, a ceiling of 17.5 million VND (Vietnamese currency) was set on annual tuition fees per undergraduate student for the academic years between 2015 and 2018. Tuition fees paid by one student at University A for the years 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 were 14.5 million VND and 16.5 million VND respectively, both of which totals were lower than the ceiling of 17.5 million VND (Prime Minister, 2014a). Despite University A's autonomous status, the fee limitation was not lifted, leaving the university with little room to maneuver.

University A's authority gains momentum, however, with Article 65 of the Revised Higher Education Law (2018), which states that "higher education institutions meeting

conditions regulated at Article 32, Clause 2 of this law and are self-financing for all operating expenditure are *autonomous* [emphasis added] in defining tuition fees" (p. 27). The policy language here contains two significant differences compared to earlier policy language. The concept *autonomous* is used to describe the rights of public universities, replacing the old word *proactive*. Moreover, the cap on tuition levels is removed. This means University A is officially autonomous in terms of tuition fees—and free to set them at any level it desires.

A comparison of the 2012 and 2018 versions of the Higher Education Law reveals that although autonomy was officially granted to public universities in 2012 those universities did not gain decision-making authority on tuition fees until 2018. Still, a number of conditions are attached to this right: establishment of a University Council; implementation of internal expenditure regulations; decentralization of autonomy and accountability to departments and individuals; accreditation results; employment rates of graduates; and self-responsibility for all operating expenses (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018). These conditions are different from the cap applied to tuition fees because they facilitate a new official structure for an autonomous university—and University A has fully gained authority to set tuition fees without any limitation set by the state.

Findings also indicate that University A's income from tuition is tax-exempt and can be deposited to commercial banks to earn high interest: "Revenues from tuition fees are allowed to be deposited at commercial banks" (Prime Minister, 2014a, p. 4). This legal statement has two implications. On the one hand, by depositing money in commercial banks, University A retains the flexibility to use its funds to facilitate its performance. Deposits earn high interest rates while remaining available to be withdrawn simply and quickly for spending purposes. On the other hand, the authority to deposit money in a commercial bank signifies University A's independence from

the State Budget Law. Prior to the enactment of autonomy policy, revenues from tuition were regarded as part of the national budget and had to be deposited to the State Treasury; all spending items were strictly controlled by the State Budget Law to limit overspending at public universities (Vo, 2018). The high interest accruing from depositing tuition is also tax-exempt (Ministry of Finance, 2016) but University A is not allowed to add it to its Fund of Additional Income (Central Government, 2015); it must instead be used to offer scholarships for students.

Overall, University A has gained considerable power on managing income from tuition. Indeed, gaining decision-making authority over tuition fees—the primary source of revenue of an autonomous university in Vietnam—is highly significant. Funding for Vietnamese universities derives from two main sources: the state budget and tuition. The Higher Education Law (2012) lists the sources as (1) state's budget, and (2) tuition fees. The Revised Higher Education Law (2018) lists the sources in a considerably different way—(1) tuition fees, (2) endowment, and (3) state's budget (if any)—to indicate that tuition is now the most important source of funding. A public university is granted autonomy on the condition that it be responsible for its expenses (Prime Minister, 2014b). Governmental budget is cut off and autonomous universities must turn to tuition as their main source of funding. Gaining autonomy on tuition is therefore highly significant for University A. It helps the university to survive during the first stage of autonomy when other sources such as endowments are not yet available.

Use of Revenues. University A has gained significant authority on the use of its own capital. In terms of operating expenditure, Resolution 77 provides that University A "make its own decisions on using its incomes to pay for operating activities" (Prime Minister, 2014b, p. 3). This means University A can make decisions about payments for operating expenses—such as additional salaries for employees—at its own discretion, without any restriction from the state. In

fact, in Vietnam, public sector salaries are low and strictly regulated by the state. As a consequence, lecturers often "poach" or moonlight in the private sector. Vietnam's public universities also suffer from a degree of brain drain owing to substantial income disparities with foreign countries (Welch, 2016a). Both moonlighting and the brain-drain have huge negative impacts on teaching and research quality. Gaining the right to increase salaries can help to retain qualified Vietnamese academics—the crucial factor for University A to improve education quality and research profile.

Concerning investing expenses, the Ministry of Finance (2016) notes that "revenues from tuition fees and other sources of University A are considered its own capital that can be used for investing activities at its discretion" (p. 2). As well, Resolution 6600 (Prime Minister, 2014a) states that "University A is autonomous in and self-responsible for planning and making decisions on using its revenues to invest in infrastructure and facilities" (p. 3). This means University A can make decisions about the purchase of long-lived assets, about investments, and about construction projects without seeking approval from related ministries. Although University A is fully self-financing for investment expenses, the state continues to provide funding for construction projects that were begun before the autonomy policy was implemented. Also, University A is permitted to "decide spending items and projects with the value under 15 billion VND" (Ministry of Finance, 2016, p. 2). Compared with other universities that must consult the ministries when purchasing fixed assets worth over one billion VND (Vo, 2018), University A has more discretion.

Decision-Making Authority on Teaching and Research. In terms of teaching,
University A has been delegated considerable autonomy over programs and curriculum.

Specifically, it "can open bachelor, master, and doctoral programs, as long as the university meets conditions on lecturers, staff, infrastructure, and the society's demand" (Prime Minister,

2014a, p. 2). This discretion also applies to joint programs between University A and other institutions. For example, an International Joint Degree between University A and a foreign institution used to require from six to twelve months to gain MOET approval because specific procedures concerning foreign cooperation and investment in education were prescribed in the regulations (Central Government, 2018). Since University A has been governed by the autonomy policy, the approving process has taken only two months because all decision-making power now belongs to the Rector. Such discretion provides University A more flexibility to develop programs and expand its international partners, and has implication for revenues. In addition, the university has the authority to design its curriculum with a view towards internationalization, and University A has made a breakthrough in this area: it can now use textbooks imported from Western publishers. This change is significant because it reflects University A's freedom to select learning materials, a type of academic freedom that is expected to improve the quality of higher education. For many years, the poor quality of education in Vietnam has been blamed on old and outdated textbooks, the use of which was a consequence of the state's strict policy requiring use of domestic textbooks reflecting the Vietnamese Communist Party's ideology.

Concerning research, University A has become autonomous in its selection of organizations and individuals to conduct research—and in its selection of research topics, research goals, national and international conferences, and the dissemination of research results (Prime Minister, 2014b). University A's reputation for research has been boosted through its organization of many international conferences and its publications in prestigious scientific journals. These outcomes support the university's aim to increase its overall position as a research-intensive university by 2030.

Decision-Making Authority on Organizational Structure and Personnel. The University Council is the highest level of authority within an autonomous public university. University Council monitors university activities and replaces the ministry in terms of approving requests. Reporting to the University Council is the Rector, who is responsible for carrying out institutional activities that are prescribed by the Higher Education Law and University Charter, once these have been approved by University Council. The Rector is accountable to University Council which, in turn, is accountable to the MOET, to society, and to other stakeholders. Since gaining its autonomy, University A has strengthened the functions of University Council to minimize ministerial approval procedures.

The most significant authority University A possesses in terms of organizational structure is the power to appoint a Rector, the highest position within a Vietnamese public university under the former governance structure. Official Dispatch No. 3000 is an internal policy document released by the Prime Minister to University A: "University Council is in charge of the appointment process for Rector according to regulations set by the MOET, then makes decisions and reports to the MOET" (MOET, 2016, p. 2). This means University Council replaces the MOET in appointing the Rector, even though the Council is still subject to the MOET's regulations and final decision. The right to appoint the Rector is the most significant power University A has gained; indeed, it demonstrates the public university's utmost autonomy. The state gradually granted authority in many matters to the University Council but in appointing the Rector MOET retained absolute power. Analysis of internal policy documents exchanged between University A and the ministries shows it took time and effort for University A to negotiate and gain from MOET the right to appoint the Rector

While University A gained authority to appoint the Rector in 2016, it was not legalized in any public policy document that widely recognized this significant change until the release of the Revised Higher Education Law effective from July 1st, 2019. Specifically, Article 20 of that law states that "the Rector is decided by University Council and recognized by the authorized management agency" (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018, p. 15). This means other Vietnamese public universities have been able to appoint their rectors only since 2019, three years after University A gained this autonomy. University A, therefore, is the precedent case in the power negotiation process that informed the amendment of the Higher Education Law.

In terms of personnel, the management and recruitment of employees has been delegated to University A. Decision 6600 provides that University A can "recruit staff based on its Job Position Scheme approved by University Council" (Prime Minister, 2014a, p. 3). Resolution 77 also specifies that "the university can make decisions on the number of lecturers and staff to recruit; sign contracts after being approved by University Council; and manage, use, and terminate contracts in accordance with the law" (Prime Minister, 2014b, p. 2). Taking charge of human resource matters helps University A to quickly recruit personnel suited to its needs, personnel who can facilitate its performance. In particular, University A has gained autonomy on the recruitment of foreign scholars. At this point, University A is one of only three Vietnamese universities to have gained the expanded autonomy specified in Resolution 99. According to this crucial policy document, "Foreign scholars who teach and conduct research at University A are not required to hold work permits" (Central Government, 2019a, p. 8). It is very unusual for University A to have this authority—to have had removed the strict restriction on work permits usually required for foreign laborers from the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and Social Affairs.

Removal of that requirement has created an ideal condition for University A to attract foreign scholars and thereby boost its education quality and research profile.

In summary, in this section, I have presented the meaning of autonomy as written in government policy documents. These documents indicate that autonomy is the right of a public university to make its own decisions in the primary areas of finance, teaching, research, organization, and personnel. Amongst these areas, University A has gained its strongest decision-making authority on financial issues, especially concerning the determination of tuition levels. The university has also been delegated considerable autonomy on teaching activities and research. The findings also indicate that University A, with the establishment of a University Council and the right to appoint the Rector, has acquired significant authority over its organizational structure and personnel. The findings presented in this chapter, however, are derived only from document analysis; they must be triangulated with findings from interviews with university actors (Chapter 7) in order to clarify what happens in practice when the policy is enacted at University A.

### Autonomy as the University's Accountability for its Activities

Institutional autonomy means not only that decision-making authority has been granted to University A, it means University A is accountable for its activities and decisions, as provided by the Revised Higher Education Law (2018):

Institutional autonomy is the right of a higher education institution to determine its own objectives and to select the way to implement its objectives, to make decisions on and *to be held accountable for* [emphasis added] its teaching, research, organization, personnel, finance, assets, and other activities on the basis of the law and its capacity. (p. 2)

The Revised Higher Education Law (2018) also provides an official definition of accountability: "Accountability is the responsibility of a higher education institution to report and make

transparent information to students, society, authorized management agencies, owners, and other stakeholders about its compliance with regulations, laws, and commitments" (p. 2). This definition specifies that accountability is the obligation of an institution to provide information on and justification for its activities to stakeholders. It also emphasizes transparency concerning compliance with laws, indicating the existence of a compliance-oriented accountability system in Vietnam's public sector. Obviously, University A is accountable for all the activities for which it has been delegated decision-making authority— including finance, teaching, research, organization, and personnel. As indicated in policy texts, however, every authority University A has been granted is accompanied by control measures set by the state. Indeed, authority is always accompanied by regulations, conditions, or restrictions which precede in policy texts any statement of authority. For example, authority on tuition fees is stated in Revised Higher Education Law (2018) as follows: "Higher education institutions meeting conditions regulated at Article 32, Clause 2 of this law and self-financing for all operating expenses [emphasis added] are autonomous in determining tuition fees" (p. 27). Conditions are stated first, for emphasis.

Accountability as a concept is closely related to steering and control, and accountability measures are used to monitor and evaluate a university's activities. My document analysis shows that University A is subject to many accountability measures implemented by the state, including regulations, reporting requirements, and ministerial approvals as well as quality assurances, state audits, and performance indicators. Every decision-making authority that has been granted to University A is subject to regulations and reporting requirements set by the ministries—to ensure the University follows the legal framework in its operation. Details of these regulations and reporting requirements are analyzed in the next chapter on actors' understandings of decision-making authority and accountability. Indeed, despite the autonomy it has been granted,

University A continues in some ways to operate under the MOET's direct control, with most of its decisions still subject to ministerial approval.

The MOET implements quality assurance to monitor University A's education quality and determine accreditation status. According to Article 17 of the Education Law (2005), quality assurance is the key mechanism for assessing education quality provided by Vietnam's higher education institutions. Quality assurance emphasizes University A's compliance with regulations articulated in the laws governing accreditation procedures (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018). Quality assurance is implemented periodically, and its results are publicized. The results are used to determine accreditation and the level of autonomy to be granted to an institution, as stated in the Higher Education Law (2012): "Higher education institutions have higher levels of autonomy appropriate with their capacity, ranking results, and accreditation results" (p. 16). Together with University A's capacity on infrastructure, human, and financial resources, accreditation results serve as a condition for the granting of autonomy.

In terms of financial matters, University A is subject to state audit of its financial statements, annual reports, tax, investments, and procurement of assets. This control measure ensures that University A is complying with laws and regulations that govern accounting and financial practices. The state also uses performance-based accountability measures to monitor performance in terms of indicators such as number of lecturers, enrollment in majors, and admissions and graduations, all of which must be annually disclosed on University A's website (MOET, 2016).

Overall, autonomy means University A is held accountable for its decisions. Different areas of university performance are subject to various kinds of control measures, which mainly emphasize compliance with regulations. (I present details of these accountability measures in

Chapter 7.) Amongst the aforementioned accountability measures, quality assurance and performance indicators have been recently added to existing regulations, reporting requirements, and state audit, reflecting changes in steering technologies under an autonomy regime. The change means there are more control instruments over public universities in the new governance mechanism than in the old model. Regulations and ministerial approvals in particular show up as the most common control measures that were well-established in the former system. Furthermore, a mixture of old (regulations, reporting requirements, and state audit) and new steering instruments (quality assurance and performance indicators) raises questions about how they are articulated to steer a public university so as not to violate university autonomy. Findings from interviews with university leaders, presented in the next chapter, offer insights on this question.

### Autonomy as the University's Responsibility for its Decisions and Finance

To be autonomous University A must be self-responsible for its decisions and expenses. Article 3 of Decree 43 states that "University A's autonomy must be accompanied by self-responsibility for its own decisions to the state management agencies and the law" (Central Government, 2006, p. 1). This means University A rather than the government is responsible for any consequence of University A's decisions—for inefficient performance or financial loss, for example. In this sense, self-responsibility emphasizes who is responsible for consequences of decisions made by University A. Article 16 of Decree 16 provides a clear example for the concept of self-responsibility. Given University A's autonomy in making decisions to borrow capital for investment, University A must itself be responsible for payment of loans and interest. If University A cannot pay a loan it has acquired, it must itself bear legal responsibility. In addition, the university is responsible for efficiency in its borrowing decisions, such as the performance of investing activities, and for handling any risk or consequence (Central

Government, 2015a). Ultimately, autonomy incorporates risk management into the decision-making process on the side of University A, which creates pressure for and requires precautions from decision-makers as they exert their autonomy.

Importantly, autonomy means University A is responsible for covering its own expenses, as Resolution 77 clearly states: "Public universities committing to self-finance all operating and investing expenses are comprehensively autonomous" (Prime Minister, 2014b, p. 1). In this sense, University A is financially independent from the government. Given that one of the overarching goals of the Vietnamese government in implementing autonomy policy is to reduce the financial burden on the state's budget (Prime Minister, 2014a), the inclusion of financial obligations in the meaning of autonomy is not surprising. Autonomy imposes financial responsibility on the university and gradually reduces the financial burden on the national budget.

## Relationship between Decision-Making Authority, Self-Responsibility, and Accountability

A conditional relationship exists between autonomy and responsibility. University A must bear financial responsibility in order to have autonomy. On the one hand, the financial obligation serves as a condition to check if University A is strong enough to operate autonomously and independently from the government. If University A is capable of covering expenses by itself, without the government's support, then it would seem qualified for autonomous status. On the other hand, state funding becomes the price University A must pay for autonomy. In other words, in implementing autonomy policy, University A accepts a trade-off between freedom and governmental funding. This is what state steering is about, with the university holding the risk.

Autonomy and responsibility are also bound in a mutual relationship similar to the mutual relationship that binds rights and obligations. In 2005, the concept of self-responsibility was legalized in Vietnamese Education Law. In this legal document, the word self-responsibility

is written immediately following the word autonomy—the two words are linked together almost like co-existing terms to emphasize that autonomy is bound by obligations. Since that law was written in 2005, self-responsibility has been repeatedly used in every statement on autonomy written in policy documents such as Decree 43, Decree 16, Higher Education Law, and Resolution 77. Article 36 (Higher Education Law, 2012), for example, states that "higher education institutions are *autonomous in and self-responsible for* [emphasis added] developing, accrediting, and opening programs at undergraduate, master, and doctoral levels" (p. 18). The mutual relationship between autonomy and responsibility is reminiscent of Victor Hugo's famous saying, "Everything that increases freedom should also increase responsibility. Nothing is so weighty and serious as being free" (Actes et paroles, 1870-1876). Freedom actually increases pressure on institutions and individuals because they must bear more responsibility.

Three aspects of autonomy—decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility—are also bound in a mutually dependent relationship. While decision-making authority represents the rights of University A to make decisions, accountability and self-responsibility represent its obligations. The policy indicates that decision-making authority is accompanied by and compatible with accountability, and emphasizes the university's self-responsibility for finance and risk management. Indeed, any time the concept of autonomy appears in a policy document, it is accompanied by either *self-responsibility* or *accountability*, both of which involve obligations for University A in its use of authority. Ultimately, decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility are bounded in a mutual relationship of rights and obligations.

In this chapter, I have presented findings concerning the meaning of autonomy, accountability, and university responsibility. As written in policy documents, autonomy means

University A has authority to make decisions but that, at the same time, it must be held accountable for its decisions and must be responsible for its financial resources and any consequences of its decisions. Three aspects of autonomy—decision-making authority, accountability, and self-responsibility—are bound together to form the meaning of autonomy. This meaning is discursively constructed against the background in which autonomy policy is implemented in Vietnam—poor higher education quality and budget constraints. These conditions put the state under pressure to decentralize the administrative system. As a result, a contingent relationship between autonomy and financial responsibility has been constructed in which University A must bear financial responsibility in order to be granted autonomy. The transfer of autonomy can both enhance the university's performance and reduce financial burdens for the government. However, the state must take precautions in handing over power because doing so is in stark contrast to the legacy of the country's centralized governance system. Given this concern, accountability becomes the state's primary focus in implementing autonomy policy—a focus which creates tensions with the policy itself.

### Chapter 7

# Participants' Understanding of Institutional Autonomy in Vietnamese Higher Education

In the present chapter, I present findings concerning participants' understanding of decision-making authority and accountability within the institutional autonomy policy, findings based on my analysis of policy objects and metaphors. These artifacts are significant carriers of meaning that participants at University A used to articulate their interpretations of policy concepts on autonomy. The findings indicate that different communities of meaning exist concerning decision-making authority and accountability. Although the state has delegated decision-making authority to University A, that authority is subject to conditions and limitations. Two conflicting communities of meaning on accountability are apparent. One sees accountability as a constraint on autonomy; the other argues that accountability should be implemented by the state to limit the ways in which universities can game the system.

To present the findings, I frequently use the terms of interpretive policy analysis such as policy artifacts, policy objects, metaphors, interpretive communities, and communities of meaning (Yanow, 2000, 2007). Policy artifacts are useful as they can be significant carriers of the policy meaning, which include policy objects and metaphors. Policy objects are symbolic language used by actors to convey their understanding of policy concepts. Metaphor is the juxtaposition of two different elements in a single context to transfer meaning from a better-known element to a lesser-known element. Interpretive communities refer to the people that do the interpretation of policy objects and metaphors. Communities of meaning refer to the meaning themselves being communicated through the policy artifacts.

## Participants' Understanding of Decision-Making Authority

To understand how participants at University A interpreted the concept of decision-making authority, I analyzed four policy objects through which the policy meaning is communicated: tuition fees, programs, textbooks, and recruitment of foreign scholars. Tuition stands out as the most important symbolic object for conveying meaning—that decision-making authority delegated to University A is always accompanied by restrictions set by the state.

### Tuition as a Symbol of Decision-Making Authority

I selected tuition as a symbol of autonomy in this analysis because it was frequently mentioned by participants as they shared their perspectives on decision-making authority. It stands out as meaningful to participants and conveys many meanings about autonomy at University A. Specifically, the policy object of tuition conveys five communities of meaning: (a) decision-making authority is conditional and strictly constrained by the state's regulations; (b) decision-making authority is the right of University A to make strategic decisions on tuition without requiring ministerial approvals; (c) decision-making authority is bounded by responsibility; (d) tuition is a symbol of self-financing, a condition to be granted autonomy; and (e) decision-making authority is associated with the sharing of costs for higher education with the society.

Conditional Decision-Making Authority on Tuition. A majority of participants share the understanding that University A's decision-making authority is strictly constrained by conditions set by the state. Participants repeatedly referred to the right to determine tuition fees as a typical example of conditional authority. One participant said:

Well, they named the policy "autonomy", but it is conditions that are catching my eyes.

Honestly, I only see conditions in the policy, not the right at all. I am overwhelmed by conditions. I am not feeling authority that we can own and enjoy. To exercise the right to

define our own tuition rates, we must meet so many conditions, such as covering daily expenses by ourselves, achieving quality assurance certificates from the MOET, establishing the University Council, and decentralizing our organizational structure at departmental and individual levels. In addition, we must satisfy detailed conditions on reporting such as providing tuition levels for each academic year, with clear justifications on the calculation of costs, in the report submitted to the Prime Minister. These conditions to gain autonomy on tuition fees are repeatedly stated in various important policy documents such as the Law No. 34, Resolution 77, or Decision 6600. (D01)

This participant highlights the contingent authority of University A—that the university must meet many conditions set by the state to secure the right to autonomy. For this participant, authority is limited because it is contingent on conditions. Another leader asked, "If they have decided to give us autonomy to determine our tuition fees, why don't they relax those conditions?" (D03). This leader questions the existence of conditions and suggests they ought to be removed if the state has decided to grant autonomy. Another participant commented:

I feel that the price of autonomy is too high. It is not only about many conditions that we must meet, but also about the state's funding that we must give up when we cover expenses on our own to gain autonomy on tuition. In other words, in implementing the autonomy policy, we are accepting a trade-off between freedom and governmental funding. (C07)

The metaphor *price of autonomy* suggests that autonomy is expensive and that University A must pay a high price for it. That price is the part of state funding that University A must give up to gain autonomy. Ultimately, having autonomy means University A accepts trade-offs in terms of finance, that is, a budget cut-off, and must strive to meet new standards in many areas such as the establishment of a University Council and a guarantee of employability for graduates. One

participant commented on how difficult it would be for many university institutions to achieve these conditions:

I am curious about the number of universities in Vietnam that can meet such many conditions of autonomy, especially the employment rates of graduates—which is almost unanticipated—and the capacity to be self-financing for operating expenses—which poses a challenge for universities that have difficulty in navigating funding sources beyond the state budget. (C06)

As this comment indicates, the state's conditions are difficult to meet; they create challenges for public universities in gaining authority to make decisions on tuition rates. My finding that conditional authority at University A is linked to tuition is consistent with findings of prior studies which also report that any autonomy granted by the MOET seems to be conditional (Vo, 2018; Dao, 2015). Vo (2018), for example, cited a condition that requires the purchase of blank certificate templates from the MOET, arguing that it is a way for the ministry to hold back power and benefits.

In summary, through the policy object of tuition, one interpretive community of leaders identified challenges and barriers to their use of decision-making authority—conditions that are not easy for universities to meet. The paradox of delegating authority while also creating constraints means the autonomy granted by the state to University A is very limited. University leaders expressed the idea that autonomy means some distance or freedom from state conditions concerning tuition and thus, for some participants, a community of meaning formed around the notion of conditional autonomy—around the notion that University A's decision-making authority is strictly constrained by the state's conditions. Conditional autonomy seems conflicting with the meaning communicated in policy documents that autonomy, is, first and foremost, the right of

University A to make its own decisions. Conflict of meanings could be owing to the different ways in which the interpretive community of policymakers and the interpretive community of leaders at University A frame conditions of autonomy. As I demonstrated in Chapter 6 through analysis of the government's position as articulated in the document, these conditions are intended to facilitate the new official structure of an autonomous university. They are different from the strict caps set by the state on tuition. Even with flexibility in the setting of tuition fees, however, participants at University A see such conditions as constraints on their self-determining capacity. These conflicting meanings in how participants interpret a policy have important implications for the implementation of the autonomy policy (Chapter 9).

Decision-Making Authority as the Right to Make Decisions. Many participants describe decision-making authority as their ability to determine tuition rates—as the ability to make strategic decisions on tuition rates on their own, without being subject to stringent caps set by the Central Government. A stringent cap on tuition fees is different from the conditions set by the state as understood by the community of meaning described above. Stringent caps specify the state's strict limits on tuition rates—University A cannot charge students more than that limit. In Vietnam, however, the state's limits have been evaluated as too low because revenues from tuition are not enough to compensate for the operating costs of a public university (Ha, 2011; Vietnam Television, 2020). One participant explained:

Our university is autonomous, and tuition is no longer subject to the caps set by the government. The caps on tuition used to be our main concern. Yet, now we can self-determine tuition levels for all programs—either normal or high-quality, and we have significantly increased tuition rates over the past few years. Definitely, our tuition has been increased based on an appropriate plan, not 1 VND today and 10 VND tomorrow. (D06)

This comment points out the limit on tuition as the main concern of this interpretive community of leaders. To them, the biggest barrier to gaining autonomy is the tuition cap, not other factors such as conditions articulated by the interpretive community of leaders described above. The state's tuition cap restrains their autonomy so much that when it is removed, they can sense their decision-making authority. This comment is consistent with the findings of document analysis—University A is autonomous in defining tuition levels and considerably increased fees in recent years. This comment also suggests that participants enjoy their self-determining capacity and ability to act on financial matters.

In fact, thanks to the power of the University Council, which replaces government ministries to approve requests, leaders can receive quick approvals for spending decisions. As one participant confirmed, "University Council is now authorized by the ministries to approve our expenditure requests, which makes the appoving process very quick. Thus, we can make strategic decisions to our capacity and the society's demand" (D06). This comment is important because it refers to a neoliberal process which provides University A with the right to act strategically based on its capacity and society's demands. The university's capacity is affected by elements such as infrastructure, learning facilities, and number of professors and lecturers. Because institutional leaders know better than anyone else the institution's capacity and strengths, they can make better informed decisions about what their tuition rates should be. The term society here is meant to denote students as consumers in the market who want education services and are willing to pay the fees set by the university. Overall, participants in this interpretive community view autonomy as the right to act strategically within the supply-demand rules of the market:

Tuition rates are now determined at our discretion, with no regulated caps. Yet, this does not mean we can set tuition at any rate, because it is definitely contingent on the payment

capacity of customers and moderated by the supply-demand rules of the market. Given our university's prestige, we could set our tuition at higher rates to earn more revenues, but we need to be aware of the market signals. If our tuition is too high, no one will choose us. And I think that's the main idea of autonomy, the state removes restrictions to leave the market moderate how much students should be charged. (D06)

The idea expressed by this participant shows that these leaders acknowledge the supply-demand rule of the market as part of the working mechanism of autonomy. As a moderator, the supply-demand rules will help University A define tuition levels appropriate to the capacity of students to pay. If University A charges tuition at high levels, which it could do given its autonomy, students may not be able to afford their education services and will turn to other universities. Such a development occurred at a typical medical university in South Vietnam which, when it gained autonomy, increased tuition from 13 million VND per year to 70 million per year (Le, 2020). As a consequence, in the 2020 admission season, students moved from South Vietnam to North Vietnam to pursue medical qualifications, reinforcing the point that public universities, because of moderation by the supply-demand rules of the market, cannot set tuition at their own discretion, even when the state imposes no restrictions.

Several leaders who participated in the present study argued that within the Vietnamese socialist-oriented market economy, a certain intervention of the state occurs to ensure equity. In other words, tuition rates are not left to be totally moderated by supply-demand rules. As Yang et al. (2007) have said, the market can be deaf and blind; thus, the state has a necessary role in ensuring equity. In fact, in enacting the autonomy policy the Vietnamese government has always emphasized the benefits of access to higher education for disadvantaged, minority, and low-income students (Prime Minister, 2014a, b; MOET, 2016). The Official Dispatch (MOET, 2016),

for example, states that "autonomy must be connected to the university's responsibility to guarantee access to higher education for low-income students" (p.1). This means that in implementing its autonomy, University A must ensure that students from low-income families have opportunities to access higher education services.

The state's intervention in the market mechanism on this aspect has created two sub-communities of meaning. Taking the side of the state, one group of leaders acknowledges the state's intervention as a necessary part of an autonomy mechanism to ensure equity in education. Realistically, leaders enjoy their ability to act strategically within market-driven dynamics, given the Vietnamese government's orientation towards a socialist-oriented market economy:

I think the state's consistent ideology expressed in Resolution 77 is to liberate public universities from rigid and bureaucratic regulations of state management agencies, and to ensure universities operate under the market mechanism, with a certain level of intervention from the state. (C04)

As evidenced in this comment, these leaders argue that the state's intervention should be expected in a socialist society. In contrast, other leaders view the supply-demand rules of the market and the state's emphasis on access to higher education for low-income students as a limit to their authority. As one participant said, "We need to keep in mind the Vietnamese people's living standards in defining tuition levels, so I don't think we are quite autonomous in this aspect" (D04). In fact, Vietnam is still a developing country with a low GDP per capita (World Bank, 2018). Therefore, participants insist, although University A can charge tuition fees at its discretion—even at high rates given its reputation and high-quality education—a limit always exists. By creating a policy in support of low-income students, the government is intervening and limiting the university's self-determining capacity.

**Bounded Responsibility in Decision-Making Authority.** For most participants from University A, having decision-making authority on tuition means they are charged with, or bounded by, more responsibilities, and they are willing to accept those responsibilities in exchange for decision-making authority. One leader expressed his acceptance of those additional obligations:

If a public university is allowed to act independently, self-responsibility for its performance and financial aspects should be expected. Simply speaking, university leaders should be prepared to hold more responsibility if they have more power. There ain't no such thing as a free lunch. (C04)

The comparison evoked in this comment expresses the participant's willingness to accept obligations in return for the autonomy he enjoys. The metaphoric meaning of *no free lunch* indicates that there seems to be a kind of exchange happening here, in which the leaders enjoy the freedom of autonomy paid for through the price of obligations. Another senior leader was also in favor of accepting more responsibility in exchange for more power:

I think it is fair to be both autonomous and self-responsible. Now that our university is autonomous, so there are more burdens on the Rectorate's shoulders. The more authority they have, the more responsibility they must bear for, including financial loss. (C06)

Again, this comment emphasizes that, in acquiring delegated power, the Rector and Vice-Rectors accept more responsibility to the state. These responsibilities are significant; the Rector and Vice-Rectors, in performing these duties, become more powerful. The change here is in the transfer of responsibilities together with decision-making authority from the ministries to the Rectorate. The Rector and Vice-Rectors also have responsibility, to parents and students, to provide good education services equivalent to the tuition they charge. In a broad sense, this is an

important recognition of the social responsibility of public universities to provide qualified human resources for the labor market.

These leaders understand that the authority they are granted is bounded by the financial obligations of the university itself; University A must be self-financing in its operating and investing expenses, without access to governmental budgets. One participant commented, "As part of the autonomy concept, we accept the financial obligation to have autonomy. What does it mean by autonomy if you are still financially dependent on your parents?" (A01). In fact, the trade-off between authority and the government's funding for University A means that University A accepts financial responsibility in exchange for autonomy.

Another participant said, "Yet, before being cut off from the state's budget, we need time to prepare. In other words, the state must have an appropriate plan for the budget cutoff so that we can prepare for it" (C06). Talking about the process of budget cutoff and gaining financial autonomy, another participant said, "Initially, we only have autonomy in operating activities" (C05). This means University A was, first, self-financing for operating expenses, such as the payment of salary for employees, and still used governmental budget to cover investing expenditure. This point was elaborated by another participant:

Our university has been autonomous in spending for operating activities since 2018. We have survived, which means our revenues, mainly from tuition fees, are enough to cover our operating expenses. Therefore, the government has expanded our autonomy to other activities such as the investment and purchase of long-term assets. (A01)

University A is self-financing and has gained authority over the spending of its own capital and over its investing activities. The power to make decisions in these matters reflects a shared understanding amongst the leaders: "We enjoy making our own decisions on the usage of our

revenues on teaching, research, and many other activities" (D02). Respondents also commented that University A's level of authority concerning operating expenses was particularly high because the university no longer uses the state's budget to cover these expenses. This argument especially rang true for the payment of additional incomes. As one Dean said:

Since our university was granted autonomy, we have been very proactive and flexible in paying additional incomes for our employees. This is because we do not use the public money for operating activities, hence we do not have to follow the government's regulations. (D06)

Thanks to its strong financial autonomy, University A has gained more independence in research activities. It established its own fund for international publications and increased funding for projects. A university-level project funded by the state, for example, receives 10 to 15 million VND. With its financial autonomy and own budget, University A provides up to 50 million VND. Individuals who can publish papers in ISI journals with an impact factor of 4.0 are rewarded 200 million VND (equivalent to 11,500 CAD), a very high reward given the annual salary of a lecturer (approximately 70 million VND, equivalent to 3,000 CAD). These reward strategies are being used by University A to encourage lecturers to conduct research.

Tuition as a Symbol of Self-Financing. Many leaders said they were not under great pressure to be self-financing for operating expenditures—one of the six conditions for the granting of autonomy—because University A has a large source of revenue from tuition fees. One participant confidently said, "We are not afraid of this financial obligation because the demand for higher education in Vietnam is very high. If the state cuts off the budget, we still survive thanks to incomes from tuition fees" (D06). Tuition fees, the most important source of funding under the new mechanism of autonomy (Revised Higher Education Law, 2018), are helping University A

cover daily expenses which formerly were covered by the national budget. In other words, tuition fees now ensure the financial survival of University A.

One participant indicated his understanding of the market and students when he pointed out that "the Vietnamese have a longstanding respect for learning and a strong belief in the importance of higher education for personal future. Therefore, for their future to be realized, families often make considerable investment on tertiary education for their children" (D05). Another university leader shared the same viewpoint: "As you already know, in Vietnam people love to study, and families always aim for their children to go to college. They only see tertiary education as the brightest path for the future of their kids" (D02). Because of this belief, most Vietnamese families are willing to invest their assets in their children's higher education. Another leader commented:

This is not to mention our university's reputation on offering the most popular programs, for which the learners' demand is very high. The citizens in this city also have high income and they are willing to pay for their education. (C06)

Overall, University A is experiencing advantages arising from a large potential market of students who are willing to pay for its products and help to cover its cost. Self-financing of operating expenses, such as monthly salaries for academic staff, is not, therefore, "a big deal," as one leader said: "Many universities really want to be autonomous, especially strong ones, with a large number of students enrolling every year like this university. That is because they can benefit from a very good source of tuition fees" (C02). In fact, tuition plays a crucial role in the life of this autonomous Vietnamese public university because the state's budget has been cut off and other funding sources such as endowments are not yet accessible. Thus, University A has turned to tuition as its main source of funding. As Buckner and Zapp (2020) argue, public universities in neoliberal times resemble private counterparts in their dependence on tuition. Accordingly, tuition has become a

symbol for the financial status as well as the autonomy status of University A, because whether the university can gain autonomy or not depends on its acquiring revenue from tuition.

**Tuition as a Symbol of Cost-Sharing.** Other interviews with participants revealed that tuition fees represent, symbolically, the socialization of higher education in Vietnam. The following comment shared by a participant illuminates this argument:

I don't think University A is entirely self-responsible for its expenditure. If the university's cost is shared by the students and parents because it has the advantage of offerring highly socialized majors which have very high demand from the society, it is the socialization of education, or cost-sharing. In a broad sense, this is a typical example of socialization of public services. In this case, the financial burden is not entirely on University A's shoulder—it is shared with the society. (D07)

This participant, arguing that costs are shared with students, parents, and society in general, counters the understanding expressed by the interpretive community of leaders that sees

University A as self-financing. The concept of socialization of education is consistent with the findings of Tran et al. (2017) that "the education cost is partly shifted from the government to the society, especially families" (p. 1902) instead of resting fully on the university. Vo (2018), however, debates the notion that taking advantage of tuition revenues in order to gain autonomy is a shift of financial burden from the state to students. Pham and Vu (2019) argue that autonomy implicates the meaning of generating alternative non-budgetary sources of revenue—tuition, under the label of socialization but at the cost paid by the student. Therefore, the term *cost-sharing* rather than *self-financing* better reflects the current financial status of Vietnamese public universities that have switched from being wholly government-subsidized to using a cost-sharing mechanism. However, the comment quoted above also indicates the limited role of socialization

of education as a strategy for public universities to use in navigating funding sources.

Socialization only works for universities that can offer majors that are in high demand, such as business in the case of University A.

In summary, the policy object of tuition carries five communities of meaning for participants from University A, as revealed in the language they used to talk about autonomy. Through the policy object of tuition, leaders interpreted decision-making authority as their right to make their own decisions within the rules of the market, without seeking ministerial approvals. To many participants, tuition stands out amongst other matters as affecting the financial status as well as the autonomy status of University A. However, limitations exist on their decision-making authority in the form of conditions that must be met if they are to be granted autonomy, the supply-demand rules of the market, and the state's intervention to ensure equity in education. In addition, authority is accompanied by financial obligations as well as responsibility to the state, students, parents, and society at large.

There are two points of conflict in these five communities of meaning. While a majority of participants say their decision-making authority is strictly constrained by the state's conditions, others emphasize authority as their right to make strategic decisions without any restrictions being set by the state. These conflicting opinions can be explained by the different ways in which participants understand the conditions set by the state. While participants in the first interpretive community remember their experience with the former, centralized governance system as they think about how to interpret conditions governing autonomy, participants in the second interpretive community look at those conditions from a neoliberal perspective which supports the policy. The two interpretive communities also hold different expectations, with the

former expecting conditions to be removed and the latter thinking an escape from the ministry's control already means autonomy.

University A's main source of income from tuition has created a hot debate about financial self-responsibility and the socialization of education. Again, this can be explained by differences in understanding. On the one hand, participants looking at tuition from the viewpoint of University A wonder how to navigate funding once the state's budget is cut off. On the other hand, participants concerned with the socialization of education view tuition from the perspectives of students and express concern about consequences for students. However, both financial self-responsibility and socialization convey the same meaning for autonomy: gaining decision-making authority means University A must be financially independent from the state.

## Decision-Making Authority as the Right to act versus Being Control

Along with tuition, participants used other policy objects to communicate their understanding of decision-making authority: program of study, textbook, and the process for recruiting foreign scholars. These policy objects indicate two contrary communities of meaning: (a) decision-making authority as the right of University A to make strategic decisions based on its capacity and the rules of the market; and (b) the state always applies restrictions through the mechanism of ministerial control.

**Program of Study.** The policy object that I call program of study—the academic or vocational education a student receives and which is intended to lead to a degree, diploma, or certificate—involves two communities of meaning. While some participants understand decision-making authority as their right to make decisions on programs of study based on the rules of the market, others suggested that all authority was accompanied by state restrictions. In particular, one interpretive community of participants said they enjoyed the right to act

strategically on teaching matters, as evidenced by the comment, "Authority means we can open, change, or adjust our programs, including international cooperative ones, to provide the best education quality for learners" (D06). Another participant said:

We are not limited to what program to open or the number of students to admit. We can define strategically the programs and enrollment numbers appropriate with our strengths and capacity, that is, the number of professors and lecturers that we have, our infrastructure, spearheading majors, as well as the society's demand. (D07)

In other words, leaders emphasized they are free to define what to offer based on program capacity and the demands of society. Such a belief is highlighted further by other participants who said, "If we want to open any program, we should prove our capacity for it, instead of adhering to the MOET's decision" (D02), and, "In this neoliberal time, programs have to be elastic to the learners' demand and follow the signals from the market. I think this is a global trend" (C02). These comments point to the implications of the supply-demand rules of the market. Accordingly, the opening of any training program will be moderated by the demand of students and the capacity of the university to provide appropriate services. The significance of having this self-determining capacity was also shared: "Authority to open programs enhanced University A's flexibility in updating and developing programs as well as expanding partners" (D06). Overall, the capacity to act strategically based on capacity and market rules, without seeking approvals from the ministries on teaching matters, illustrates how these university leaders make sense of decision-making authority.

Given the significance of teaching in Vietnam's higher education sector, gaining authority over programs is important if University A is to survive as an autonomous entity. Most Vietnamese public universities are teaching-oriented; teaching rather than research is their

primary activity. Therefore, autonomy in teaching means a university can do many things that formerly were restricted in Vietnam—change learning materials, select teaching approaches, or move towards internationalization. Although University A aims to become a research-oriented university, teaching remains its strength and key revenue generating activity. One participant spoke of the financial benefits that accrue from teaching, and why gaining decision-making authority in teaching is crucial:

As I emphasize, the current strength of Vietnamese universities is teaching. Therefore, autonomy in teaching means a lot to them. Everyone debates a lot more about autonomy in teaching than in research because gaining autonomy over teaching brings more benefits than research. (D07)

Other participants, however, said that any authority University A has been granted is accompanied by restrictions. One leader elaborated this point, referring to restrictions on the opening of new programs as an example:

If you read the policy carefully enough, you will see that any autonomous right delegated to our university has a limit. For example, to open a new program, we must meet many conditions such as the number of doctors, facilities, and infrastructure which are normal. Yet, the point is, our university's discretion only applies to the programs in the MOET's prescribed list! This means the opening of new programs beyond the list must gain the ministerial approval. (C04)

In other words, state control still exists through the mechanism of ministerial approval.

**Textbook.** The findings from interviews with leaders at University A indicate that there are two communities of meaning on textbooks. While some participants said they saw their authority to use foreign textbooks as a symbol of their academic freedom, others said their power

was limited because they were required to use only Vietnamese textbooks for political courses. In other parts of the curriculum, however, University A can move towards internationalization by importing and using textbooks from Western publishers. This right helps University A make breakthroughs in curriculum by changing all its former textbooks. As the Dean of one department proudly said, "We are very strong in using foreign textbooks" (D03). In Vietnam, learning materials are strictly controlled to ensure the following of the Vietnamese Communist Party's ideology. However, recent studies have pointed out weaknesses in those textbooks—that, for example, the contents are outdated and suitable only for traditional teacher-centered approaches to education (Tran et al., 2017). These old textbooks and teaching methods have been criticized for limiting the creativity and self-learning capacity of students (Nguyen et al., 2016). Therefore, gaining the right to use foreign textbooks is significant because it not only helps University A to modernize its curriculum, it sends a strong signal about academic freedom.

University A is not, however, allowed to abolish political courses which reflect the Vietnamese Communist Party's ideology. One Dean said it is compulsory for University A to include these courses in its curriculum even though the contents are not required for many majors. Furthermore, the university must in these courses use textbooks written by Vietnamese authors. As the University Rector said, "We have significantly gained our academic freedom through the right to use foreign textbooks. Yet, the MOET still intervenes by setting a limit on which courses we can't remove out of our curriculum" (A01). For this reason, two other participants contend they do not really have academic autonomy. Overall, conflict concerning the kinds of textbooks University A convey the meaning that the state is still trying to control University A's decision-making authority; which makes the university's academic freedom somewhat limited.

**Recruitment of Foreign Scholars.** Many participants described decision-making authority as their right to resolve important issues quickly, without seeking approvals from the ministries. Specifically, one Vice-Rector, who was primarily in charge of the implementation of autonomy policy at University A, said:

In terms of the nature of autonomy, if rightly understood, the state must allow universities to make their own decisions on important issues such as teaching, reaseach, financial, and personnel without being subject to the ministries' regulations, reporting requirements, and approving procedures. For example, the state has granted us the right to recruit foreign scholars without gaining work permits from the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and Social Affairs. (B01)

This comment acknowledges the important right University A has gained concerning the recruitment of international scholars, that is, the right to do so without asking for ministerial approval. This participant went on:

Realizing the role of internationalization of higher education, we have made effort to attract foreign scholars to work with us. However, we face the restriction from the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and Social Affairs in getting work permits for foreigners. Thus, gaining this authority creates ideal conditions for us to strengthen our internationalization strategy. (B01)

The head of the International Cooperation and Research Office also commented on the significance of this power to the process of internationalization at University A:

As stated in Resolution 99, we can recruit foreign scholars without gaining work permits. This process is time-consuming and sometimes prevents foreigners from working with us. With this privilege, things are opened for us! We can strategically recruit foreigners

without any barrier, which will help our university to integrate into the international education market. (C06)

This special right was also emphasized by other leaders during their interviews (A01, C04). Thus, it seems that participants understand their authority as in relationship with ministries. Concerning University A's overall level of authority, one Vice-Rector proudly said, "I can tell you that, in general, my university is 95% autonomous, which means 95% of what we are doing now are no longer subject to the MOET's approval" (B01). Why are leaders so obsessed with ministerial approvals? As participants said, "Our biggest challenge in implementing autonomy policy is seeking approval from many ministerial levels. The process is very slow, cumbersome, bureaucratic, but not always approved," (C06) and "sometimes the process takes up to two years, [during which time] other universities might steal our ideas because the ministries shared with them" (B01). Therefore, as one leader said, "Removing the ministerial control make us feel like we [have] untied the shackles [of] the operating process" (C04). Overall, participants could sense their authority when the ministerial approval procedure on recruiting foreign scholars was abolished; they appreciate this privilege which has been granted to only three universities in Vietnam. In fact, the Vietnamese government has set very strict policies at other universities on the process of recruiting foreign scholars. The history of fighting against foreign countries to gain independence has made the government very cautious about working with foreigners. In general, this policy object again tells us that the nature of autonomy in Vietnam exists within the relationship with ministries. Therefore, when University A has the power to recruit foreigners without seeking the ministry's approval, leaders become conscious of their autonomy.

In brief, an analysis of four policy objects—tuition fees, programs, textbooks, and recruitment of foreign scholars—helps to decipher the meaning of decision-making authority as

understood by university leaders. My overall findings indicate that the decision-making authority delegated from the state to University A is always restricted. Across the four different policy artifacts, participants articulate a recurring paradox between the delegation of decision-making authority and restriction on the use of that authority. Underlying this paradox is a struggle, an interaction between the former centralized governance system and the new governance mechanism of autonomy. In the next section I describe how accountability is understood by participants at University A, and offer further insights on how and why decision-making authority is viewed as conditional and restricted.

#### Meaning of Accountability Measures to Participants from University A

Here I analyze three metaphors used by participants, metaphors that carry the policy meaning about accountability: *a bird locked in a cage, a Vietnamese parent-children relationship, and when the cat is away, the mice will play*. For each of these metaphors, I explain its literal meaning: What, for example, does *a bird locked in a cage* mean, and what are characteristics of a cage? I then explain the metaphor's symbolic meaning and apply it to the notion of accountability in the institutional and policy context of University A and Vietnam's higher education sector: In what way is accountability like a cage? When and where do the features of a cage appear when we think of accountability? What in accountability is reminiscent of the attributes of a cage? By uncovering the metaphoric roots of policy language, I discover the architecture of policy arguments and offer an overall picture of what accountability means to participants. Two communities of meaning exist concerning accountability. One community views accountability as exerting constraints on autonomy; the other community insists that accountability should be implemented by the state to limit gaming practices, although it should not be overused.

#### A Bird Locked in a Cage

The metaphor of a bird locked in a cage indicates a life without freedom; a bird has no capacity or freedom to explore and try new things. The cage represents strict controls applied to the bird. University A is like the bird—under the strict control of the state's accountability measures which act like the bird's cage. As evidenced from interviews, most participants insist University A is subject to many accountability measures—primarily in the form of regulations, reporting requirements, and approving procedures which put constraints on their decision-making authority. The following comments highlight their point that decisions are contingent on meeting many conditions set by the state: "Basically, we must be accountable for everything we did to the state management agencies and ministries" (B01); "Our university has lots of accountability to the MOET, including the state's audit and the submission of reports every 6-month, at the end of the year, or even irregular reports as requested" (C07); and, "Our challenge is being granted autonomy but also having too many regulations and reporting requirements to comply with" (D01). These participants point out a range of control measures that are being applied to University A—auditing, reporting, and regulations which, in general, mean the university must be accountable for every aspect of its operation. Thus, university leaders feel they are still being strictly controlled in spite of their legal autonomous status:

We must be accountable for everything to the ministries. I can say that in spite of autonomy, we are still being controlled in terms of state administration, so we cannot escape from them. We are just like a bird dancing in their cage. (C02)

This comment introduced the *locked cage* metaphor for the first time in my interviews.

Subsequently, other participants also mentioned it as a way to communicate and summarize their understanding of accountability. Through the image of a bird locked in a cage, the participants

expressed their view that the university has very limited autonomy because the ministries are still monitoring everything. The locked cage is a metaphoric constraint on their authority to act. This is a recurring meaning that has been already shared by one interpretive community of leaders on the policy object of tuition fees—that decision-making authority is strictly constrained by the state's conditions. The only difference between participants' views lies in the policy concepts they used to communicate their understanding of autonomy: decision-making authority in the previous section and accountability in this section. While decision-making authority lists conditions that University A must meet to be granted autonomy, accountability emphasizes strict control measures—with specific procedures applied to the university. Some examples of such control measures are the state's auditing of University A's financial statements; the MOET's quality assurance measures for teaching and learning activities; and ministerial approval procedures for any request from the university. In general, conditions required for the granting of decision-making authority and controls specified in accountability measures are complementary. They signal University A's limited autonomy, and that the autonomy policy does not set the university free from state control.

In-depth interviews with participants revealed many accountability measures to which University A is subject, its autonomy notwithstanding:

Although our university is autonomous, we are still subject to the inspection and supervision of the ministries, state audit, quality assurance, and accreditation procedures. We must also get approvals for construction projects. I don't feel like our university is actually autonomous. (D04)

This comment points to a paradox: an autonomous university is governed by a variety of measures that limit its authority so much that the participant does not believe it is there at all. Several leaders emphasized that amongst many accountability measures, the biggest barrier is receiving ministerial

approvals; University A must not only comply with many regulations but also follow very bureaucratic procedures. First and foremost, University A is under the MOET's direct control; most of its decisions, therefore, must be submitted to that ministry: "We must report to and get approval from the MOET to open a new study program" (D03). This comment reinforces my findings on the policy object of study program which indicate that University A's authority is limited to the MOET's prescribed list of programs. In addition, depending on activities, University A is subject to the approval procedures of many related ministries which have different, even contradictory, regulations and requirements, as one example given by a participant demonstrated:

It took two years to get the construction project of our new campus approved. We need to get approvals from the MOET, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Construction, the Ministry of Planning and Investment, and the Ministry of Home Affairs, with different regulations. (C04)

This participant points out the legacy of the former centralized organizational structure and its many ministries and administrative levels. The system has been strongly criticized for its inefficiency for many years but nothing has changed (Dao, 2015). Consequently, it is commonly known that administrative procedures in Vietnam's public sector are cumbersome and that the process of seeking approval at many ministerial levels is slow, bureaucratic, and not always successful. Approval processes can take two years—long enough to obstruct the efficiency of university performance and to raise questions about why the process exists and what purpose it serves (Hayden & Lam, 2007; Dao, 2015). Even though administrative approval procedures represent the strong legacy of the former centralized governance system and are, in fact, no longer necessary, removing them is, for many reasons, not easy. They are connected to the power structures of related ministries (Dao & Hayden, 2010) or to other ministries that are simply

unwilling to change (Tran, 2014). Many participants expressed their frustration with the monitoring mechanism:

The administrative procedures [that require us] to [seek] ministerial approvals are too lengthy and cumbersome, which make us so discouraged and hesitant in making any plans. We sometimes even lost our ideas and opportunities to other universities because of the long waiting time for approvals. (B01)

This comment indicates the consequences of lengthy approval procedures—reduced working morale and loss of ideas and opportunities. The metaphorical cage of ministerial approval creates a mental cage that restrains University A's morale and capacity to work. One participant criticized the approval procedure by pointing out the barrier it creates to working with international scholars:

Before the Resolution 99 was released, we have been really concerned with how to invite foreign scholars to work with us, without having any approving barrier from the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and Social Affairs. The approving procedure was so time-consuming, cumbersome, and bureaucratic. (A01)

Indeed, the procedure of asking for and getting approval is so common that it has created a culture of *asking-approving* in Vietnam's public sector. Many Vietnamese people refer to it as a social norm in daily conversation. Clearly, it restrains University A's capacity to act, as one leader noted: "We are granted the rights to make own decisions. However, we are trapped in many regulations and conditions to use those authority. This, in my opinion, means that the state even controls us more tightly" (D01). This comment illustrates the paradox between being delegated authority and being constrained in using it.

Leaders also point out weaknesses in Vietnam's accountability system—that it is outdated, trivial, and inconsistent:

This is not to mention accountability system in Vietnam has been outdated and too detailed. For example, we are required to submit every receipt for printing materials, instead of reporting a lump sum for miscellaneous cost. This makes the reporting process very complicated and annoying. (D05)

This comment illustrates a very inefficient kind of reporting—a requirement to submit every receipt for miscellaneous expenses rather than report a lump sum, a cumbersome procedure that not only wastes time and resources but that also limits a participant's motivation to work. Here, the weakness of an accountability measure has created a mental cage that limits working morale. Other interviews also recounted the weaknesses of accountability measures. As one participant said, "The reporting requirements and evaluation set by the ministries are too detailed, and when we submit our report, not everything is accepted for the first time" (C03). Again, the participant recounts a reporting process that is not only trivial but time-consuming in requiring participants to resubmit many times. An additional problem of accountability was shared by another leader:

The legal frameworks for accountability in the initial phase of autonomy have not been updated and standardized to facilitate the new governance mechanism of autonomy. For examples, while doctoral programs have been internationalized with the presence of foreign professors on thesis committees, work permits were not widely granted for foreigners, until recently, or a PhD by publications is not accepted by the MOET. (D01)

The main issue this leader identifies is the incomparability of policy documents, which causes conflicts in implementing internationalization initiatives at University A. Specifically, while the MOET approved the recruitment of foreign professors, the Ministry of Labor, Invalids, and

Social Affairs did not, until recently. In a report published by the MOET (2017), reporting requirements have been criticized for being outdated, overlapping, asynchronous, and not updated in a timely way. Consequently, some content in policy documents may be subject to contradictory regulations at different administrative levels, causing confusion and delay in implementation. The number of staff that University A can recruit serves as an example. One leader said, "Resolution 77 and Decision 6600 released by the Central Government stated we are autonomous in recruiting staff to optimize our performance. In reality, University A is still subject to the quota set by the Ministry of Home Affairs" (C01). The Technical Report of University A (2017) also confirms the university is still subject to the number of staff and to labor contracts approved by the ministries. Moreover, the university's authority is not extended to organizing and managing the examinations used to upgrade the rank of senior lecturers. These personnel matters are still under the ministries' strict control.

Although inconsistencies in policy content cause confusion, such inconsistencies are not new in Vietnam, as one participant observed:

They removed conditions here and control there. They set it free, and then they squeeze it out. Every time a new minister is appointed, we have new policies. I personally think policymakers must be consistent and strategic in designing public policy. They should look at the whole picture and have a long-term vision, instead of continuously change according to each minister's tenure. (C06)

This comment suggests a lack of overview amongst policymakers in making policies. It also indicates that the implementation of autonomy policy as not an ongoing and coherent project of university governance reform. This opinion, however, is debatable; some leaders argue that it is difficult for policymakers to have a long-term vision over many tenures. As Ørberg and Wright

(2019) suggest, nobody has a *helicopter eye view* of how governing instruments should work; reform policy, therefore, is usually formulated within a leader's own limited understanding, position, and context, and within a limited time period. Ørberg and Wright (2019) also point out that changes in policy content sometimes happen simply because the minister must complete initiatives during his tenure, even if these are contradictory to contemporary policy. Vu (2016) suggests that frequent amendments to Vietnam's policy documents are primarily owing to a top-down authoritarian approach: the state releases a policy without considering the voices of other actors, then strong reactions from those actors require the state to amend the content of the policies.

When asked about reasons for the weakness of accountability measures, university leaders commented on the ministries' unwillingness to give up power, on a gap between policy and practice, and on the lack of capacity required to design new frameworks:

Given an asking-approving mechanism, accountability—through regulations and approvals—is a good way that the ministries can hold back their power and respective benefits. They are not willing to hand over power and lose any accompanying benefit, so they must keep those approving procedures. (B01)

This comment points out that accountability measures are not simply designed to uphold the rule of law but to strengthen the ministry's power and to secure the benefits that accompany their authority to approve. The ministries try to hold back their power, creating yet more challenges for the implementation of autonomy policy. Other participants contend that the obsolescence of accountability measures is due to the gap between policy and practice:

There is a discrepancy in the implementation process of autonomy policy. Although the autonomy policy was ratified by the Prime Minister and the Central Government, other

regulations at ministerial levels have not been updated, which led to the inconsistency between policy documents, as well as the gap between policy and practice. (D05)

That gap is reflected in the difference between the content of policy documents and participants' observations of the implementation of those policies. For example, while it is written in the Revised Higher Education Law (2018) that the state uses performance-based accountability measures to monitor University A's performance, participants said the state primarily monitors university compliance to various regulations and requirements. The difference here could be blamed on the timeline of the policy implementation process, which is currently in the first phase. This means there is lots of work for policymakers, especially at ministerial levels, in amending and updating policy documents. Still other participants point to limits in the state's capacity to design new accountability frameworks, and to the challenge of designing a set of appropriate performance indicators. One leader said:

I personally think that the ministries are still confused in implementing the new policy. They are not capable of designing appropriate performance indicators. Therefore, the accountability system is kept intact in the forms of existing regulations, reporting requirements, and approving procedures. (C06)

This comment points to one of the essential conditions required to implement decentralization successfully—the ability to make the necessary changes (McGinn and Welsh, 1999). Ministries might, in fact, need help from the state to, for example, set up a committee to design performance indicators. Three issues then—ministries' unwillingness to release their power, an existing gap between policy and practice, and the lack of capacity to design new frameworks—contribute to weaknesses in the government's accountability system and create challenges for University A in implementing the autonomy policy.

In summary, complaints persist about excessive intervention and the many regulations, reporting requirements, and ministerial approvals that impede participants' capacity to use their delagated authority. These issues make accountability equivalent to a cage—much like the metaphor Ørberg and Wright (2019) used in describing autonomy in Danish universities: "Like a Gulliver, universities were held back in their efforts to use their strategizing power by the multiple strings attached to them by government" (p. 147). Strings and cages—both evoke a tight control mechanism which leaves universities with very limited decision-making power.

### A Vietnamese Parent-Children Relationship

In Vietnam, parents have lots of power and control over their children. Children must listen to their parents unconditionally, even when they are 18 years old. In using the Vietnamese parent-children relationship to metaphorize the relationship between the state and a public university, participants indicate that the state's control over University A is inescapable and inevitable. Accepting University A's position as a public university born of the state and financed by the national budget, many university leaders take accountability and the monitoring of university operations as a given. As one leader said:

We must acknowledge our status as a public university in Vietnam. As a public institution, we are delegated decision-making authority and provided funding by the state. Hence, we must be held accountable to the state management agencies by reporting our activities upon requested. (C04)

This participant acknowledges the identity of a Vietnamese public university and its dependence on the state in terms of allocated budget and delegated power. Using those public resources requires the university to be held accountable for its operation. Another leader shares that view:

I think accountability is the responsibility of a public institution. It's not unusual to be accountable to the state, if we are granted authorities by them. Accountability is just part of the process, in which we make own decisions, and then report what we did accordingly. It is something very normal. (C06)

These comments indicate that leaders see accountability as normal and just part of an expected process. In a vertical accountability relationship, University A is held accountable for its behavior and performance to the ministries. Being situated in a compliance-oriented accountability system means that University A is responsible for providing evidence of its compliance with state regulations—and that accountability continues even after it has gained autonomous status. Some participants perceive the accountability of an autonomous public university to the state as similar to the relationship between parents and adult children:

Similar to a parent-children relationship, even though adults can live independently from the parents when they are 18 years old, this does not mean that the parents will no longer have any control over them. They still have a parent-children relationship, and they still have the family rules to follow, right? (D07)

Basically, the state and public university are tied as though in a parent and child relationship, and the state's control over the university does not disappear despite the institution achieving maturity. Participants therefore continued to emphasize the accountability of a public university to the state: "In spite of gaining our autonomy, I don't think a public university can escape from the state's control. Autonomy will always go with accountability" (D01).

Accountability in the life of an autonomous institution is defined not only by its identity as a public university but also by the nature of the service it offers. Given the nature of higher

education as an essential public service, accountability should receive more attention as one participant argued:

Tertiary education is an essential public service. It is crucial to monitor its quality to make sure the labor market is provided with qualified human resources. Thus, autonomy does not set public universities free from governing instruments. You make your own decisions, you are self-responsible, but the state will monitor the outcomes, such as graduates who will join the job market. Did the university equip them with enough working skills? (D07)

Higher education has been identified as one of the most essential services for citizens in a knowledge-based economy, and for the development of a country such as Vietnam (Higher Education Reform Agenda, 2005). One participant expressed his acceptance of accountability as a given: "We should make it clear that *autonomy* is different from *freedom*. Therefore, it is critical to have monitoring mechanisms over public universities" (A01). Obviously, there is a huge difference in the meaning of *autonomy* and *freedom*. Freedom indicates that universities are

free, without being subject to control; autonomy, on the other hand, as argued by Ørberg and Wright (2019), means that a university must always negotiate its status or power with the state; it

can acquire more power or a higher level of status, but not complete independence from the state.

Accountability, therefore, will always be present and should be expected.

Furthermore, to illustrate that accountability is normal, some participants connect accountability to their decision-making authority and self-responsibility: "I think all aspects of authority, accountability, and self-responsibility are connected to each other, just like you have the rights to act and the accompanying obligations" (C04). This comment identifies what Ørberg and Wright (2019) call a *semantic cluster*—a group of words, in this case words of academic discourse such as authority, accountability, and responsibility—that together help to clarify

meaning. In this case, the meaning of autonomy is a set of rights that University A has gained and that will always contain obligations to the state.

Some leaders suggest that accountability is necessary for any organization regardless of its identity. In support of this position, they made comments such as these: "Not to mention *public* or *private*, any university must comply with and justify things related to the law" (D07); "I think in spite of autonomy, everything must be within the legal framework. The ministry is the legal representative, so the university must be accountable to the ministry" (C07); and, "This is just a matter of administration. We cannot leave public universities act freely without controlling education quality" (B01). These comments emphasize the point that any organization, as a legal entity, should be held accountable for its performance. In summary, by metaphorizing the relationship between the state and University A as *a Vietnamese parent-children relationship*, this interpretive community of leaders supports the use of accountability measures in implementing autonomy policy.

### When the Cat is away, the Mice will play

Many participants at University A argue that, given information asymmetry between the state and public universities, accountability is all about transparency. In other words, because the state does not know what university leaders are doing, given their autonomy to make their own decisions, accountability mechanisms must therefore be employed to increase the state's confidence in university performance. As one leader argued, "Accountability is the responsibility of a public university to report and to make transparent information to stakeholders about its compliance with regulations and laws. The point is we must convince the ministries what we did was within the legal frameworks" (D05). This participant refers to the value of accountability in enhancing trust between the state and University A, to the notion that by reporting and publicizing

Information about what they do university leaders can convince stakeholders of their transparency. Therefore, one participant said, "We must try our best to create a culture of transparency and publicity through implementing accountability measures" (D05). Accountability is a way to increase transparency, and most participants agreed that the state should apply control mechanisms to limit gaming practices on the part of higher education institutions. One leader said:

There are many concerns around transparency when public universities gain more power to make their own decisions. The Vietnamese has an old saying that *when the cat is away, the mice will play*. If they know that no one will check their work, there is a high chance that they will manipulate, for example, their enrolment numbers, or incomes. My opinion is that if the state does not have a good control mechanism over autonomous universities, they will game the system for their own benefits. (D03)

The saying that when the cat is away, the mice will play is often used to suggest that if the person in charge of a group of people is absent, the group will misbehave, or "play." In the case of public universities, they might manipulate enrolment numbers if no one checks their work. The saying does not simply describe a situation but suggests possible actions. This participant is suggesting that governmental interventions in the form of accountability measures are needed to limit gaming practices on the part of universities. In using this metaphor to convey their understanding of accountability, participants expressed their concerns about the potential uncertainty of a neoliberal policy and showed their support for accountability mechanisms. The scandal of Dong Do University in Vietnam was given by many leaders as an example of gaming practices:

Accountability is all about transparency in what you did. Without accountability, it is likely that organizations will engage in gaming practices. Therefore, I think

accountability must be applied to prevent institutions from fraud and malpractices, such as the case of Dong Do University. (D03)

Dong Do University's fraud, selling fake degrees to many students, created a scandal in 2019. The MOET discovered Dong Do had over-enrolled its quota by 280 percent (4,205 students instead of the 1,500 students permitted by the MOET) (Welch, 2016a). Some senior leaders had accepted bribes to boost enrollments and revenues. Many students were enrolled in spite of not having high school certificates. Overall, 80 percent of Dong Do students had scores lower than reported by the University Council. An investigation also revealed that the university had built no facilities, offices, or classrooms in seven years of operation (Welch, 2016a). Because of this example of institutional corruption, most participants agree that a state audit must be regularly implemented to prevent unethical practices. Participants consider auditing to be the strongest monitoring measure applied by the Central Government. A Deputy Dean said:

Annually, a group of state auditors will come to check our work. We have to justify many issues such as financial activities, recruitment of employees, the number of admitted and enrolled students for all degrees . . . They try to check if we comply with the laws and regulations such as the Labor Law, the Budget Law, or the Education Law. (D01)

This comment specifies those activities and aspects that are annually audited by the state at University A; the focus is on checking compliance with the laws. Another university leader emphasized:

Auditing the financial management of higher education institutions is getting more important given the nature of education as an essential public service. It is very tempting for institutions to engage in bribe practices, given the society's high demand on qualifications. Therefore, strict control measures must be used. (B01)

This participant, again, emphasizes the role of auditing in limiting bribery, which has become more common because of high demand for qualifications. Generally speaking, all leaders agree that accountability measures are necessary to limit opportunistic behavior and increase transparency—as long as they are not overused. One leader cautioned:

Well, I agree malpractices are not unusual in the higher education sector. Accountability is necessary, but the point is to what extent that accountability should be implemented? I don't think I agree if it is overused, because it will ruin the meaning of autonomy. (D07) Still taking the state's side, many participants suggested that before granting autonomy the state should check a university's capacity to support autonomy. Conditions will help to ensure a university is strong enough to live independently and fraud, thus, will be limited. Participants understand that the state identifies conditions for the granting of autonomy as a way to ensure the university is qualified to hold autonomous status, and that these conditions are not intended to be a barrier to autonomy. The metaphor used in the following comment illustrates this point:

In Vietnam, a university must meet conditions to be granted autonomy. Basically, these conditions are just like we only encourage adults to live independently at the age of 18, to make sure they are mature enough to be self-responsible for their lives. Children under the age of 18 must have a guardian, that is to say, because they are not ready to live on their own. (D06)

Overall, the institution of conditions makes it clear the state is taking precautions before granting autonomy as a way to prevent undesired consequence. Participants indicated their support for accountability as a vital governing tool needed to limit the university's gaming practices. If public universities game the system, the government might not achieve its goal of improving the efficiency and competitiveness of public universities in developing the nation's human resources

and in advancing knowledge in support of Vietnam's increasingly market-driven society. In this sense, accountability is experienced by participants as a sign of mistrust.

In conclusion, an analysis of three metaphors—a bird locked in a cage, a Vietnamese parent-children relationship, and the saying that when the cat is away, the mice will play—offers an overall picture of what accountability means to university participants. Two communities of meaning are revealed: (a) accountability set constraints on autonomy; and (b) accountability should be implemented by the state to limit gaming practices, although it should not be overused. In the second community of meaning, participants demonstrate agreement with the principle of accountability by metaphorizing the state-university relationship as a Vietnamese parent-children relationship and specifying reasons for supporting accountability mechanisms. They are concerned about potential uncertainty caused by the neoliberal condition and the possibility that universities, if they are granted power, might game the system and serve their own interests. These two interpretive communities use different frames to interpret the concept of accountability. One interpretive community sees only regulations, reporting requirements, and approving procedures that restrain their autonomy. These are all features of the former centralized system of governance which characterize the experience these participants had with accountability in the past. In contrast, the other interpretive community includes participants who work internationally and have a different perspective on why accountability should be expected in a neoliberal context. Overall, participants are situated knowers arguing from different standpoints and contributing significant policy arguments to the concept of accountability. Their understandings have implications for policymakers in the implementation of the autonomy policy.

# **Chapter 8**

#### Discussion

The purpose of the present study is to develop a better understanding of institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese higher education sector. In Chapters 6 and 7, I presented findings from my analysis of documents and of semi-structured interviews with senior leaders at University A. In the present chapter, I discuss these findings and answer the questions that have guided this study beginning with four research sub-questions:

- How are institutional autonomy, accountability, and university responsibility presented in the policy documents?
- How do actors in a Vietnamese public university understand decision-making authority within the new policy?
- What do accountability measures in the Vietnamese government's discourses about institutional autonomy mean to university actors?
- How is institutional autonomy enacted through the relationship between actors'
  understandings of decision-making authority and accountability in this one institution?
   I then address the primary overarching research question that guided this study: What does
  institutional autonomy mean in the context of Vietnamese higher education given the legacy of
  centralized governance system? I argue that institutional autonomy means a higher status for a

public university and more power to make decisions, rather than independence from the state. To make sense of the meaning of autonomy in the context of Vietnam's centralized governance system, I discuss my findings in light of state steering theory and relevant literature on university governance. I draw mainly on state steering theory to gain insights concerning the tensions between autonomy and control that emerge together in Vietnam's autonomy policy.

# The Steering of Vietnamese Higher Education

How are institutional autonomy, accountability, and university responsibility presented in the Vietnamese government's policy documents on autonomy, and what do these concepts mean? I argue that steering at a distance (Wright & Ørberg, 2008) emerges as a characteristic of the governance in Vietnamese higher education sector. Steering at a distance means that university leaders have authority to make strategic decisions in the market-driven dynamic, but that their autonomy is always accompanied by conditions, financial responsibility, state intervention, and accountability measures.

#### Conditional Autonomy of a Vietnamese Public University

Tuition fees are a classic example of state steering: University A is allowed to set its own tuition rates if it agrees to the ministry's conditions. Such conditional autonomy essentially defines autonomy in the Vietnamese context: The state steers universities from a distance through conditions. I follow Ørberg and Wright (2019) in claiming that the state, through the conditions it sets, steers the university towards a new identity and thereby achieves state goals for university reform. Accordingly, conditions necessary for autonomy to be granted—conditions such as establishing a University Council, meeting accreditation standards, and implementing internal expenditure regulations—are intended to establish a new official structure for an autonomous university within the shifting context of the global knowledge economy. Conditional autonomy is also used in Vietnam to determine whether or not a university is ready for autonomous status. Conditional autonomy helps to ensure that a university is strong enough to live independently, without state support. Such a test of viability is important for the future survival of autonomous institutions in the market-driven dynamic. Hence, it is important to emphasize that, in the context of Vietnamese higher education, state steering and autonomy emerge together.

As Kickert (1995) highlights, steering at a distance is not a whole or partial abolition of the government's steering capacity nor is it a form of government withdrawal. Because of a lack of effectiveness in the existing steering system, the government has simply changed its method of steering (Capano, 2011). In fact, the rationale for implementing autonomy policy in Vietnam is not about the need to reduce state power that is too strong. The Vietnamese government based its autonomy policy proposal on the ineffectiveness of Vietnam's existing centralized governance model which was seen as obstructing efficiency, flexibility, and innovation in higher education institutions (HERA, 2005). It was, therefore, necessary to change the steering method. The expectation was that autonomy, alongside steering at a distance, would be more effective in optimizing public university performance and increasing efficiency and competitiveness in Vietnam's increasingly market-driven society. With increasing effectiveness rather than the reduction of state power as the goal of university reform, a university's autonomy will always remain within the state's control; in the present case, this control exists in the form of conditions.

The meaning of autonomy as being contingent on meeting the state's conditions has been reported in the literature under the concepts of conditional autonomy (Neave, 1988), contractual autonomy (Yokoyama, 2007), and contingency (Wright & Ørberg, 2019). My findings concerning conditional autonomy on tuition are consistent with results reported by Dao (2015). Indeed, any autonomy provided by the Vietnam's MOET seems to be conditional. Public universities are allowed to confer degrees for undergraduate students but with the condition that they purchase and use certificate templates from the MOET. This requirement has also been reported in scholarly works (Vo & Laking, 2020; Vo, 2018) and in media coverage of the autonomy policy (in national newspapers, for example) (Minh, 2019) as a typical example of conditional autonomy; the ministry holds back its power and respective benefits through setting this condition. Yokoyama (2007)

indicated that the autonomy of English universities is conditional on meeting government objectives as provided in a contract; hence, it is called contractual autonomy. In Denmark, autonomy in such cases is defined as contingency (Wright & Ørberg, 2019), which means the university is subject to the state's conditions to be granted autonomy. These examples have confirmed the practice of steering at a distance through the use of conditions.

# Autonomy as the University's Self-Financing Capacity

Amongst many conditions set by the state, financial responsibilities which require universities to be self-responsible for their expenses stand out as particularly challenging. This is the meaning of autonomy for Vietnamese universities: because governance reform partially originated to relieve financial burdens on the national budget (Tran, 2014), autonomy is accompanied by financial responsibilities. In a study of the boundaries on autonomy at Vietnamese universities, George (2011) found that a university's ability to find its own funding is important in negotiating its power with the state. Le et al. (2017) discovered a connection between a university's high level of autonomy and self-financing capacity, and its ability to use its financial autonomy to increase income and negotiate more power with the state. Education policy in Vietnam since 1998 has confirmed a distinct trend toward progressively greater financial autonomy, but only for universities that have large sources of revenues (George, 2011). My findings at University A—including its use of such strategies as increasing tuition rates or depositing revenues to commercial banks to earn high interest—are consistent with the findings of prior studies conducted in Vietnam and other national contexts, and with the notion that an institution achieves an enormous level of autonomy if it can diversify its funding sources (George, 2011; Le et al., 2017; Sirat, 2010). These findings support the high degree of autonomy that University A is enjoying thanks to its self-financing capacity.

According to Wright and Ørberg (2008), self-financing is what state steering is about, with the university holding the risk. The university is set free to bear responsibility for its economic survival and respond to any cut-off in the state's budget. Drawing on the context of in Japanese higher education, Yokoyama (2008) argues that the meaning of autonomy incorporates this shift of financial responsibility from the state to national universities—a shift that makes universities responsible for their performance and for responding efficiently to the market. This finding is consistent with prior studies that explain the transfer of financial responsibilities from the state to universities—that the transfer is intended to create incentives for universities to work efficiently (Verhoest et al, 2004). In Vietnam, the egalitarian norms and values of a centralized governance system discourage universities from working efficiently to advance knowledge and the quality of education (Madden, 2014). Transferring financial responsibilities, therefore, can help to move institutions away from egalitarian ideals and push them to thrive in the competitive market while taking responsibility for their own survival (Dougherty & Natow, 2019a). This is the implication of including financial responsibility in the meaning of autonomy in the Vietnamese context.

The consequences of attaching financial responsibility to autonomy for Vietnamese public universities is an important issue for the state. Tying autonomy to a university's self-financing capacity will be a double-edged sword. Strong universities with good sources of revenues from tuition fees will be strengthened and will thrive in the market-driven dynamic. Small universities and universities that do not have many students from whom to earn tuition revenues will be disadvantaged. Autonomy may thus be a possibility only for universities with a strong financial status. How small universities can survive under an autonomous mechanism is a crucial issue the Vietnamese government will need to consider in transferring financial responsibilities.

In Denmark, small universities have had to merge with each other to become bigger and stronger. In Vietnam, with the addition of content to the Revised Higher Education Law (2018) concerning the merger of public universities, the government seems to be envisioning this scenario. Implementing the merger process, however, given its political sensitivity, will not be an easy task, notwithstanding its feasibility as evidenced in the experiences of other countries. Governance reform in Vietnam has evoked strong protests from provincial governments, local municipalities, rectors, or staffs during the imposed mergers of small public universities (Dao, 2015). Therefore, the state will need to convince relevant actors that autonomy is not affordable for small universities; it will need to create the conditions in which autonomy comes to mean strength for institutions. Small universities then will have no choice but to seek merger with other universities to achieve a scale large enough to take risks on the market.

#### Autonomy as a Neoliberal Process Involving State Intervention

Under the autonomy policy, Vietnamese universities have authority to make strategic decisions based on the demands of society and the rules of the market, albeit with a certain level of state intervention. This meaning of autonomy signals a neoliberal process driven by the market in which the state permits the supply-demand rule to moderate tuition rates and intervenes only when necessary to limit some of the potential consequences of market mechanisms. One feature of autonomy in this sense is the use in higher education contexts of business language—such as referring to university degrees as commodities (Shore, 2010). In Vietnam, the transition from a communist-style planned economy to a socialist market economy and the inclusion of economic development concerns in education policies has meant that the market has taken a central role in the governance of higher education (Pham, 2011). Accordingly, public universities have embraced neoliberal practices that foster competition for tuition, enrollment, and funding. Autonomy has thus

become characterized as a neoliberal process in which universities are strategic actors within a market-driven dynamic. These findings are consistent with those of prior studies on marketization as characteristic of the management of education in neoliberal times in other national contexts (Marginson, 1997; Krejsler, 2019a; Enders et al., 2013).

It would be misleading to perceive steering through market mechanisms as constituting government withdrawal. State intervention continues in a socialist-oriented market economy to deal with unexpected impacts of neoliberalism such as inequity in access to higher education or fraud practices at universities (Vo & Laking, 2020). In Marginson's (1997) terms, higher education is a quasi-market—something less than a full economic market because of the extent to which it is state-controlled. In a quasi-market, although the state remains the most influential actor, its role changes from that of coordinator to that of market engineer (Donina et al., 2015). Even if a quasi-market seems to transition to become a fully developed market, state control is not relaxed. In spite of marketization, therefore, state centralism in, for example, Malaysia is still strong, owing to concerns about inequity and the quality of education (Sirat, 2010). Similarly, the Vietnamese higher education system walks a line between state centralism and neoliberalism, even though market rules have become part of the working mechanism of autonomy (Madden, 2014).

Universities are harnessed to marketization in order to become more effective and responsive in the new context, but state intervention remains possible in order to limit unexpected impacts.

To close this section on how policy concepts are presented in the Vietnamese government's policy documents, I restate my finding that autonomy is presented as a steering-at-a-distance mechanism. In this meaning of autonomy, the university is given authority to make strategic decisions, yet it is not free from state steering which exists in the form of conditions, financial responsibility, and state intervention. Steering at a distance, however, presents only the

top-down vision of enactment contained in those policy documents. In an analysis of the reasons for abandoning one of the Ministry's former policies, Vietnam's Minister of Education and Training concluded that perhaps the biggest problem was that the policy had been implemented in a top-down manner; policymakers had not asked widely enough for opinions from relevant actors and had paid limited attention to and even ignored suggestions from universities.

Consequently, university leaders and academics protested the imposition of new regulations. In the next section, I discuss university leaders' understandings of policy concepts and reveal tensions in their understanding of autonomy.

### **Enactment of the Policy: A Process of Contestation over the Meaning of Autonomy**

How do actors in a Vietnamese public university understand decision-making authority within the new policy? What do accountability measures in the Vietnamese government's discourses about autonomy mean to university actors? Both of these questions concern the meaning of policy concepts as understood by university leaders. I have discerned two strands among the perspectives held by university leaders: One group shares the view with policymakers that steering at a distance has emerged with the autonomy policy; the other group argues that their freedom is severely restricted. Given the focus of the present study on tensions between decision-making authority and accountability, I discuss here how university leaders understand and contest the meaning of autonomy. I also address the research sub-question concerning how institutional autonomy is enacted through the relationship between actors' understanding of decision-making authority and accountability at University A. In answering this question, I discuss the enactment of autonomy through a process of contestation and negotiation amongst actors.

### Contestation Concerning the Meaning of Autonomy

A majority of university leaders articulate their understanding of decision-making authority as always accompanied by conditions, financial responsibility, and state intervention, and as restricting their freedom. Indeed, the autonomy policy has enacted a steering-at-a-distance relationship between the state and the university in Vietnam that it has political, economic, and social consequences, and that has produced reactions from other actors. Contestation over the meaning of autonomy has been reported in prior studies (George, 2011; Brown, 2021; Sirat, 2010). George (2011), for example, found that the ministry and the university in Vietnam differ in their opinions about how autonomy should play out in practice and who should make decisions on individual issues to ensure that both education quality and national development needs are met. Brown (2021) contends that various policy responses articulated by university leaders represent contested spaces in which their agency as policy interpreters and enactors is discursively positioned. Wright (2019d) calls contestation a moment of friction in which people contest their different views of the university, with some gaining some solidity or closure by mobilizing particular figures and eclipsing others.

Contestation, in general, reflects an ongoing tension between autonomy and control, a tension which is often seen as a restriction of autonomy and which produces strong reactions from actors. In Malaysia, for example, academics believe an important implication of the government's higher education law is the erosion of their academic freedom (Sirat, 2010). In Australia, university leaders have expressed frustration with the restrictions imposed by some accountability measures (Brown, 2021). These studies are consistent with my findings concerning tensions between decision-making authority and control in the Vietnamese context. As I reported in Chapter 7, participants expressed their disagreement with the mechanism of

ministerial controls that seriously limit their autonomy in daily decision making. However, owing to its strong legacy of centralized organizational structures, ministry control still exists and continues to generate power struggles with the university.

Accountability was also understood by most university leaders as exerting constraints on the use of their decision-making authority. University A is subject to many accountability measures, primarily in the form of regulations, reporting requirements, and ministerial approval procedures, and these can have weaknesses—they may be outdated, trivial, and inconsistent. I argue here that accountability constrains decision-making authority through the measures the state applies and their accompanying weaknesses. Accountability measures applied under the autonomy policy—regulations, reporting requirements, and ministerial approvals—carry all characteristics of the former centralized governance model. They can be described as *new wine in old wineskins*, an apt metaphor for the implementation of autonomy policy in Vietnam where a compatible accountability framework does not yet exist. A traditional compliance-based accountability system in which the state monitors the university's compliance through its approval function (Verhoet et al., 2004) still exists, but it is inconsistent with the autonomy policy which should use a performance-based accountability system.

As suggested in the literature on autonomy reform, the delegation of autonomy to universities should be accompanied by a shift from a traditional compliance-based control model to a performance-based form of control (Shaw, 2018; Lane & Kivistö, 2008; Verhoet et al., 2004). Performance-based steering, for example, is used to limit direct intervention of the state in Polish universities under that country's autonomous regime (Shaw, 2018). Although policy documents say that the state uses performance indicators to monitor University A's performance (MOET, 2016; Revised Higher Education Law, 2018), participants claimed such was not the

case. Current control measures in Vietnam are intended to ensure public universities' compliance with imposed rules, regulations, and procedures, regardless of whether such compliance will increase efficiency of university performance (Vo, 2018). The traditional mode of control does not create a facilitating institutional environment in which employees can take initiatives. As a consequence, university operation is generally limited to adhering to rules.

Ministerial approval is the biggest barrier amongst accountability measures. Vo (2018) argues that approval processes are so cumbersome, slow, bureaucratic, and intrusive in university life that seeking approvals is no longer appropriate in the governance of autonomous university. Haque (2007) agrees that ministerial control, while still vital, is less of a priority under an autonomy regime. Such arguments suggest that ministerial control should be removed from Vietnamese higher education. I follow Dao and Hayden (2010), however, in arguing that accountability measures are not designed simply to uphold the rule of law but to strengthen the ministry's power and secure accompanying privileges. The mechanism of line-ministry control, for example, provides privileges for ministries such as the power to recommend personnel for senior positions and the capacity to influence budget allocations. If the line-ministry control mechanism is abolished, these privileges will disappear. Dao and Hayden (2010), therefore, argue that decentralizing the Vietnamese higher education sector is challenging because the ministries want to retain their privileges. Given that ministerial approval is the biggest barrier that university leaders face, the ministry's unwillingness to release power adds more challenges than ever to the implementation of autonomy policy.

The Vietnamese higher education sector is embarking on an autonomy journey even though a compatible performance-based accountability system is not yet present. Ørberg and Wright (2019) highlight that the new governance model sets the university free to act within the

government's control framework, and that this means both the university and the control framework must begin a process of transformation. The Vietnamese government's accountability framework, however, has not been adapted or changed, and the autonomy policy has been unfolded against an old and strict regulatory system that contrasts starkly with the new policy's aim to delegate autonomy to public universities.

# Confusing Concept and Partial Vision During the Contestation Process

The continual contestation concerning the meaning of autonomy might be due to confusion between the common sense meaning of the word and its meaning as used in the new governance model. The common sense meaning of autonomy is that it refers to self-government, to the ability to act without being subject to any condition and control. It is not surprising, therefore, that university leaders contest the meaning of autonomy when it is accompanied by conditions and state intervention. As Teichler comments (1989, cited in Kickert, 1995), autonomy as used in Vietnamese government documents is a misleading term. In Resolution 77 (a policy document on autonomy released by the Vietnamese government), the concept of working mechanism rather than institutional autonomy is used to name the governance model at play. The concept of working mechanism better describes how a university is governed than does the concept of autonomy; the process is clearer and better articulated, and avoids problems created by the common sense meaning of autonomy.

Ørberg and Wright's (2019) concept of partial vision also helps to understand the continual contestation of the word autonomy. Partial vision means that actors articulate policy concepts only partially and incompletely, and do not recognize that their vision is partial.

University leaders and policymakers emphasize and interpret different elements of the concept in diverse ways, so that they understand autonomy in different, even conflicting, ways. As my

findings indicate, policymakers, who represent the government's position as articulated in the policy documents, see the imposition of conditions as being for the university's good—as facilitating the new organizational structure of an autonomous university and helping to create a new university identity in the global knowledge economy. In contrast, university leaders see conditions as restrictions and barriers to their autonomy. Interpretive policy analysis suggests that points of conflict such as these between communities of meaning might derive from different experiences and backgrounds. While legislators and policymakers interpret conditions of autonomy from a neoliberal perspective which supports the policy, university leaders think about them in terms of their experience with the former centralized governance system. A neoliberal system does not find sympathizers amongst these university leaders, who are so familiar with the centralized governance model.

#### Enactment of Institutional Autonomy Through Contestation and Negotiation

How is institutional autonomy enacted through the relationship between actors' understanding of decision-making authority and accountability at University A? Autonomy has been enacted in the context of Vietnamese higher education through a process of contestation and negotiation between university leaders and policymakers around the concept of autonomy. In implementing the autonomy policy, leaders at University A have engaged in a negotiation process with the ministries. As a result, University A has been given more decision-making authority, as I report in Chapter 6 and 7. Some of University A's arguments have been won and set precedents that have informed policy amendments through which authorities gained by University A have been incorporated into the nationwide autonomy policy. During the negotiation process, however, the ministries have retained ultimate authority, and many of University A's positions have been rejected. The process of negotiation continues until a moment

of enactment is reached—a moment when the meaning of autonomy as steering at a distance becomes dominant and is translated into new institutional practices.

With the amendment of the Higher Education Law without any change in its concept of autonomy, the meaning of institutional autonomy as steering at a distance has become dominant in the Vietnamese context, and some university leaders have been defeated in their argument that the new form of university governance undermines their autonomy. As Wright (2016) argues, university leaders have failed to understand, expose, or effectively contest the quite different meaning of autonomy as that concept is employed in the global knowledge economy and in the state steering model for public service provision. By revealing tensions surrounding the notion of autonomy, the present study may help to clarify how different understandings of such a pressing policy initiative in Vietnamese universities leads to tensions in relations and practices. That is, by understanding tensions surrounding the meaning of the word, space is opened in which to interrogate how such meanings change and how they shift what higher education is about in the Vietnamese university. Understanding the contestation process might also help university actors to understand the complexity of autonomy. As Brown (2021) suggests, by encouraging further conversations, actors may engender a more informed policy understanding and response, one which aligns with the state's aims in enacting the policy.

# The Meaning of Institutional Autonomy in Vietnam's Centralized Governance Context

I now address my primary research question: What does institutional autonomy mean in the context of Vietnamese higher education given the legacy of centralized governance system?

A new meaning of institutional autonomy has emerged in Vietnamese higher education, a meaning which relates autonomy to status. With the autonomy policy, the Vietnamese public

university achieves a higher level of status than other universities in the country, with more power to make decisions, rather than gaining independence from the state.

#### Tensions in Policy Enactment

The 2012 Higher Education Law and amendments to the law over almost a decade have enacted a new legal framework for the relationship between the state and Vietnamese public universities. The present study explores university governance reform in Vietnam within the particular experience of the move towards autonomy and accountability. This move has been widely referred to in the international literature on higher education as consistent with neoliberalism and New Public Management. The present study focuses not only on a top-down approach to policy enactment through passage of laws but also on the way in which other actors such as university leaders enact the policy through initiatives and reactions to top-down changes. University leaders in the present study are situated within the dynamism of policy enactment which typically is not uniform or neat in order to invite a nuanced understanding of the process and experiences.

As the findings from my analysis of policy documents and interviews with university leaders suggest, the enactment of autonomy policy highlights tensions between the top-down, authoritarian enactment of laws and policies through the state's rules and the ways in which policies enter into institutions and become meaningful to actors. Tensions are manifested because the state's policy might express a desired or ideal state of affairs rather than the values experienced on the ground (Yanow, 2015). However, a policy can have an objectified presence and very tangible effects (Shore & Wright, 2011), which means it is enacted by those closest to the ground—those who carry out the policy in the local context of university life. By holding

tensions between desires and experiences in place, I can explore the emerging meaning of autonomy in the Vietnamese context, which does not seem to be predetermined or inevitable.

#### More State Steering From the Legacy of Centralized Governance

While steering at a distance has emerged in the Vietnamese context, the legacy of centralized governance adds yet more state steering. Specifically, the enactment of autonomy policy has resulted in a patchwork of old and new steering instruments which exert even tighter control over universities. The legacy of centralized governance under the Vietnamese Communist Party's leadership is very strong and ensures that the mechanism of ministerial control is still present in University A's decision-making processes. In other words, the ministry has added one more layer of control to the state steering system.

A Patchwork of Accountability Measures. According to state steering theory, accountability measures such as performance indicators, performance-based funding, and auditing are organized around a coherent logic as an assemblage that can be used to steer universities. I argue that the autonomy policy in Vietnam has resulted in a patchwork of accountability measures rather than an assemblage, a patchwork that makes universities even more tightly controlled. This patchwork includes control measures from both old and new governance systems—regulations, ministerial approvals, state audit, and performance indicators—which means the autonomy regime includes even more control instruments than did the previous centralized governance model. A mixture of old and new steering instruments raises questions about how they can be articulated so as not to violate university autonomy. I follow Carter (2018) and Allen (2011) in arguing that governing at a distance and governing at close range may occur simultaneously and may even be entwined. Governing at a distance involves conditions or market mechanisms while governing at close range takes place through such

traditional steering techniques as ministerial approvals. As Rose and Miller (2010) and Newman (2014) claim, government and governance are not distinct.

A patchwork of accountability measures reflects the audit culture of higher education (Spooner, 2020; Shore & Wright, 2015). Audit culture is evident in the expansion of state intervention in what to teach and how to conduct research (Blackmore, 2010). In Malaysia, for example, the state has introduced a kind of academic audit over the work of public universities (Sirat, 2010). The intensive use of control measures is described in the literature as a web of oversight (Lane & Kivistö, 2008) or as multiple strings (Ørberg & Wright, 2019) that cause tensions with the university's decision-making authority. In an earlier study on steering at a distance as a new paradigm of university governance in the Netherlands, OECD examiners question whether an increase in decision-making authority can outweigh the effect of accountability measures (Kickert, 1995). If not, state steering would in fact grow rather than diminish. In Vietnamese, accountability measures have perhaps outweighed the granted authority, because while new control measures such as performance indicators have been added, old steering instruments still exist.

Why has the Vietnamese government created such a strong yet mixed steering system? As Shore and Wright (2011) argue, accountability measures are implemented to monitor University A's compliance with the law—because given its decision-making authority, the university might act for its own benefit. In other words, the government does not trust University A; thus, control mechanisms must be put in place to limit gaming practices such as the opportunistic pursuit of prestige and revenues or manipulation of performance indicators (Enders et al., 2013; Dougherty & Natow, 2019a). This logic follows Blackmore's (2010) argument that the rise of audit culture indicates distrust in management.

Concerns about fraud and corruption in Vietnamese higher education can serve as strong reasons for implementing a strong steering system. Indeed, gaming practices have been identified in recent studies as among the unexpected results of the autonomy policy. Gift giving, for example, is frequently used to mask corrupt practices in Vietnamese universities (McCormac, 2012). Some higher education institutions, in the face of budget cutoffs, manage to increase incomes through increasing the number of enrolments in programs that have high demand (Pham, 2012). One Vietnamese university was found to have navigated through the autonomy regime after government funding was withdrawn by introducing a new bachelor program which set low requirements for recruiting students and did not satisfy many conditions (Nguyen et al., 2016). Indeed, good reasons exist for the state to apply strong accountability measures to deal with the potential uncertainties of the neoliberal context.

Ministerial Interference as part of Autonomy. The accountability system described above includes ministerial approval procedures. The policy of autonomy notwithstanding, this means that Vietnamese public universities are not free from ministry control—a surprise or disappointment, or both, for some participants in the present study. This finding supports and expands Kickert's (1995) notion that steering at a distance is not free of ministerial interference—that, indeed, it is not the Ministry's intention to withdraw from steering. Kickert (1995) comments on the wishful thinking of some actors who hope to be freed from ministerial control, but steering at a distance continues to exist. Indeed, ministerial interference not only exists; it is the most common accountability measure, it adds more state steering, and it makes universities even more tightly controlled.

Given the strong legacy of Vietnam's former centralized governance model that cannot be ignored or removed in the first phase of implementing the autonomy policy, it is not clear if university reform leads to any level of autonomy for universities or simply creates a policy from which the state benefits. These benefits include reduction of the financial burden on the state budget as financial responsibility is transferred to the university, and more control over the university. The continued involvement of the ministry in university affairs might be good news for some politicians who fear that they will lose power in the steering-at-a-distance mechanism (Kickert, 1995). If ministerial approvals remain in place, however, the danger of an insidious slide back to the old days is always present. Given their unwillingness to release power to the universities, the possibility cannot be ignored that some politicians who are losing their power are waiting for an opportunity to reinstate the former centralized governance model.

#### The Meaning of Autonomy in a Centralized Governance Context

Since the moment of enactment when the Higher Education Law was amended and released in 2018, the state's vision of steering at a distance has become dominant in Vietnam. The autonomy policy has given University A a higher level of status than other universities in the country with more power to make decisions albeit without independence from the state. This is the meaning of autonomy in the Vietnamese context. It is consistent with literature in which it is argued that universities always have to negotiate status and power with the state, and that, accordingly, they can have more power or higher status but not complete independence (Ørberg & Wright, 2019).

Findings concerning autonomy in the present study differ somewhat from those of Vo and Laking (2020) who found that although the autonomy of public universities in Vietnam appears to be growing, that growth does not indicate a transfer of power from the central state to universities. My findings do indicate a transfer of power, but together with financial responsibilities and an increase in accountability measures to control the use of that power.

Differences in findings between these studies may be related to the different universities that

served as case studies. While the university selected for the present study is one of the first higher education institutions to implement the autonomy policy in Vietnam, three universities in the study by Vo and Laking (2020) are not. The meaning of autonomy in Vietnam, therefore, should be read with a view to the limitations and boundaries of the studies.

Although the present study indicates that autonomy conveys a higher level of status on an institution and gives it more power to make decisions, the level of status and power that other. Vietnamese public universities might gain from the autonomy policy will not necessarily be the same. Outcomes for any particular university will likely be impacted by factors such as the university's fields of study, financing capacity, leadership, and ability to negotiate power with the state. The Higher Education Law (2012) specifies that a university will achieve a level of autonomy that is equivalent to its financing capacity, ranking results, and accreditation results. As Krejsler (2019b) emphasizes, it would be wrong to conclude that the global knowledge economy and its associated steering technologies will lead to uniformity and standardization among universities.

## The State-University Relationship Under the Autonomy Policy

With a new meaning for autonomy in Vietnam as steering at a distance, the state-university relationship in Vietnam needs to be reconsidered. Changes are happening; the university is gaining more authority, but not much has changed in terms of the state-university relationship because the MOET is still the legal governing body with full control over universities. What, then, is the state-university relationship in Vietnam under the autonomy policy? It is not a strict command-and-control relationship (Donina et al., 2015) in which the state retains power and plays the role of controller rather than supervisor. On a positive note, however, a shift towards a more conducive state-university relationship (Sirat, 2010) might be

taking place as the reform agenda moves from state centralism to neoliberalism and more autonomy is given to the university.

With Decision 6600 serving as a performance contract between the university and the ministry, the state-university relationship in Vietnam might best be described as resembling a contractual relationship (Ørberg & Wright, 2019). It is also somewhat similar to a bureaucratic relationship (Yokoyama, 2008) because the mechanism of ministerial control still legally exists. Regardless of the terms used to describe it, the control relationship has become more intensive, and the university is being controlled more tightly. Is this intense state-university relationship successful in achieving the goals of the autonomy policy? It seems the state has achieved its goal to reduce financial burdens by transferring funding responsibility to the university. On the part of the universities, leaders have gained more power to make strategic decisions in a market-driven dynamic and become more efficient and competitive in the global knowledge economy, as the autonomy policy expects. Inequity of access to higher education, however, and gaming practices in public universities are amongst many consequences as the state enacts the autonomy policy.

# **Chapter 9**

#### Conclusion

## **Overview of the Thesis**

In 2012, the Vietnamese government enacted the Higher Education Law to officially mark the granting of institutional autonomy to public universities. After the passage of the law, the term institutional autonomy itself became contested; different actors involved with the policy developed different understandings of its meaning. The purpose of the present study is to develop a better understanding of institutional autonomy in the Vietnamese higher education context, given the legacy of Vietnam's centralized governance system. I have attempted to answer the following primary research question:

 What does institutional autonomy mean in the context of Vietnamese higher education given the legacy of centralized governance system?

To answer this, the present study is guided by the following sub-questions:

- How are institutional autonomy, accountability, and university responsibility presented in the policy documents?
- How do actors in a Vietnamese public university understand decision-making authority within the new policy?
- What do accountability measures in the Vietnamese government's discourses about institutional autonomy mean to university actors?
- How is institutional autonomy enacted through the relationship between actors'
   understandings of decision-making authority and accountability in this one institution?

The present study is an attempt to fill a gap in the fields of university governance and higher education policy research. The study offers unique insights on the complexities of

institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education context by drawing on state steering theory (Wright, 2019) as a theoretical lens. By using an interpretive policy analysis approach in combination with thematic analysis, the study offers a unique approach to exploring the meaning of autonomy at one Vietnamese public university. The primary data sources for the present study are policy documents released by the Vietnamese government, semi-structured interviews with seventeen senior leaders from one Vietnamese public university which I call University A, and University A's internal policy documents on autonomy policy.

My exploration of the meaning of institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education context includes a focus on tensions between decision-making authority and accountability. The findings of the study provide a better understanding of tensions between autonomy and control as these concepts emerge together through the enactment of institutional autonomy policy. The findings indicate that the state has delegated decision-making authority to university leaders in order that they may make strategic decisions in a market-driven dynamic. Yet, their autonomy is always accompanied by conditions which include financial responsibility, direct state intervention, ministerial control, and other accountability measures. The findings of the present study support the findings of earlier studies that found that, because of tensions between state-centric values and neoliberal principles, the institutional autonomy of Vietnamese public universities is very limited (Vo & Laking, 2020; Tran, 2014; Vo, 2018; Dang, 2013).

The enactment of autonomy policy in the Vietnamese context highlights tensions between the top-down authoritarian way in which the law and policy are enacted through the state's centralized governance model and the way in which policies enter into institutions and become meaningful to actors. A new meaning of autonomy as steering at a distance (Ørberg & Wright, 2019) has emerged in Vietnam's higher education context, but the legacy of Vietnam's

centralized governance system adds state control which means the university is controlled even more tightly than before. I conclude that the autonomy policy has given public universities in Vietnam a higher status than other universities in the country, with more power to make decisions, but that these universities have not gained independence from the state. This is the meaning of autonomy in the Vietnamese context.

## **Research Contributions**

The present study has made theoretical and methodological contributions to the existing literature on university governance and higher education policy. In terms of theoretical contributions, the key theoretical concept of steering at a distance helps to clarify the meaning of autonomy in the Vietnamese context. Using the concept of steering at a distance, I make visible the working mechanism of a control model that is called institutional autonomy. Through a case study of one Vietnamese public university, the present study clarifies the meaning of institutional autonomy in a country with a legacy of centralized governance. The study is relevant not only to Vietnam but also to other post-Soviet countries as they undergo reform processes in response to the influences of the global knowledge economy.

The present study makes a methodological contribution to the field of higher education policy in Vietnam through use of an interpretive policy approach to the analysis of different communities of meaning related to autonomy (Yanow, 2007). I analyzed four policy objects and three metaphors that participants used in interviews to articulate their understandings of policy concepts. Participants frequently mentioned four policy objects—tuition fees, program of study, textbook, and authority to recruit international scholars—as they shared their perspectives on decision-making authority. They used three metaphors that carried policy meanings about accountability: *a bird locked in a cage, a Vietnamese parent-children relationship*, and the saying

that when the cat is away, the mice will play. With an interpretive policy analysis approach, I brought the viewpoints of multiple actors into the policy enactment process, albeit at unequal power levels, to address the gap in the literature which largely focuses on the top-down vision of policymakers.

## **Research Implications for Policy and Practice**

The present study has implications and offers direction for future policy and practice. Policy enactment requires consideration of how different actors interpret policy concepts.

Including actors' diverse perspectives can help to achieve consensus, and actors may develop a more informed understanding of and become more responsive to how the policy is actually taken up in the institutions. As well, given different self-financing capacities amongst public universities, policymakers need to consider the consequences for universities of including financial responsibility in the meaning of autonomy. Furthermore, an accountability system needs to be put in place that will fit well and be compatible with the autonomy policy.

Accountability measures should be tailored towards measuring outcomes and performance rather than focusing on the monitoring of behaviors and processes, and should be consistent with the greater flexibility and authority to which public universities are entitled.

Finally, because of challenges in implementing autonomy as a new policy initiative, many participants raised an urgent need for leadership development and for training in the leading of organizational change. Several leaders decried their lack of support and sense of isolation as they navigated the policy enactment process, especially when not all the leaders at University A were on the same page in implementing the policy. While innovative forces—reformers—were making efforts to implement the autonomy policy, conservative forces who were familiar with the former centralized governance system resisted the changes and new

initiatives. Leadership training concerning how to deal with the mindsets and attitudes of conservative leaders is needed.

#### **Limitations and Future Research**

#### Limitations

The findings of the present study are limited to the perspectives of university leaders at one Vietnamese public university. Their insights, like those of all participants in qualitative research studies, might contain biases, perhaps particularly because of the history and characteristics of University A. As well, strategies used to implement autonomy policy at University A—such as negotiations between senior leaders and the ministries concerning the right to recruit foreign scholars without acquiring work permits—cannot be expected to proceed in the same way at other universities.

My own experiences and observations over many years in Vietnam's higher education setting has inevitably created biases in how I, a novice researcher, view the phenomenon under investigation. This bias may be reflected in my selection of state steering theory, which is pessimistic about control, as a theoretical lens to use in investigating the concept of institutional autonomy. I have tried to mitigate these potential biases by keeping a journal and writing memos during the processes of data collection and analysis, and during the writing of the final report (this thesis).

Despite my intention and efforts to include in the present study diverse perspectives on institutional autonomy from different actors involved with the policy, I could not gain access to or interview policymakers or officers working within the ministries. Insights from direct conversations with policymakers would have been helpful, especially in clarifying the rationales, ideas, and theories behind the design of the institutional autonomy policy. I had to rely, however,

on the analysis of policy documents released by the Vietnamese government and on internal documents shared by University A to gain insight into how policymakers view concepts related to institutional autonomy.

# Future Study

Future research on institutional autonomy should attempt to acquire the perspectives of more actors concerned with institutional autonomy, actors such as professors, academics, and students, and should expand the scope of study to examine how steering at a distance plays out in different contexts. A multiple case study of three public universities in three regions of Vietnam with different social, political, and cultural profiles, for example, could be informative about different perspectives on autonomy. A comparative study on autonomy at public universities in China and Vietnam, two Southeast Asian countries with similar historical, cultural, and political features, could be informative about trends or patterns in the growth of autonomy in post-Soviet countries. A comparative study of university autonomy in the contexts of a Western country such as Canada and an Eastern country such as Vietnam might yield insights about how different cultures and geo-political conditions shape the meaning of autonomy. Following recent studies conducted by the European University Association in which a system of indicators was developed to measure the degree of autonomy of public universities in Europe, I am excited about developing a similar system for public universities in South East Asian countries. While the implementation of autonomy policy is proliferating in Asia, a benchmark system would serve as a useful guideline and reference for the governments.

Finally, a research project investigating the enactment of autonomy policy in Southeast Asian post-Soviet countries under the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic might also make a significant contribution to knowledge. The public higher education sector in Southeast Asia is in

turbulence—volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous. Dealing with turbulence requires robust governance systems that allow room for decentralization, flexibility, innovation, and adaptation, and that provide decision-makers with the freedom and power to manage crises and make agile responses to emergencies (Ansell et al., 2021; Fraher & Grint, 2018; Bentzen, 2019). The Covid-19 pandemic in Southeast Asia has been a game changer for public administration and created an urgent need for robust governance responses to deal with the crisis, especially in the face of massive public debt and national budget deficit. A focused study could highlight the importance of decentralization in coping with crisis and support the transition to decentralization in post-Soviet Asian countries through policy recommendations. While the present study is limited to the perspectives of university leaders in Vietnam, a wider-ranging study could reveal the international perspectives of actors in other countries and possibly strengthen my findings on autonomy in communist contexts.

## References

- Altbach, P. G., & Knight, J. (2007). The internationalization of higher education: Motivations and realities. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 11(3-4), 290-305. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315307303542
- Amsler, M., & Shore, C. (2017). Responsibilisation and leadership in the neoliberal university: A New Zealand perspective. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 38(1), 123-137. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2015.1104857
- Anderson, D., & Johnson, R. (1998). *University autonomy in twenty countries*. Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs, Canberra.
- Ansell, C., Sørensen, E., & Torfing, J. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemic as a game changer for public administration and leadership? The need for robust governance responses to turbulent problems. *Public Management Review*, 23(7), 949-960.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1820272">https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1820272</a>
- Austin, I., & Jones, G. A. (2016). *Governance of higher education: Global perspectives, theories, and practices*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315816401
- Australian Government Department of Education and Training. (2016). *Vietnam Education & research partnership opportunities*.
  - https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Finternationaleducation.gov.au%2FInternational-network%2Fvietnam%2FPolicyUpdates-
  - Vietnam%2FDocuments%2FVietnam%2520FINAL%2520factsheet.docx
- Araneda-Guirriman, C. A., Gairín-Sallán, J., & Pedraja-Rejas, L. M. (2018). Autonomy in higher education: Reflections from the actors in the context of performance-based funding in Chile. *Formación Universitaria*, 11(4), 65-74. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-

### 50062018000400065

- Ash, M. G. (2006). Bachelor of what, master of whom? The Humboldt myth and historical transformations of higher education in German-speaking Europe and the United States. *European Journal of Education*, 41(2), 245-267. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3435.2006.00258.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3435.2006.00258.x</a>
- Ashby, E., & Anderson, M. (1966). *Universities: British, Indian, African. A study of the ecology of higher education*. London, England: Weidenfeld & Nicolson.
- Ball, S. J., Maguire, M., Braun, A., & Hoskins, K. (2011). Policy actors: Doing policy work in schools. *Discourse*, 32(4), 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2011.601565
- Ball, S. J., Maguire, M., & Braun, A. (2012). *How schools do policy: Policy enactments in secondary schools*. Routledge.
- Bentzen, T. (2019). The birdcage is open, but will the bird fly? How interactional and institutional trust interplay in public organizations. *Journal of Trust Research* 9(2), 185-202. https://doi.org/10.1080/21515581.2019.1633337
- Berdahl, R. (1990). Academic freedom, autonomy, and accountability in British universities.

  Studies in Higher Education, 15(2), 169-180.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079012331377491">https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079012331377491</a>
- Blackmore, J. (2010). Research assessment: A calculative technology governing quality, accountability, and equity. In J. Blackmore, M. Brennan, & L. Zippin (Eds.), *Repositioning university governance and academic work* (pp. 67-83). Sense Publishers.
- Blackmore, J. (2020). The carelessness of entrepreneurial universities in a world risk society: A feminist reflection on the impact of Covid-19 in Australia. *Higher Education Research* and *Development*, 39(7), 1332-1336. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2020.1825348

- Birt, L., Suzanne, S., Debbie, C., Christine, C., & Fiona, W. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health*\*Research\*, 26(13), 1802-1811. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870">https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</a>
- Bovens, M. (2007). Public accountability. In E. Ferlie, L.E. Lynn, & C. Pollitt (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of public management* (pp. 182-208). Oxford University Press.
- Braun, C., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a">https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</a>
- Brinkerhoff, D. W. (2004). Accountability and health systems: Toward conceptual clarity and policy relevance. *Health Policy and Planning*, *19*(6), 371-379. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czh052
- Broome, A., & Quirk, J. (2015). Governing the world at a distance: The practice of global benchmarking. *Review of International Studies*, 41(5), 819-841. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210515000340
- Brown, B. (2021). "Steering at a distance", Australian school principals' understandings of digital technologies policies during the Digital Education Revolution. *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, *53*(1), 50-66.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2020.1856796">https://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2020.1856796</a>
- Buckner, E., & Zapp, M. (2020). Institutional logics in the global higher education landscape:

  Differences in organizational characteristics by sector and founding era. *Minerva*(London), 59(1), 27-51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-020-09416-3
- Burke, J. C., & Henrik, P. (2003). *Performance reporting: "Real" accountability or accountability "lite"*. *Seventh annual survey 2003*. Nelson A. Rockefeller Institute of Government, State University of New York, Albany.

- https://www.academia.edu/5030595/Performance Reporting Real Accountability or A ccountability Lite Seventh Annual Survey 2003
- Burrell, G., & Morgan, G. (1979). Sociological paradigms and organisational analysis: Elements of the sociology of corporate life. Heinemann Educational.
- Barber, K. (2004). Canadian Oxford dictionary (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Carney, S. (2019). Leading the post-bureaucratic university. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 187-211). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4
- Capano, G. (2011). Government continues to do its job. A comparative study of governance shifts in the higher education sector. *Public Administration (London)*, 89(4), 1622-1642. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9299.2011.01936.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9299.2011.01936.x</a>
- Capano, G., & Pritoni, A. (2019). Varieties of hybrid systemic governance in European higher education. *Higher education quarterly*, 73(1), 10-28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12180">https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12180</a>
- Carter, P. (2018). Governing spaces: A multi-sited ethnography of governing welfare reform at close range and at a distance. *Critical Policy Studies*, *12*(1), 3-23. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2016.1208109">https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2016.1208109</a>
- Central Committee of Vietnam's Communist Party. (1993). Resolution on continuing the renovation of education and training (Resolution 04-NQ/HNTW).
- Central Government. (2006). Decree: Regulations on institutional autonomy and selfresponsibility of public service delivery units on performance, organization, and finance (Decree No. 43/2006/NĐ-CP).
  - http://vanban.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&\_pag

- e=1&mode=detail&document id=15218
- Central Government. (2015a). Decree: Regulations on institutional autonomy of public service delivery units (Decree No. 16/2015/NĐ-CP).

  http://vanban.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&\_page=1&mode=detail&document\_id=179065
- Central Government. (2015b). Decree: Regulations on the determination and management of tuition fees for public education units and the policy of waiving, decreasing, and supporting tuition fees from the academic year of 2015-2016 to 2020-2021 (Decree No. 86/2015/NĐ-CP). https://luatvietnam.vn/giao-duc/nghi-dinh-86-2015-nd-cp-chinh-phu-98779-d1.html
- Central Government. (2018). Decree: Regulations on the foreign cooperation and investment in education (Decree No. 86/2018/NĐ-CP).

  http://vanban.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&\_page=1&mode=detail&document\_id=193897
- Central Government. (2019a). Resolution: Periodic meeting of the Central Government (Resolution No. 99/NQ-CP).
- Central Government. (2019b). Decree: Detailed regulations and guides on implementing some articles of the Revised Higher Education Law (Decree No. 99/2019/ND-CP). https://tulieuvankien.dangcongsan.vn/Uploads/2020/1/7/6/ND-99.signed\_01.pdf
- Cheng, M. (2012). Accountability and professionalism: A contradiction in terms? *Higher Education Research and Development*, *31*(6), 785-95.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2011.653960">https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2011.653960</a>
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2011) Research methods in education (7<sup>th</sup> ed.).

- Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203720967
- Creswell, J.W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Dang, H. V. (2013). A new approach to explain policy reforms in Vietnam during Đổi Mới by developing and validating a major policy change model for Vietnam [Doctoral dissertation, Portland State University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Dao, K. V. (2009). Reforming the governance of higher education in Vietnam: Case studies of change at three key universities [Doctoral dissertation, RMIT]. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/32236314.pdf
- Dao, K. V. (2015). Key challenges in the reform of governance, quality assurance, and finance in Vietnamese higher education a case study. *Studies in Higher Education*, 40(5), 745-760. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2013.842223
- Dao, K. V., & Hayden, M. (2010). Reforming the governance of higher education in Vietnam. In G. S. Harman, M. Hayden, & T. N. Pham (Eds.), *Reforming higher education in Vietnam: Challenges and priorities* (pp. 129-142). Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3694-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3694-0</a>
- Dao, V. K., & Hayden, M. (2019). Vietnam's progress with policies on university governance, management, and quality assurance. In N. T. Nguyen & L. T. Tran (Eds.), *Reforming Vietnamese higher education: Global forces and local demands* (pp. 37-50). Springer Singapore. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4</a>
- Deem. R. (1998). "New managerialism" and higher education: The management of performances and cultures in universities in the United Kingdom. *International Studies in Sociology of Education*, 8(1), 47-70. https://doi.org/10.1080/0962021980020014

- Deem, R. (2001). Globalization, new managerialism, academic capitalism and entrepreneurialism in universities: Is the local dimension still important? *Comparative Education*, *37*(1), 7-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060020020408">https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060020020408</a>
- Deering, D., & Sá, C. (2018). Do corporate management tools inevitably corrupt the soul of the university? Evidence from the implementation of responsibility center budgeting. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 24(2), 115-127.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2017.1398779">https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2017.1398779</a>
- DeMarrais, K. (2004). Qualitative interview studies: Learning through experience. In K. B. DeMarrais & S. D. Lapan (Eds.), *Foundations for research: Methods of inquiry in education and the social sciences* (pp. 51-68). L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Do, T. N. Q (2019). Accreditation, ranking, and classification in Vietnamese higher education:

  The localization of foreign-born QA models and methods. In N. T. Nguyen & L. T. Tran

  (Eds.), *Reforming Vietnamese higher education: Global forces and local demands* (pp. 133-148). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4
- Donina, D., Meoli, M., & Paleari, S. (2015). The new institutional governance of Italian state universities: what role for the new governing bodies? *Tertiary Education and Management*, 21(1), 16-28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2014.994024">https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2014.994024</a>
- Dougherty, K. J., & Natow, R. S. (2019a). Analyzing neoliberalism in theory and practice: The case of performance-based funding for higher education. *Centre for Global Higher Education (Working paper no. 44)*.
  - https://www.researchcghe.org/perch/resources/publications/cghe-working-paper-44.pdf
- Dougherty, K. J., & Natow, R. S. (2019b). Performance-based funding for higher education: how well does neoliberal theory capture neoliberal practice? *Higher Education*, 80(3), 457-

- 478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00491-4
- Drewry, G., Greve, C., & Tanquerel, T. (2005). *Contracts, performance measurements, and accountability in the public sector*. International Institute of Administrative Sciences.
- Education Law, Publ. L. No. 38/2005/QH11 (2005). http://congbao.chinhphu.vn/tai-ve-van-ban-so-23-vbhn-vpqh-1249-398?format=pdf
- Enders, J. (2006). The academic profession. In P. G. Altbach & J. J. F. Forest (Eds.), International handbook of higher education (pp. 5-22). Springer.
- Enders, J., Boer, H. d., & Weyer, E. (2013). Regulatory autonomy and performance: The reform of higher education revisited. *Higher Education*, 65(1), 5-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-012-9578-4
- Foucault, M. (1991). Governmentality. In M., Foucault, G. Burchell, C. Gordon, & P. Miller (Eds.), *The Foucault effect: Studies in governmentality: with two lectures by and an interview with Michel Foucault* (pp. 87-104). University of Chicago Press.
- Fraher, A., & Grint, K. (2018). Agonistic governance: The antinomies of decision-making in US Navy SEALs. Leadership, 14(4), 395-414. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715016680910
- Gallie, W. B. (1956). Essentially contested concepts. *Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society*, 56 (1), 167–198. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/aristotelian/56.1.167">https://doi.org/10.1093/aristotelian/56.1.167</a>
- Gaus, N. (2019). Is state control in higher education governance always bad? New Public Management and the history of Indonesian higher education reform policy. *Asian Politics & Policy*, 11(2), 294-313. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/aspp.12462">https://doi.org/10.1111/aspp.12462</a>
- Gaus, Yunus, M., Karim, A., & Sadia, H. (2019). The analysis of policy implementation models in higher education: the case study of Indonesia. *Policy Studies*, 40(1), 92-109. https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2018.1539224

- George, E. S. (2011). Higher education reform in Vietnam: Boundaries of autonomy. In J. London (Eds.), *Education in Vietnam* (pp. 212-236). ISEAS Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1355/9789814279062
- George, E. S. (2020). Higher education quality and autonomy: A case study of Lao PDR. *Higher Education*, 79(5), 753–771. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00435-y
- Goedegebuure. L. C. J. (1993). *Higher education policy: An international comparative perspective*. Pergamon Press.
- Ha, T. (2011, November 29). *Tuition fees should be increased to compensare operating costs of public universities*. People's Army Newspaper. <a href="https://www.qdnd.vn/kinh-te/cac-van-de/tang-hoc-phi-de-thu-du-bu-chi-383070">https://www.qdnd.vn/kinh-te/cac-van-de/tang-hoc-phi-de-thu-du-bu-chi-383070</a>
- Hall, M., & Symes, A. (2005). South African higher education in the first decade of democracy:

  From cooperative governance to conditional autonomy. *Studies in Higher Education*, 30(2), 199-212. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075070500043317
- Hanushek, Link, S., & Woessmann, L. (2013). Does school autonomy make sense everywhere?

  Panel estimates from PISA. *Journal of Development Economics*, 104(104), 212-232.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2012.08.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2012.08.002</a>
- Haque, M. S. (2007). Limits of public accountability under the reinvented state in developing nations. *Public Administration Quarterly*, *31*(3/4), 429-452.
- Harvey, D. (2007). A brief history of neoliberalism. Oxford University Press.
- Harman, G. (1978). Institutional autonomy in higher education: The case of Australian colleges of advanced education. *Melbourne Studies in Education*, 20(1), 182-217. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487809556121">https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487809556121</a>
- Harman, G., Hayden, M., & Pham, T. N. (2010). Reforming higher education in Vietnam:

- Challenges and priorities. Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3694-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3694-0</a>
- Hayden, M., & Thiep, L. Q. (2007). Institutional autonomy for higher education in Vietnam.

  \*Higher Education Research and Development, 26(1), 73-85.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360601166828
- Central Government. (2005). The Vietnamese government's resolution on substantial and comprehensive renewal of Vietnam's tertiary education during the 2006–2020 period.

  <a href="https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Giao-duc/Nghi-quyet-14-2005-NQ-CP-doi-moi-co-ban-va-toan-dien-giao-duc-dai-hoc-Viet-Nam-giai-doan-2006-2020-5013.aspx">https://thuvienphapluat.vn/van-ban/Giao-duc/Nghi-quyet-14-2005-NQ-CP-doi-moi-co-ban-va-toan-dien-giao-duc-dai-hoc-Viet-Nam-giai-doan-2006-2020-5013.aspx</a>
- Higher Education Law, Publ. L. No. 08/2012/QH2013 (2012).

  <a href="http://vanban.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&\_page=1&mode=detail&document\_id=163054">http://vanban.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&\_page=1&mode=detail&document\_id=163054</a>
- Hoang, L. (2017). Accountability in Vietnam's education: Toward effective mechanism in the decentralization context. Paper commissioned for the 2017/8 Global Education Monitoring Report. <a href="https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259548">https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259548</a>
- Hoang, T. X. H. (2018, November 30). *University autonomy: The trend of development*. Vietnam National University, Hanoi. <a href="https://www.vnu.edu.vn/btdhqghn/?C2145/N12636/Tu-chu-dai-hoc:-Xu-the-cua-phat-trien.htm">https://www.vnu.edu.vn/btdhqghn/?C2145/N12636/Tu-chu-dai-hoc:-Xu-the-cua-phat-trien.htm</a>
- Hofstede, G. (1991). *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. London, England: McGaw-Hill.
- Hong, H. (2018, May 29). The revised higher education law unties autonomous higher education institutions to the best that the government can. People's Knowledge.
  https://dantri.com.vn/giao-duc-khuyen-hoc/sua-doi-luat-giao-duc-dai-hoc-da-coi-troi-het-co-cho-cac-truong-tu-chu-20180529093454473.htm

- Hughes, O. E. (2003). *Public management & administration: An introduction*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Huisman, J. (2009). International perspectives on the governance of higher education:

  Alternative frameworks for coordination. Routledge.
- Huisman, J. (2018). Accountability in higher education: Different forms, functions, and forums.
  In E. Hazelkorn, H. Coates, & A. C. McCormick (Eds.), Research handbook on quality,
  performance, and accountability in higher education (pp. 125-135). Edward Elgar
  Publishing.
- Huisman, J., Smolentseva, A., & Froumin, I. (2018). 25 years of transformations of higher education systems in post-Soviet countries: Reform and continuity. Springer Open. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52980-6
- Jackson, C. (2014). Structural and behavioral independence: Mapping the meaning of agency independence at the field level. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 80(2), 257-275. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852313514525
- Kehm, B. (Eds.). (2012). Proceedings of the international conference on responding to the 21st century demands for educational leadership and management in higher education.
- Kickert, W. (1995). Steering at a distance: A new paradigm of public governance in Dutch higher education. *Governance (Oxford)*, 8(1), 135-157. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.1995.tb00202.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.1995.tb00202.x</a>
- Kivistö, J. (2005). The government-higher education institution relationship: Theoretical considerations from the perspective of agency theory. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 11, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2005.9967136
- Kivistö, J. (2007). Agency theory as a framework for the government-university relationship

- [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Tampere.
- Kivistö, J. (2008). An assessment of agency theory as a framework for the government-university relationship. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 30(4), 339-350. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13600800802383018">https://doi.org/10.1080/13600800802383018</a>
- Kivistö, J., & Zalyevska, I. (2015). Agency theory as a framework for higher education governance. In J. Huisman, H. de Boer, D. D. Dill, & M. Souto-Otero (Eds.), *The Palgrave international handbook of higher education policy and governance* (pp. 132-151). Palgrave Macmillan UK. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-45617-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-45617-5</a>
- Krejsler, J. B. (2019a). Changing university discourses, changing spaces for academics reconfiguring external conditions for being an academic subject. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 215-238). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Krejsler, J. B. (2019b). Academic subjectivities at stake Different university contexts, different responses to reform. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 239-257). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Lang, D. W. (1999). Responsibility center budgeting and responsibility center management in theory and practice. *Higher Education Management*, 11(3), 81-111.
- Lane, J. E. (2000). The public sector: Concepts, models and approaches. Sage Publications.
- Lane, J. E. (Eds.). (2005). Proceedings of the annual conference of the Association for the Study of Higher Education. Philadelphia, United States.

- Lane, J. E. (2007). Spider web of oversight: Latent and manifest regulatory controls in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education*, 78(6), 615-644.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2007.11772074">https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2007.11772074</a>
- Lane, J., & Kivistö, J. (2008). Interests, information, and incentives in higher education:

  Principal-agent theory and its potential applications to the study of higher education
  governance. In *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research* (Vol. 23, pp. 141179). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6959-8\_5
- Lawton, S. (1992). 'Why restructure? An international survey of the roots of reform'. *Journal of Education Policy* 7(2), 139-154.
- Le, H. (2020). How did the University of Medicine and Pharmacy at Hochiminh City provide justification for its tuition of 70 million per year to the ministries? Retrieved from <a href="https://vietnamnet.vn/vn/giao-duc/tuyen-sinh/hoc-phi-70-trieu-nam-dh-y-duoc-tp-hcm-giai-trinh-gi-voi-cac-bo-651202.html">https://vietnamnet.vn/vn/giao-duc/tuyen-sinh/hoc-phi-70-trieu-nam-dh-y-duoc-tp-hcm-giai-trinh-gi-voi-cac-bo-651202.html</a>
- Le, N. H. (2019). *University autonomy: Concept and education policy in Vietnam*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.tapchicongsan.org.vn/web/guest/nghien-cu/-/2018/54388/tu-chu-dai-hoc--khai-niem-va-chinh-sach-giao-duc-o-viet-nam.aspx">http://www.tapchicongsan.org.vn/web/guest/nghien-cu/-/2018/54388/tu-chu-dai-hoc--khai-niem-va-chinh-sach-giao-duc-o-viet-nam.aspx</a>
- Le, Q. A. (2016). The impact of globalization on the reform of higher education in Vietnam.

  International Journal of Business and Economic Affairs, 1 (1), 29-35.

  https://doi.org/10.24088/ijbea-2016-11005
- Le, T. T., Doan, X. H., & Nguyen, B. N. (2017). Financial autonomy at universities in Vietnam.

  \*Journal of Economics and Development, 245(11).
- Le, T. K. A., Hayden, M., & Nhan, T. T. (2019). Development of the higher education sector in Vietnam. In N. T. Nguyen & L. T. Tran (Eds.), *Reforming Vietnamese higher education:*

- Global forces and local demands (pp. 1-23). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4
- Lee, M. N. (2004). Global trends, national policies, and institutional responses: Restructuring higher education in Malaysia. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, *3*(1), 31-46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-004-6034-y
- Liefner, I. (2003). Funding, resource allocation, and performance in higher education systems.

  \*Higher Education, 46(4), 469-489. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1027381906977">https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1027381906977</a>
- London, J. D. (2010). Globalization and the governance of education in Viet Nam. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 30(4), 361-379. https://doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2010.520202
- Löfgren, K., Macaulay, M., Berman, E., & Plimmer, G. (2018). Expectations, trust, and 'no surprises': Perceptions of autonomy in New Zealand crown entities. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 77(4), 672-684. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8500.12305
- Lægreid, P., & Verhoest, K. (2010). Governance of public sector organizations: Proliferation, autonomy, and performance. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Maassen, P. (2017). The university's governance paradox. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 71(3), 290-298. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12125
- Maassen, P., Gornitzka, Å., & Fumasoli, T. (2017). University reform and institutional autonomy: A framework for analyzing the living autonomy. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 71(3), 239-250. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12129
- Mackenzie, N., & Knipe, S. (2006). Research dilemmas: Paradigms, methods and methodology.

  \*Issues In Educational Research, 16. Retrieved online

  http://www.iier.org.au/iier16/mackenzie.html
- McCornac, D. C. (2012). The challenge of corruption in higher education: The case of Vietnam.

- Asian Education and Development Studies, 1(3), 262-275. https://doi.org/10.1108/20463161211270482
- Madden, M. (2014). Walking the line: Quality assurance policy development and implementation in Viet Nam. *Higher Education*, *67*(1), 91-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-013-9642-8
- Marginson, S. (1997). Steering from a distance: Power relations in Australian higher education. *Higher Education*, *34*(1), 63–80. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003082922199">https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003082922199</a>
- Marklein, M. B. (2019). *University leaders to be given more autonomy in new law*. Retrieved from https://www.universityworldnews.com/post.php?story=20190110133611290
- Maykut, P., & Morehouse, R. (1994). Beginning qualitative research: A philosophic and practical guide. Falmer Press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203485781">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203485781</a>
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- McCornac, D. C. (2012). The challenge of corruption in higher education: The case of Vietnam.

  \*Asian Education and Development Studies, 1(3), 262-275.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/20463161211270482
- Miller, P. (2001). Governing by numbers: Why calculative practices matter. *Social Research*, 68(2), 379-396.
- Minh, T. (2019). From 2020, public universities have the autonomy to design the template certificates. Retrieved from https://hanoimoi.com.vn/tin-tuc/Giao-duc/951974/tu-nam-2020-cac-truong-dai-hoc-se-tu-chu-thiet-ke-mau-in-phoi-van-bang
- Ministry of Finance. (2016). Official Dispatch on the University A's recommendations on adjusting and updating some contents of the Decision No. 6600/QĐ-TTg.

- MOET. (2016). Official Dispatch on the University A's recommendations on adjusting and updating some contents of the Decision No. 6600/QĐ-TTg.
- MOET. (2017). The evaluation results of the implementation of Resolution77/NQ-CP on the piloting working mechanisms of public higher education institutions during the period of 2014-2017.
- Mok. K. H. (2014). Enhancing quality of higher education for world-class status: Approaches, strategies, and challenges for Hong Kong. *Chinese Education and Society*, 47(1), 44–64. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2753/CED1061-1932470103">https://doi.org/10.2753/CED1061-1932470103</a>
- Ngo, D. D. (2006). Vietnam. In UNESCO (Eds.), *Higher education in South-East Asia* (pp. 219-250). Thailand: UNESCO. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED494258.pdf
- Ngo, T. M., Lingard, B., & Mitchell, J. (2006). The policy cycle and vernacular globalization: A case study of the creation of Vietnam National University-Hochiminh City. *Comparative Education*, 42(2), 225-242. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060600628082">https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060600628082</a>
- Ngoc, Q. (2019). Minister Phung Xuan Nha and 23 autonomous universities still have to work very hard. Retrieved from <a href="https://giaoduc.net.vn/giao-duc-24h/bo-truong-phung-xuan-nha-va-23-dai-hoc-tu-chu-se-con-rat-vat-va-post204090.gd">https://giaoduc.net.vn/giao-duc-24h/bo-truong-phung-xuan-nha-va-23-dai-hoc-tu-chu-se-con-rat-vat-va-post204090.gd</a>
- Nguyen, H. T., Hamid, M. O., & Moni, K. (2016). English-medium instruction and self-governance in higher education: The journey of a Vietnamese university through the institutional autonomy regime. *Higher Education*, 72(5), 669-683.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9970-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9970-y</a>
- Nguyen, T. V., Le, C. Q., Tran, B. T., & Bryant, S. E. (2015). Citizen participation in city governance: Experiences from Vietnam. *Public Administration and Development*, *35*(1), 34-45. https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1702

- Nguyen, T. V., Nguyen, H. V., Vu, C., & Le, C. Q. (2018). Sense-making of policy processes in the transition economy of Vietnam. *Public Administration and Development*, *38*(4), 154-165. https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1839
- Nguyen, N., & Tran, L. T. (2018). Looking inward or outward? Vietnam higher education at the superhighway of globalization: culture, values, and changes. *Journal of Asian Public Policy*, 11(1), 28-45. https://doi.org/10.1080/17516234.2017.1332457
- Nguyen, N., & Tran, L. T. (2019). Impacts of global forces and local demands on Vietnamese higher education. In N. T. Nguyen & L. T. Tran (Eds.), *Reforming Vietnamese higher education: Global forces and local demands* (pp. 1-14). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4
- Nguyen, D. P., Vickers, M., Ly, T. M. C., & Tran, M. D. (2016). Internationalizing higher education (HE) in Vietnam. *Education* + *Training*, *58*(2), 193-208. https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-08-2015-0072
- Neave, G. (1988b). On being economical with university autonomy: Being an account of the retrospective joys of a written constitution. In M. Tight (Eds.), *Academic freedom and responsibility* (337–349). London, England: SRHE and Open University Press.
- Neave, G. (2001). Editorial. The changing frontiers of autonomy and accountability. *Higher Education Policy*, 14(1), 1-5.
- Neave, G. (2012). The evaluative state, institutional autonomy and re-engineering higher education in Europe: The prince and his pleasure. Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Neave, G. R., & Vught, F. V. (1991). Prometheus bound: The changing relationship between government and higher education in Western Europe. Pergamon Press.
- Newman, J. (2014). Governing the present: Activism, neoliberalism, and the problem of power

- and consent. *Critical Policy Studies* 8 (2), 133-147. https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2013.818397
- Olssen, M., Codd, J. A., & O'Neill, A. (2004). *Education policy: Globalization, citizenship, and democracy*. London, Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications.
- Olssen, M., & Peters, M. A. (2005). Neoliberalism, higher education, and the knowledge economy: From the free market to knowledge capitalism. *Journal of Education Policy*, 20(3), 313-345. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930500108718
- Overman, S. (2016). Great expectations of public service delegation: A systematic review.

  \*Public Management Review, 18(8), 1238-1262.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2015.1103891
- Ørberg, J., & Wright, S. (2019). Steering change: Negotiations of autonomy and accountability in the self-owning university. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 127-153). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Ordorika, I. (2003). The limits of university autonomy: Power and politics at the Universidad nacional autónoma de México. *Higher Education*, 46(3), 361-388. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025382504110">https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025382504110</a>
- Painter, M. (2014). Governance reforms in China and Vietnam: Marketisation, leapfrogging, and retro-fitting. *Journal of Contemporary Asia*, 44(2), 204-220. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472336.2013.870829
- Pan, S. Y. (2006). Economic globalization, politico-cultural identity and university autonomy: the struggle of Tsinghua University in China. *Journal of Education Policy*, 21(3), 245-

- 266. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930600600242
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Pham, T. H. T. (2011). Doi Moi (Renovation) and higher education reform in Vietnam.

  International Journal of Educational Reform, 20(3), 210-225.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/105678791102000302">https://doi.org/10.1177/105678791102000302</a>
- Pham, T. L. P. (2012). The renovation of higher education governance in Vietnam and its impact on the teaching quality at universities. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 18(4), 289-308. https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2012.675350
- Pham, H. H. & Vu, H. M. (2019). Financing Vietnamese higher education: From a wholly government-subsidized to a cost-sharing mechanism. In N. T. Nguyen & L. T. Tran (Eds.), *Reforming Vietnamese higher education: Global forces and local demands* (pp. 75-90). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8918-4
- Piironen, O. (2013). The transnational idea of university autonomy and the reform of the Finnish universities act. *Higher Education Policy*, 26(1), 127-146.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2012.22">https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2012.22</a>
- Pollitt, C., & Talbot, C. (2004). Unbundled government: A critical analysis of the global trend to agencies, quangos and contractualisation. Routledge.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203507148">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203507148</a>
- Prime Minister. (2014a). Decision on the approval of the scheme of piloting working mechanisms of University A during the period of 2014-2017 (Decision No. 6600/QĐ-TTg).
- Prime Minister. (2014b). Resolution on the piloting working mechanisms of public higher

education institutions during the period of 2014-2017 (Resolution No. 77/NQ-CP).

https://vanbanphapluat.co/nghi-quyet-77-nq-cp-2014-thi-diem-doi-moi-co-che-hoat-dong-co-so-giao-duc-dai-hoc-cong-lap-2014
2017#:~:text=Nghi;%20quyết%2077%2FNQ-CP.%20Nghi;%20quyết%2077%2FNQ-CP%20năm%202014,Văn%20bản%20pháp%20luật.%20Giáo%20dục.%20Nghi;%20quyết.

- Revised Higher Education Law, Publ. L. No. 34/2018/QH14 (2018). http://vbpl.vn/bogiaoducdaotao/Pages/vbpq-toanvan.aspx?ItemID=137459
- Rizvi, F., & Lingard, B. (2010). *Globalizing education policy*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203867396
- Romzek, B. S. (2000). Dynamics of public sector accountability in an era of reform.

  \*International Review of Administrative Sciences, 66(1), 21-44.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852300661004
- Rose, N., & Miller, P. (2010). Political power beyond the state: Problematics of government. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 61(s1), 271-303. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01247.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-4446.2009.01247.x</a>
- Schwartz-Shea, P., & Yanow, D. (2012). *Interpretive research design: Concepts and processes*. Routledge.
- Shattock, M. (2006). *Managing good governance in higher education*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Shaw, M. (2018). Public accountability versus academic independence: Tensions of public higher education governance in Poland. *Studies in Higher Education*, *44*(12), 2235-2248. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1483910

- Shin, J. C. (2010). Impacts of performance-based accountability on institutional performance in the U.S. *Higher Education*, 60(1), 47-68. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9285-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9285-y</a>
- Shore, C. (2008). Audit culture and illiberal governance: Universities and the politics of accountability. *Anthropological Theory*, 8(3), 278-298. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463499608093815
- Shore, C. (2010). The reform of New Zealand's university system: 'After neoliberalism'.

  Learning and Teaching, 3(1), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.3167/latiss.2010.030102
- Shore, C., & Wright, S. (1999). Audit culture and anthropology: Neo-liberalism in British higher education. *The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute*, *5*(4), 557-575. https://doi.org/10.2307/2661148
- Shore, C., & Wright, S. (2000). Coercive accountability: The rise of audit culture in higher education. In M. Strathern (Eds.), *Audit cultures: Anthropological studies in accountability, ethics, and the academy* (pp. 57-89). Routledge.
- Shore, C., & Wright, S. (2011). Conceptualizing policy: Technologies of governance and the politics of visibility. In C. Shore, S. Wright, & D. Però (Eds.), *Policy Worlds:*Anthropology and the analysis of contemporary power (pp. 1-24). Berghahn Books.
- Shore, C., & Wright, S. (2015). Audit culture revisited: Rankings, ratings, and the reassembling of society. *Current Anthropology*, *56*(3), 421-444. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/681534">https://doi.org/10.1086/681534</a>
- Sirat, M. B. (2010). Strategic planning directions of Malaysia's higher education: University autonomy in the midst of political uncertainties. *Higher Education*, *59*(4), 461-473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9259-0
- Spooner, M. (2020). Technologies of governance in context: Four global windows into neoliberalism and audit culture in higher education. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 26(7), 743-747.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800419878750

- Spooner, M. (2021). The ugly side of performance-based funding for universities. *Academic Matters*, 32-36.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Sterling, R. (2005). Promoting democratic governance through partnerships? In J. Newman (Eds.), *Remaking governance, peoples, politics and the public sphere*, pp. 139-157. Bristol: The Policy Press.
- Strathern, M. (2000). New accountabilities: Anthropological studies in audit, ethics, and the academy. In M. Strathern (Eds.), *Audit cultures: Anthropological studies in accountability, ethics, and the academy* (pp. 1-18). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203449721
- Taira, J. Y. (2004). Autonomy in public higher education: A case study of stakeholderperspectives and socio-cultural context [Doctoral dissertation, University of Hawai'i].ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Teelken, C. (2012). Compliance or pragmatism: how do academics deal with managerialism in higher education? A comparative study in three countries. *Studies in Higher Education* (*Dorchester-on-Thames*), 37(3), 271-290. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2010.511171
- Thornton, M. (2004). The idea of the university and the contemporary legal academy. *Sydney Law Review*, *36*(4), 481-502.
- Tight, M. (1992). Institutional autonomy. In B. L. Clark & G. Neave (Eds.), *The Encyclopedia of higher education*. Oxford: Pergamon.
- Tran, H. (2009). The transformation of higher education in Vietnam after DoiMoi: A story of "dualism" [Doctoral dissertation, St. John's University]. ProQuest Dissertations

- Publishing.
- Tran, T. T. (2014). Governance in higher education in Vietnam a move towards decentralization and its practical problems. *Journal of Asian Public Policy*, 7(1), 71-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/17516234.2013.873341
- Tran, L. T., Ngo, M., Nguyen, N., & Dang, X. T. (2017). Hybridity in Vietnamese universities:
  An analysis of the interactions between Vietnamese traditions and foreign influences. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(10), 1899-1916.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1376872
- Trow, M. (1996). Trust, markets, and accountability in higher education: A comparative perspective. *Higher Education Policy*, *9*(4), 309-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0952-8733(96)00029-3
- Tsing, A. (2005). Friction. An ethnography of global connection. Princeton University Press.
- University A. (2017). The report on statistics and evaluation of the implementation of the Decision No. 6600/QD-TTg at University A.
- University Charter, Publ. L. No. 58/2010/QĐ-TTg (2010). http://vbpl.vn/bogiaoducdaotao/Pages/vbpq-van-ban-goc.aspx?ItemID=25793
- University Charter, Publ. L. No. 70/2014/ QĐ-TTg (2014).

  http://www.chinhphu.vn/portal/page/portal/chinhphu/hethongvanban?class\_id=1&mode=
  detail&document\_id=177916
- Verhoest, K. (2005). The impact of contractualisation on control and accountability in government-agency relations: The case of Flanders (Belgium). In G. Drewry, C. Greve, & T. Tanquerel (Eds.), *Contracts, performance measurement, and accountability in the public sector*. The Netherlands: IOS Press & IIAS.

- Verhoest, K. (2010). Autonomy and control of state agencies: Comparing states and agencies. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Verhoest, K., Peters, B. G., Bouckaert, G., & Verschuere, B. (2004). The study of organizational autonomy: A conceptual review. *Public Administration and Development*, 24(2), 101-118. https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.316
- Verhoest, K., Thiel, S. V., Bouckaert, G., & Lægreid, P. (2012). Government agencies: Practices and lessons from 30 countries. Palgrave Macmillan UK.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230359512">https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230359512</a>
- Vidovich, L. (2002). Quality assurance in Australian higher education: Globalization and "steering at a distance." *Higher Education*, *43*(3), 391-408. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014616110418
- Vo, T. H. M. (2018). Autonomy of public service delivery units in Vietnam: An institutional perspective [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Victoria University of Wellington.
- Vo, T. H. M., & Laking, R. (2020). An institutional study of autonomisation of public universities in Vietnam. *Higher Education*, 79(6), 1079-1097. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-019-00457-6
- Vo, T. H. M., & Lofgren, K. (2016). Autonomy of public service delivery agencies in Vietnam and OECD: A comparative institutional perspective. *Asian Journal of Public Affairs*, 9(1), 21-42. https://doi.org/10.18003/ajpa.201606
- Vietnam Television. (2020, June 13). *Autonomous universities are not allowed to increase tuition fees*. Vietnam's News. <a href="https://vtv.vn/giao-duc/bat-cap-truong-dai-hoc-tu-chu-nhung-khong-duoc-tang-hoc-phi-20200613115854141.htm">https://vtv.vn/giao-duc/bat-cap-truong-dai-hoc-tu-chu-nhung-khong-duoc-tang-hoc-phi-20200613115854141.htm</a>
- Vu, T. T. A. (2016). Vietnam: Decentralization amidst fragmentation. Journal of Southeast Asian

- Economies, 33(2), 188-208. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1355/ae33-2e">https://doi.org/10.1355/ae33-2e</a>
- Welch, A. (2016a). Vietnam, Malaysia, and the global knowledge system. In L. M. Portnoi, V.
  D. Rust, & S. S. Bagley (Eds.), *Higher education, policy, and the global competition*phenomenon (pp. 143-160). Palgrave Macmillan US.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230106130">https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230106130</a>
- Welch, A. (2016b). Audit culture and academic production: Re-shaping Australian social science research output 1993–2013. *Higher Education Policy*, 29(4), 511-538. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41307-016-0022-8
- Welsh, T., & McGinn, N. (1999). *Decentralization of education: Why, when, what, and how?*UNESCO: International Institute for Educational Planning.
- Whalen, E. (1991). Responsibility center budgeting: An approach to decentralized management for institutions of higher education. Indiana University Press.
- Williams, R. (1976). Keywords: A vocabulary of culture and society. London: Fontana Press.
- Willems, T., & Van Dooren, W. (2012). Coming to terms with accountability: Combining multiple forums and functions. *Public Administration Review*, *14*(7), 1011-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2012.662446
- World Bank. (2015). Strengthening governance, financing, and quality of higher education. http://www.worldbank.org/en/results/2015/06/25/strengthening-governance-financing-and-quality-of-higher-education.print
- World Bank. (2018). *GDP per capita (current US\$) Vietnam.*https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=VN
- World Bank. (2019). *The World Bank in Vietnam*. http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/vietnam Wright, S. (2016). Universities in a knowledge economy or ecology? Policy, contestation and

- abjection. *Critical Policy Studies*, *10*(1), 59-78. https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2016.1142457
- Wright, S. (2019a). Introduction: An ethnography of university reform. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 3-25). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Wright, S. (2019b). Enactment of the university: Issue and concepts. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J.
  B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 25-51). Springer Netherlands.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Wright, S. (2019c). University reform: International policy making through a Danish prism. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university: Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective* (pp. 55-85). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Wright, S. (2019d). Conclusion: Enactment and transformation of the university. In S. Wright, S. Carney, J. B. Krejsler, G. B. Nielsen, & J. W. Ørberg (Eds.), *Enacting the university:*Danish university reform in an ethnographic perspective (pp. 307-329). Springer

  Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-024-1921-4</a>
- Wright, S., & Ørberg, J. W. (2008). Autonomy and control: Danish university reform in the context of modern governance. *Learning and Teaching*, *1*(1), 27-57. https://doi.org/10.3167/175522708783113550
- Yang, R. (2015). Cost sharing in China's higher education: Analyses of major stakeholders. In S. Schwarzman, R. Pinheiro, & P. Pillay (Eds.), *Higher education in the BRICS countries:*

- *Investigating the pact between higher education and society* (pp. 237-252). Springer Netherlands. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9570-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9570-8</a>
- Yang, R., Vidovich, L., & Currie, J. (2007). "Dancing in a cage": Changing autonomy in Chinese higher education. *Higher Education*, 54(4), 575-592. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-006-9009-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-006-9009-5</a>
- Yanow, D. (2000). Conducting interpretive policy analysis. Sage Publications.
- Yanow, D. (2007). Interpretation in policy analysis: On methods and practice. *Critical Policy Studies*, *I*(1), 110-122. https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2007.9518511
- Yanow, D. (2015). Thinking interpretively: Philosophical presuppositions and the human sciences. In P. Schwartz-Shea & D. Yanow, *Interpretation and method: Empirical research methods and the interpretive turn* (2nd ed., pp. 6-26). Routledge. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315703275">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315703275</a>
- Yin, R. (2003). *Case study research: Design and methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). SAGE.
- Yokoyama, K. (2007). Changing definitions of university autonomy: The cases of England and Japan. *Higher Education in Europe*, *32*(4), 399-409.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/03797720802066294">https://doi.org/10.1080/03797720802066294</a></a>
- Yokoyama, K. (2008). Neo-liberal 'governmentality' in the English and Japanese higher education systems. *International Studies in Sociology of Education*, 18(3-4), 231-247. https://doi.org/10.1080/09620210802492815
- Yokoyama, K. (2011). Quality assurance and the changing meaning of autonomy and accountability between home and overseas campuses of the universities in New York

State. Journal of Studies in International Education, 15(3), 261-278.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315309342577

### **Appendices**

# **Appendix A: Interview Guide: University Leaders**

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study.

I would like to start by reading then having you sign a consent form to participate in this study. We will now begin the interview. It will last about 45-60 minutes. Remember that you are free to refuse to answer any question, to take a break, or to stop the interview at any time. Just let me know.

### **Interview Questions**

- 1. Can you tell me about your role as a senior leader? (*Probe: How long have you been in it?*What is your specific area?)
- 2. How do you understand the concept of institutional autonomy of a Vietnamese public university?
- 3. Your university was completely granted institutional autonomy in 2014. What has changed in terms of how your university operates since it was granted the autonomous status? (*Probe: Are you finding your university's autonomy a different experience from what you expect?*)
- 4. In your specific area, what kinds of decision-making authorities does your university have?

  (Probe: Give me an example of when your university can make its own decision, and to what extent?)
- 5. In your specific area, what kinds of accountability does your institution have with the Vietnamese government? (*Probe: Is that accountability related to any specific autonomy that your institution has? Is there any consequence if your institution does not meet the accountability requirement?*)
- 6. The government is both granting autonomy and implementing accountability measures. What do you think about this?

- 7. How do you balance between decision-making authority and accountability to implement institutional autonomy? (*Probe: What makes your university special and successful in implementing the autonomy policy in a centralized governance context of Vietnam?*)
- 8. What do you think influences the way that institutional autonomy function at your institution? (Probe: *How is the cultural influence? How is the historical influence? How is the political influence?*)
- 9. What are the challenges that your university face in implementing the autonomy policy?
- 10. How do you understand two concepts "accountability" and "self-responsibility"? (*Probe: Are they similar or different?*)
- 11. In your perspective, why does the Vietnamese government implement the autonomy policy?

  (Probe: Many people would say that the government confers autonomy to public universities because the government wants to transfer the financial responsibility to public universities.

  What do you think about this viewpoint? What steps, if any, did the government take to clarify the policy or to help your university understand the policy?)
- 12. Is there anything else you can tell me that would be helpful to understand how institutional autonomy functions at your university?

Thank you very much for participating in this interview.

**Appendix B: Letter of Information and Consent** 

**Project Title**: Steering at a Distance: A Qualitative Case Study of Institutional Autonomy at a

Vietnamese Public University

**Document Title:** Letter of Information and Consent

Principal Investigator: Dr. Melody Viczko, PhD, Faculty of Education

**Co-Investigator:** 

Anh Thi Hoai Le, PhD Candidate, Faculty of Education

**Conflict of Interest:** There are no conflicts of interest

1. Invitation to Participate

We would like to thank you for considering our invitation to participate in this study,

which explores the perspectives of university leaders on the meaning of institutional autonomy at

a Vietnamese public university.

You are being invited to participate in this study because you are a university leader at

the selected university with at least one year of experience in your leadership position and with

the implementation of the autonomy policy in Vietnam.

2. Purpose of the Study

Institutional autonomy is a fundamental reform policy in Vietnam's higher education

system. This policy officially marks the transfer of decision-making authority from the

government to public universities. The purpose of this study is to explore the meaning of

institutional autonomy at a Vietnamese public university, given the legacy of centralized

governance model—in which the ministries having control over all decision-making authorities

within public universities.

3. Length of Participation

208

It is expected that the participant will take part in one interview session with the Co-Investigator. The interview will take approximately 45-60 minutes. If you agree, we will contact you for future member checking to ensure the accuracy of data.

### 4. Study Procedures

If you agree to participate, you will be invited to take part in one interview session in which you will respond to 12 interview questions. The interview questions are open-ended questions asking your views as a university leader about institutional autonomy of a Vietnamese public university based on your experience with the policy implementation. The interview may be audio-recorded according to your consent to do so. You can still participate in this study if you do not agree to be recorded. Face-to-face interviews can be conducted during September and October, 2019 at a place and time that is convenient to you. In case you are not available for a face-to-face interview, the interview will be conducted by telephone or via Skype during these months up until December 31<sup>st</sup> 2019.

### 5. Risks and Harms of Participation

There are no known or anticipated risks or discomforts associated with participating in this study.

#### 6. Possible Benefits

You may not directly benefit from participating in this study but information gathered may provide benefits to society as a whole. This study will help to develop a better understanding of institutional autonomy in Vietnam's higher education system. The study is the first to investigate the principles and working mechanisms of institutional autonomy, to showcase an exemplar of successful reform, which might lead the way for other Vietnamese public universities. The findings are also expected to support the Vietnamese government and

policymakers in identifying appropriate solutions to increase the responsiveness of public universities to this key reform policy.

## 7. Participants' Right

You have the right to withdraw from the study at any time without consequence. If you decide to withdraw from the study, you have the right to request (e.g., by phone, email, etc.) withdrawal of information collected from you. If you wish to have your information removed, please let the researcher know and your information will be destroyed from our records. Once the study has been published, we will not be able to withdraw your information.

#### 8. Confidentiality

The data collected in this study will be used for research purposes only. All identifiable information and data collected will be kept confidential and accessible only to the investigators of this study. We will do our best to protect your identifiable information. All identifiable information, including your name, professional role, and institution and contact information (e.g., email address, phone number, Skype name), will be collected separately from the study data (e.g., transcripts) and linked only by a unique ID code. The master list linking your ID code with your identifiers will be encrypted and kept by the investigators in a password-protected file, separate from the dataset, in Western University's server. Any personal information about you in a form of a hard copy will be kept in a locked cabinet at the investigator's locked office. As per Western Research Ethics guidelines, the electronic data of audio files and transcripts will be encrypted and password-protected and will be stored on Western University's server.

Representatives of Western University's Non-Medical Research Ethics Board may require access to the study-related records to monitor the conduct of the research. Other people/groups/ organizations outside the study team will not have access to information collected.

If the results of this study are published, only de-identified information will be made available. Participants will not be named in any reports, publications, or presentations that may come from this study. Your identity as a research participant in this project will not be released without your prior consent. Unidentifiable direct quotes may be used in the reporting of the findings/dissemination of the results. Dissemination of tittle and role will be at the discretion of the participant. The investigators will keep all your identifiable information for seven years, as per Western University's Faculty Collective Agreement. All the data will be securely destroyed using industry-standard shredders and data-deletion software after the retention period of 7 years.

### 9. Compensation

You will not be compensated for your participation in this research.

## 10. Voluntary Participation

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may decide not to participate in this study. Even if you consent to participate, you have the right to not answer individual questions or to withdraw from the study at any time without consequence. You do not waive any legal right by consenting to this study. We will give you any new information that may affect your decision to stay in the study.

#### 11. Contact for Further Information

If you require any further information about this research or your participation in the study, you may contact Dr. Melody Viczko or Anh Thi Hoai Le. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics. This office oversees the ethical conduct of research studies and is not part of the study team. Everything that you discuss will be kept confidential.

#### 12. Consent

You are kindly requested to sign the following written consent form that you understand your participation in this research study is voluntary.

This letter is yours to keep for future reference.

# **Consent Form**

Project Title: S	Steering at a Dis	tance: A Qualitative Ca	se Study of Institutional Autonomy at a	
Vietnamese Pu	ablic University			
Principal Inves	stigator: Dr. Mel	ody Viczko, PhD, Facu	ulty of Education	
Co-Investigato	or: Anh Th	i Hoai Le, PhD Candid	late, Faculty of Education	
Do you confirm	m that you have	read the Letter of Infor	mation and Consent, have had all questio	ns
answered to yo	our satisfaction,	and you agree to partici	pate in this study?	
□ YES	□ NO			
Do you agree	to be audio-recor	rded in this research?		
□ YES	□ NO			
Do you conser	nt to the use of u	nidentified quotes obtai	ined during the study in the dissemination	n
of this research	n?			
□ YES	□ NO			
Do you agree	to have your pro	fessional title publicly	disclosed within the dissemination of the	
results? If no,	you can still par	ticipate in the study wit	hout professional title being disseminated	d.
□ YES	□ NO			
Do you agree	to be contacted t	o verify the data accura	cy for future member checking?	
□ YES	□ NO			
Print Name o	f Participant	Signature	Date	
My signature i	means that I have	e explained the study to	the participant named above. I have	
answered all q	uestions.			
Print Name o	f Researcher	Signature	Date	

Appendix C: Key Policy Documents on Institutional Autonomy and Accountability of Vietnamese Public Universities released by the Vietnamese Government

Number	Name of policy documents	Years	
1	Decree No. 99/2019/NĐ-CP (Detailed regulations and guides on		
	implementing some articles of the Revised Higher Education Law)		
2	Resolution No. 99/NQ-CP	2019	
3	Revised Higher Education Law, Publ. L. No. 34/2018/QH14	2018	
4	Decree No. 86/2018/NĐ-CP (Regulations on the foreign cooperation and	2018	
	investment in education)		
5	Circular 12/2017/TT-BGDDT (Institutional accreditation)		
6	Circular 04/2016/TT-BGDDT (Program accreditation)		
7	Decree No.16/2015/ND-CP (Regulations on institutional autonomy of public	2015	
	service delivery units)		
8	Decree No. 86/2015/NĐ-CP (Regulations on the determination and	2015	
	management of tuition fees for public education units and the policy of		
	waiving, decreasing, and supporting tuition fees from the academic year of		
	2015-2016 to 2020-2021)		
9	Resolution No.77/NQ-CP (Resolution on the piloting working mechanisms	2014	
	of public higher education institutions during the period of 2014-2017)		
10	University Charter No. 70/2014/ QĐ-TTg	2014	
11	Higher Education Law No. 08/2012/QH2013	2012	
12	Circular 60/2012/TT-BGDDT (External reviewers)	2012	
13	Circular 61/2012/TT-BGDDT (The establishment, closure, and operations of	2012	
	accrediting centers)		
14	Circular 10/2012/TT-BGDĐT (Curriculum framework for defense and	2012	
	security programs)		
15	Circular 04/2012/TT-BGDĐT (List of educational and training programs at	2012	
	master and doctoral levels allowed to teach at colleges and universities)		
16	Circular 10/2011/TT-BGDĐT (Guidelines for master programs)	2011	
17	Circular 57/2011/TT-BGDĐT (Student enrollment quota at undergraduate,	2011	
	master, and doctoral levels)		
18	University Charter No. 58/2010/QĐ-TTg	2010	
19	Decision No. 05/2008/QĐ-BGDĐT (Procedures for admission for colleges	2008	
	and universities)		
20	Decision No. 76/2007/QĐ-BGDĐT (Accreditation procedures and process	2007	
	for colleges and universities)		
21	Decree No. 43/2006/NĐ-CP (Regulations on institutional autonomy and self-	2006	
	responsibility of public service delivery units on performance, organization,		
	and finance)		
22	Education Law No. 38/2005/QH11	2005	
23	Resolution No. 14/2005/NQ-CP (Higher Education Reform Agenda)	2005	
24	Resolution No. 04-NQ/HNTW (Resolution on continuing the renovation of	1993	
	education and training)		

#### Curriculum Vitae

Name: Anh Thi Hoai Le

**Post-secondary** University of Economics, Hue University

**Education and** Hue City, Vietnam

**Degrees:** 2004 - 2008, Bachelor of Accounting

University of South Australia

Adelaide City, South Australia, Australia

2011 - 2012, Master of Professional Accounting

Maastricht School of Management

Maastricht. The Netherlands

2014, Postgraduate Diploma in Research Methods and Skills

The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada

2017 - 2021 Ph.D. in Education Studies

**Honors and** Western University - Vietnam's Government Doctoral Scholarship

**Awards:** 2017 - 2021

Erasmus+ Scholarship Programme - European Commission

2016

Award for Lower Mekong Initiative: Education Pillar English

**Project** 

The Embassy of United States of America in Vietnam

2015

Netherlands Fellowship Programmes

2014

Vietnam's Government Master Scholarship

2011 - 2012

**Related Work** Lecturer

**Experience:** University of Economics, Hue University, Vietnam

September 2008 - August 2017

Part-time Lecturer Western University, Canada May 2021 - April 2022

Western Summer 2021 Student Internship Western University, Canada May 2021 - August 2021

#### **Publications**

#### **Refereed Journal Articles**

- **Le, A. T. H.** (2022). The influence of institutional autonomy policy on internationalization of higher education: A case study in Vietnam. *Journal of Comparative and International Higher Education*, 13(5S), 55-63. <a href="https://doi.org/10.32674/jcihe.v13i5(S)">https://doi.org/10.32674/jcihe.v13i5(S)</a>
- **Le, A. T. H.** (2020). Internationalization of higher education in Vietnam: An innovative implementation under the support of institutional autonomy policy. *CIHE Perspectives No.18*.
- Faubert, B., **Le, A. T. H.**, Wakim, G., Swapp, D., & Watson, K. (2019). "Calibrating the Evidence-Based Adequacy Model across educational contexts: Policy and leadership as powerful influences", *International Journal of Education Policy and Leadership*, *14*(4), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2019v14n4a865
- **Le, A. T. H.**, Le, T. N. L., & Vu, T. H. (2015). "The effect of corporate governance on earnings management of firms listed on Hochiminh Stock Exchange, Vietnam", *Hue University Journal of Science Special Issue of Economics and Development*, 113(14), 5-15.
- **Le, A. T. H.**, Do, S. H., & Nguyen, H. (2015). "Detecting Earnings Management of Enterprises in Thua Thien Hue Province, Vietnam", *The University of Danang Journal of Science and Technology*, 4(89), 78-82.
- Do, S. H., Nguyen, H., & **Le, A. T. H.** (2015). "Motives, expectations, and preparedness: A study of students of accounting and auditing at College of Economics, Hue University, Vietnam", *The University of Danang Journal of Science and Technology*, 4(89), 113-117.

### **Book Review**

**Le, A. T. H.** (forthcoming). [Review of the book *Higher education for democracy: The role of the university in civil society*, by William G Tierney, Albany, NY: SUNY Press] Canadian Journal of Higher Education.